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1 MANAGEMENT  REPORT
Key fi gures from the consolidated fi nancial statements at 31 March 2018

1.1 KEY FIGURES FROM THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AT 31 MARCH 2018

The year ended 31 March 2018 covered a 12-months period from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018. The previous fi nancial year, which 
ended on 31 March 2017, also had a duration of 12 months.

Given its positioning in high added value technological products, the Oeneo Group decided to withdraw from the natural and 
agglomerated corks/stoppers activities of the PIEDADE Group.

In the consolidated fi nancial statements at 31 March 2018, in accordance with IFRS 5, this activity is presented in the income statement 
as a discontinued operation.

1.1.1 KEY FIGURES FROM THE INCOME STATEMENT

In thousands of euros
31/03/2018 

12 months
31/03/2017* 

adjusted 12 months
Change 

12 months
Revenue 248,618 222,188 11.9%
Current operating profi t 46,454 43,308 7.3%
% current operating margin 18.7% 19.5% -0.8%
Operating profi t 43,627 39,808 9.6%
Profi t/from fi nancing activities (1,987) (913) 117.6%
Net profi t/(loss) before tax 41,641 38,895 7.1%
Tax (11,074) (10,707) 3.4%
Net profi t/(loss) from continuing operations 30,584 28,195 8.4%
Net profi t/(loss) from discontinued operations (3,933) (1,736) 126.6%
Net profi t/(loss) of the consolidated group 26,651 26,459 0.7%
Net profi t attributable to equity holders of the parent 26,603 26,412 0.7%

* In light of the decision to sell the natural and agglomerated corks/stoppers activities of the Piedade Group, the related income and expenses have been 
reclassifi ed as discontinued operations in accordance with IFRS 5. These non-strategic closure activities cover the ranges associated with traditional and non-
technological cork, as well as two production sites in Portugal for the preparation and punching of corks.

1.1.2 KEY FIGURES FROM THE BALANCE SHEET

In thousands of euros 31/03/2018 31/03/2017
ASSETS
Non-current assets 172,421 171,263
Inventories 105,656 113,835
Trade receivables and other current assets 128,338 135,988
Assets related to activities held for sale 15,657

TOTAL ASSETS 422,072 421,086
LIABILITIES
Equity 229,738 215,294
Loans and other borrowings 101,662 117,370
Trade and other payables 86,500 88,422
Liabilities related to activities held for sale 4,172

TOTAL LIABILITIES 422,072 421,086
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1.1.3 PERFORMANCE AND BUSINESS ANALYSIS

Presentation of results from continuing operations
The Oeneo Group’s performance was good in 2017/2018 with 
a +11.9% increase in revenue (+12.5% in organic terms) and 
a +7.3% increase in current operating profi t, which gave it a 
current operating margin of 18.7% of revenue in a less favourable 
economic environment (lowest wine production worldwide 
since 1957 and intermittent increase in the price of cork). The 
operating profi t increased by 9.6% to €43.6 million.

The Group managed to control its net debt, which fell from 
€50.0 million at 31 March 2017 to €48.5 million at 31 March 
2018, thanks to the cash fl ow generated during the year, which 
allowed the Group to continue to strengthen its WCR in 
anticipation of its future growth and the payment of €6.6 million 
in dividends.

1.1.3.1 REVENUE BY BUSINESS

Consolidated annual revenue from continuing operations 
amounted to €248.6 million at 31 March 2018, up 11.9% 
compared to the previous year. This increase can be broken 
down as follows:

 1 closures activity continued its strong growth (+19.1%), 
especially in the Diam range, which recorded a nearly 20% 
increase by volume and value, with market share gains across 
all geographical regions;

 1 the Ageing business, against a backdrop of a decline in production 
linked to the poor weather conditions of spring 2017 (an 
estimated 8% drop according to the International Organisation 
of Vine and Wine, or IOV), showed very strong resilience, 
managing to maintain the revenue level achieved the previous 
year (+0.4%, +1.8% at constant scope and exchange rates).

BREAKDOWN OF REVENUE BY DIVISION

In thousands of euros
31/03/2018 

12 months
31/03/2017 

adjusted 12 months
Change 

12 months

Closures 163,100 137,018 19.1%
Ageing 85,518 85,170 0.4%

TOTAL REVENUE 248,618 222,188 11.9%

REVENUE BY GEOGRAPHICAL REGION

In thousands of euros
31/03/2018 

12 months
31/03/2017 

adjusted 12 months
Change 

12 months

France 73,203 71,571 2.3%
Europe 84,180 68,633 22.7%
Americas 59,652 55,267 7.9%
Oceania 12,527 9,852 27.1%
Rest of the world 19,056 16,865 13.0%

TOTAL REVENUE 248,618 222,188 11.9%

Change in net profit/loss

CURRENT OPERATING PROFIT BY DIVISION

In thousands of euros
31/03/2018 

12 months
31/03/2017 

adjusted 12 months
Change 

12 months

Closures 33,764 31,749 6.3%
Ageing 16,505 16,056 2.8%
Holding (3,815) (4,497) -15.2%

TOTAL CURRENT OPERATING PROFIT 46,454 43,308 7.3%
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Current operating profit by activity sector
The OENEO Group reported current operating profit of 
€46.5 million and a resulting current operating margin of 18.7%, 
up €3.2 million (+7.3%) compared to the previous period.

The Closures division posted current operating profi t of 
€33.8 million, for an operating margin of 20.7% of the 
division’s revenue. Volume growth and good control of yields 
and distribution costs largely offset the signifi cant impact 
on the gross margin of the rise in cork prices due to an 
unusually low global harvest this year. This gap between 
supply and demand for cork should gradually be reduced 
over the remainder of the current year.

The current operating profi t of the Ageing Division rose by 2.8% 
to €16.5 million, with revenue up 0.4%. This performance brings 
the current operating profi t to 19.3%, a new annual record for 
the Division. The optimisation of operational productivity and 
the good performance of “core business» activities (casks, large 
containers and oenological wood) made it possible to absorb 
the increase in commercial actions in response to cyclical and 
meteorological effects.

Holding costs amounted to €3.8 million for the year, a sharp 
decrease that refl ected the strong control of its structural costs.

Non-recurring operating profit
At 31 March 2018, OENEO Group non-current profi t amounted 
to -€2.8 million, down by nearly 20%. It consists mainly of the 
following:

 1 third-party disputes and tax risks for -€0.3 million;

 1 division restructuring costs for -€0.8 million;

 1 costs of the Group’s change in governance for -€0.3 million;

 1 industrial claims costs for -€0.7 million;

 1 costs of departure from the former head offi ce for -€0.3 million.

Profit/from financing activities
The Group’s profi t/(loss) from fi nancing activities amounting to 
-€2.0 million at 31 March 2018 mainly included:

 1 €1.1 million in fi nancial expenses, a decrease of €0.1 million 
compared to the previous year;

 1 and a negative exchange rate impact (essentially unrealised) 
of -€0.9 million, compared to +€0.3 million for the previous 
year, due to the change in Euro/US Dollar and Chilean Peso 
exchange rates.

Net profit from continuing operations
The OENEO Group posted an increase of +8.4% in continuing 
operations, at €30.6 million, compared to €28.2 million at 
31 March 2017.

Diluted earnings per share amounted to €0.49, an increase of 
8.9% compared to 31 March 2017.

Net profit attributable to equity holders 
of the parent
Against a backdrop of declining non-strategic ranges, operations 
being discontinued posted a negative result of -€3.9 million, a 
signifi cant decrease compared to the previous year.

Net profi t attributable to equity holders of the parent amounted 
to €26.6 million, an increase of 0.7% compared to 31 March 2017.

1.1.3.2 CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

The balance sheet totalled €422.1 million, an increase of 
€1 million compared to 31 March 2017.

Non-current assets
The Group’s non-current assets amounted to €172.4 million, 
representing 40.9% of the total balance sheet at 31 March 2018.

Deferred taxes
During the 2017/2018 financial year, the OENEO Group 
consumed €2.1 million in deferred tax assets on its tax losses 
carried forward.

Current assets
Anticipating future sale growth, the OENEO Group continued 
to strengthen its inventory positions and secure its supply of raw 
materials, thus bringing its Working Capital Requirement to nearly 
€132 million compared to €119.1 million at 31 March 2017.

Equity
Equity increased from €215.3 million to €229.7 million, mainly 
thanks to net profi t of €26.6 million over the fi nancial year.

Provisions for liabilities and charges
Provisions for liabilities and charges decreased by -€0.7 million 
and mainly consisted of provisions for third-party litigation, tax 
risks, restructuring and other risks in both divisions.

Net financial debt
The Group’s debt decreased by 3% to €48.5 million.

It comprises mainly:

 1 medium-term credit lines and debt: €97.5 million (bilateral 
debt, leases, etc.);

 1 short-term credit lines: €4.2 million (factoring, investments, etc.);

 1 cash and cash equivalents of €53.2 million.

Given the Group’s fi nancial performance and exchanges with its 
banks, the Group is confi dent that short-term credit lines will 
be extended.
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1.2 ITEMS RELATED TO THE PARENT COMPANY 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.2.1 KEY FIGURES FROM THE INCOME STATEMENT

In thousands of euros
31/03/2018 

12 months
31/03/2017 

12 months
Change 

12 months

Revenue 3,559 3,044 17%
Profi t/(loss) from operating activities (2,883) (3,354) 14%
Profi t/(loss) from fi nancing activities 36,984 8,520 334%
Profi t/(loss) from extraordinary activities (8,426) (653) -1,190%
Tax 3,849 3,771 2%

NET PROFIT 29,523 8,283 256%

1.2.2 KEY FIGURES FROM THE BALANCE SHEET

In thousands of euros 31/03/2018 31/03/2017

ASSETS
Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 297 157
Non-current fi nancial assets 219,150 204,993
Trade receivables and other current assets 120,673 123,557

TOTAL ASSETS 340,121 328,707
LIABILITIES
Equity 281,140 258,216
Other equity 1,275 913
Trade and other payables 57,706 69,578

TOTAL LIABILITIES 340,121 328,707
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1.2.3 ANALYSIS OVER 12 MONTHS AT 31 MARCH 2018, VERSUS 12 MONTHS 
AT 31 MARCH 2017

The OENEO SA holding company carries out the functions of 
strategy, coordination and consulting for the Group’s fi nancing. In 
return for the services resulting from the contractual provisions 
and in accordance with the established service contracts, the 
Group’s subsidiaries paid the holding company an annual 
remuneration calculated based on the expenses committed 
in the subsidiaries’ common interest. In addition to the change 
in corporate governance, the holding company’s structure was 
unchanged compared to the previous year.

1.2.3.1 SERVICES INVOICED

The holding company’s revenue corresponded mainly to the 
invoicing of services carried out on behalf of OENEO Group 
companies. This amounted to €3.6 million for a 12-month 
fi nancial year, up €0.05 million compared to the previous fi nancial 
year, which comes mainly from the reinvoicing of free share plans 
to Group companies.

1.2.3.2 REGISTERED OFFICE COSTS

Operating costs corresponded mainly to fees, external services 
and employee costs. These costs amounted to €7.5 million 
at 31 March 2018, an increase of €0.4 million compared to 
31 March 2017.

1.2.3.3 PROFIT/(LOSS) FROM FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES

The holding company’s positive net profi t/(loss) from fi nancing 
activities of €37.0 million stemmed from:

 1 dividends received from subsidiaries for €15.4 million;

 1 fi nancial expenses for -€0.9 million;

 1 net remuneration on current accounts for +€0.8 million;

 1 negative exchange differences for -€0.5 million;

 1 income from investment securities for +€0.2 million;

 1 a reversal of provisions for Seguin Moreau shares for 
€22.0 million.

The Company uses fi nancial instruments within the meaning of 
Article L. 225-100 paragraph 6, whose operations are set out in 
the notes to the consolidated fi nancial statements.

1.2.3.4 PROFIT/(LOSS) FROM EXTRAORDINARY 
ACTIVITIES

The holding company’s profi t/(loss) from extraordinary activities 
amounted to a loss of -€8.4 million and came from:

 1 the loss from the sale of Piedade securities to Diam Bouchage 
for €8 million;

 1 miscellaneous non-recurring and restructuring expenses.

1.2.3.5 NET PROFIT

The holding company’s net profit/(loss) of €29.5 million 
included in particular tax income of €3.85 million from the tax 
consolidation of the French companies.

1.2.3.6 BALANCE SHEET

Total assets amounted to €340.1 million at 31 March 2018, an 
increase of €11.4 million compared with the previous year.

Equity at the reporting date increased from €258.2 million to 
€281.1 million.
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1.2.3.7 INFORMATION ON PAYMENT TIMES

INFORMATION ON SUPPLIER AND CLIENT PAYMENT TERMS

Article D.441 I,-1˚: Invoices received due and unpaid 
at the reporting date

Article D.441 I,-1˚: Invoices issued due and unpaid 
at the reporting date

0 days
1 to 30 

days
31 to 60 

days
61 to 90 

days
Over 90 

days TOTAL 0 days
1 to 30 

days
31 to 60 

days
61 to 90 

days
Over 90 

days TOTAL

(A) BREAKDOWN OF OVERDUE PAYMENTS
Number 
of invoices 
concerned 125 66
Total amount 
of invoices 
concerned 
(incl. tax) 35,013 (2,884) (118,230) 76,424 (9,677) 748,978 509 246,638 317,706 1,313,832
Percentage of 
total amount 
of purchases 
in the fi nancial 
year (excl. tax) 1.44% -0.12% -4.86% 3.14% 0.00% -0.40%
Percentage of 
total amount of 
revenue in the 
fi nancial year 
(excl. tax) 0.01% 6.93% 8.93% 0.00% 36.92%

(B) INVOICES EXCLUDED FROM (A) RELATING TO DISPUTED OR UNRECOGNISED RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES
Number 
of invoices 
concerned N/A N/A
Amount 
of invoices 
concerned N/A N/A

(C) REFERENCE PAYMENT PERIODS USED
Number 
of invoices 
concerned Legal period: 30 days after month-end Legal period: 60 days after month-end

1.2.3.8 NON-DEDUCTIBLE EXPENSES (ARTICLES 39-4 AND 223 QUATER 
OF THE FRENCH GENERAL TAX CODE)

Non-deductible expenses, under Articles 39-4 and 223 quater of the French General Tax Code were €23 thousand.
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1.3 CSR REPORTING

The corporate social responsibility report is set out in Appendix 1 to this management report.

1.3.1 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 4 April 2018, OENEO SA acquired 51% of the shares of Tonnellerie Millet (Gironde).

On 29 May 2018, Seguin Moreau acquired 100% of the shares of CENCI SARL (Haute-Saône), a company specialised in forestry and 
wood processing.

1.3.2 OUTLOOK

After a 2017-2018 fi nancial year marked by the resilience of 
its Ageing division and the dynamism of its Diam and Pietec 
technological closures ranges, the Oeneo Group reaffi rms its 
confi dence that growth will continue in 2018-2019. This will be 
based on i) the recurrence of the dynamic momentum of its 
Closures division, at a naturally slower rate (given the unfavourable 
base effects related to recent strong market share gains and the 
delayed effect from the poor harvest in 2017), and ii) the fact 
that its Ageing division is very favourably positioned to benefi t 
from a potential market recovery, depending on 2018 harvest 
production volumes.

By remaining attentive to external growth opportunities that 
enable it to strengthen or increase its high value-added offering, 
in the coming months the Group will see to it that recently 
acquired companies (Tonnellerie Millet, CENCI SARL) are quickly 
integrated and the sale process begun for non-strategic closure 
activities arising from the acquisition of Piedade comes to an end. 
The sale of these traditional and non-technological cork activities 
will have a positive effect on the margin of the Closures division, 
which will also remain temporarily impacted in 2018-2019 by 
a sharp rise in the price of cork due to an exceptionally poor 
harvest in 2018.

1.3.3 RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT POLICY

Throughout the year, the OENEO Group continued its wine research and development efforts.

1.3.3.1 CLOSURES DIVISION

In 2017-2018, the Closures division focused on the development 
of the Origine range in still wines and spirits.

The division also continued its work on the oenological impact of 
stoppers on bottled wine development, reinforcing the scientifi c 
legitimacy of the DIAM closure solutions that allow controlled 
changes in the aromatic expressions of bottled wines depending 
on the permeability chosen.

At the end of March 2018, the Closures division had spent 
€2.6 million on R&D, which fell short of the capitalisation criteria.

1.3.3.2 AGEING DIVISION

In 2017-2018 Seguin Moreau expanded its range of fi nishing 
wood chips, adding the “Toast Booster”, “Vanilla Booster” and 
“Spirit Booster” products to the existing “OenoFinisher Original” 

product. These products are used to guide the “fi nishing” style of 
wines in the direction desired by customers.

Seguin Moreau has continued to explore its understanding of 
the contribution of wood and the creation and disappearance 
of bitter and sweet molecules during barrel heating. This study 
is conducted in collaboration with Remy-Martin and university 
partners ISVV Bordeaux and the European Centre for Taste 
Science (Dijon). The results to date make it possible to speak of 
the existence of sweet tasting compounds in fractions of heated 
wood. Seguin Moreau has also demonstrated for the fi rst time 
the presence of aromatic compounds, which explain “pastry-
dessert” (positive for the sensory quality of wooded wines) 
and “smoked-metallic” (negative for quality) aromas. The new 
molecules will be integrated as markers into quality control plans 
for oak barrels and chips.
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Seguin Moreau continues to participate with other partners in 
the MO2VE collaborative project supported by the FUI. The 
purpose of this project is to develop a reliable and reproducible 
analysis methodology to monitor key molecular markers for wine 
oxidation and precise tools for controlling dissolved gases at 
each stage of barrel ageing. The results to date show that the 
preparation procedure for the barrel before use (immersion, 
prewashing, etc.) strongly impacts the supply of oxygen during 
ageing. This knowledge makes it possible to better customise the 
technological ageing process based on the sensitivity of wines 
to oxygen.

Seguin Moreau, in collaboration with Biolaffort and the ISVV, 
is also conducting an aromatic characterisation study of the 

Chardonnay grape variety. A family of compounds (thiopyrroles) 
with an aromatic hint of “toasted hazelnut” has been identifi ed in 
barrel-aged Chardonnay wines.

A study of the origin of these compounds in must and wine 
is underway (thiopyrrole formation mechanisms and the 
oenological parameters that encourage their synthesis). This 
collaborative project also seeks to fi nd new molecular markers 
associated with fl oral aromas (verbena, jasmine, linden, acacia 
fl ower) characteristic of Chardonnay wines and the impact of 
barrel ageing on those aromas.

At the end of March 2018, the Ageing division had spent 
€1.3 million on R&D, which fell short of the capitalisation criteria.

1.3.4 TABLE OF EARNINGS FOR THE LAST FIVE FINANCIAL YEARS

Financial years
31/03/2018 

12 months
31/03/2017 

12 months
31/03/2016 

12 months
31/03/2015 

12 months
31/03/2014 

12 months

I. SHARE CAPITAL AT THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR
Share capital (in thousands of euros) 63,181 62,904 61,615 60,297 60,239
Number of ordinary shares 63,180,843 62,904,186 61,614,555 60,296,942 60,238,622
Number of existing priority dividend shares (without 
voting rights) 0 0 0 0 0
Maximum number of future shares to be created 0 0 186,000 241,770 489,241

 1 by conversion of bonds (OC, OCEANE, ORA 
(convertible bond) and FCPE) 0 0 186,000 241,770 300,090

 1 by allocation of free shares 189,151
 1 by exercise of stock options
 1 by exercise of share purchase warrants

II. TRANSACTIONS AND EARNINGS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR (IN THOUSANDS OF EUROS)
Pre-tax revenue 3,559 3,044 2,994 2,496 2,101
Earnings before tax, employee profi t-sharing, depreciation, 
amortisation and provisions 3,957 5,004 22,365 13,976 8,412
Income tax (3,849) (3,771) (4,053) (2,952) (1,116)
Employee profi t-sharing due in respect of the fi nancial year 0 0 0 0 0
Earnings after tax, employee profi t-sharing, depreciation, 
amortisation and provisions 29,523 8,283 56,316 26,770 10,595
Distributed earnings 8,779 7,967 7,190 6,010 0
III. EARNINGS PER SHARE (IN EUROS)
Earnings after tax, employee profi t-sharing but before 
depreciation, amortisation and provisions 0.12 0.14 0.44 0.28 0.12
Earnings after tax, employee profi t-sharing, depreciation, 
amortisation and provisions 0.47 0.13 0.91 0.44 0.18
Dividend per share 0.14 0.13 0.12 0.10 0
IV. EMPLOYEES
Average employee headcount during the fi nancial year 8.4 7.7 5 0 0
Payroll costs for the fi nancial year (in thousands of euros) 2,657 2,586 1,713 955 495
Amount paid in relation to social benefi ts for the fi nancial 
year (social security, community projects, etc.) in thousands 
of euros 874 810 529 214 161
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1.4 HEADCOUNT

The end-of-month Group workforce at 31 March 2018 was 1,092, compared to 1,094 the previous year.

1.5 RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk prevention and management policy is a major concern 
at OENEO. The OENEO Group practices an internal policy 
of accountability and rigour based on transparency and 
communication of information in all fi elds. This means that risk 
management is everyone’s business.

In accordance with risk management and internal control 
regulations, the Group has been monitoring its risk mapping 
since March 2011. It was updated during the 2017/2018 
fi nancial year. Risk management is described in Note 5.A § 18) 
to the consolidated fi nancial statements and section 2.6 of our 
Registration Document.

1.6 ACQUISITION OF EQUITY INTERESTS IN 
COMPANIES HEADQUARTERED IN FRANCE 
DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR

During the month of December 2017, through its subsidiary 
Seguin Moreau, the Group gained a 52% majority stake in Galileo, 
a French company specialising in the design and manufacture 
of concrete vats for sustainable wine-making, and, as part of a 
strategic partnership upstream in the value chain, acquired a 

1.5% stake in the capital of NAIO Technologies, a manufacturer 
of agricultural robots designed for weeding, hoeing and harvesting 
purposes on cultivated land.
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1.7 ACTIVITIES AND RESULTS FOR ALL COMPANY 
SUBSIDIARIES

The revenue and net profi t/loss of the Group’s main subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March 2018 are presented in the following table:

In thousands of euros
Activity 

sector % stake Revenue
Net profit/

loss

Length 
of financial 

year 
(in months)

DIAM France Closures 100 104,743 4,221 12
SEGUIN MOREAU France Ageing 100 56,932 7,979 12

1.8 COMPANY SHARE OWNERSHIP

1.8.1 EMPLOYEE PROFIT-SHARING

In accordance with Article L. 225-102 of the French Commercial 
Code, we hereby report the status of employee profi t-sharing at 
the last day of the fi nancial year (31 March 2018).

No shares were held by employees at 31 March 2018 pursuant 
to Article L. 225-102.

1.8.2 BREAKDOWN OF CAPITAL AND VOTING RIGHTS

At 31 March 2018, ANDROMEDE SAS held 62.36% of the 
capital and 71.03% of the voting rights of OENEO.

In accordance with the TPI (identifi able bearer securities listing) 
dated 30 April 2018, the breakdown of capital and voting rights 
is as follows:

COUNTRY Number of securities % of capital % of voting rights

ANDROMEDE FRA 39,401,074 62.36% 71.51%
KEMPEN & Co NLD 3,561,546 5.64% 4.37%
STATE STREET BANK AND TRUST COMPANY USA 1,594,142 2.52% 1.96%
MONETA ASSET MANAGEMENT FRA 1,580,000 2.50% 1.94%
BNYM (The bank of New York Mellon) BEL 1,507,732 2.39% 1.85%
CNP DNCA EUROPE GROWTH FRA 1,107,472 1.75% 1.36%
LAZARD SMALL CAPS FRANCE FRA 907,098 1.44% 1.11%
BNP PARIBAS SECURIT.SCES LUX 701,545 1.11% 0.86%
KIRAO MULTICAPS FRA 629,079 1.00% 0.77%
AMPLEGEST FRA 598,946 0.95% 0.73%
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1.8.3 MAJOR DEVELOPMENTS DURING THE YEAR

During the 2017-2018 fi nancial year, in accordance with the 
OENEO statutory provisions regarding the declaration of crossing 
of thresholds, the Company received the following information:

 1 in a declaration to the AMF dated 13 April 2017, KEMPEN 
Capital Management NV declared that it had exceeded the 
threshold of 5% of capital, bringing the number of shares held 
to 3,270,000, with the same number of voting rights, i.e. 5.21% 
of the capital and 4% of the voting rights of OENEO;

 1 in a letter dated 19 April 2017, DNCA Finance and its 
subsidiary DNCA Finance Luxembourg declared that they 
had exceeded the 1% threshold in voting rights, bringing the 
number of OENEO shares owned by those companies to 
825,710;

 1 in a letter dated 4 May 2017, Moneta Asset Management 
declared that it had fallen below a 3% threshold in OENEO 
capital on 3 April 2017, and fallen below a 3% threshold 
(on 9 March 2017) and a 2% threshold on 11 April 2017 of 
OENEO voting rights, and it now holds 1,590,735 shares and 
voting rights, representing 2.53% of the capital and 1.95% of 
the voting rights of OENEO;

 1 in a letter dated 24 August 2017 COVEA FINANCE declared 
that it had fallen below the threshold of 1% of capital, bringing 
the number of shares held to 628,905, or 0.99% of the capital 
of OENEO;

 1 in a letter dated 29 August 2017, Sycomore Asset Management 
declared that it had fallen below a threshold of 1% of capital, 
bringing the number of shares held to 597,289, or 0.95% of 
the capital of OENEO.

With the exception of Andromeda, no director of the Company 
is also a representative of a shareholder of the Company that 
holds more than 5% of capital and voting rights.

In accordance with European Regulation no. 809/2004 of 
29 April 2004 implementing the Prospectus Directive, OENEO 
has ensured, through the adoption of corporate governance 
measures, that the control of the Company is not and will never 
be exercised abusively.

As at the date of this Registration Document, the Company is 
not aware of any shareholders’ agreement or concert action 
as defi ned by Articles L. 233-10 and L. 233-11 of the French 
Commercial Code.

1.8.4 ALLOCATION OF FREE SHARES

Plan no. 13 of 26 July 2017
Free shares were awarded to senior executives and employees 
(116,746 shares). The share awards will vest after a year, namely 
on 26 July 2018.

The fair value of the free shares awarded in 2017 is 
€1,059 thousand. Vested shares are recognised in the income 
statement (employee benefi t expenses) with a corresponding 
entry to equity of €734 thousand.

Plan no. 14 of 26 July 2017
Free shares were awarded to a senior executive (26,420 shares).

The share awards will vest after one year, namely on 26 July 2018.

The fair value of the free shares awarded in 2017 is €242 thousand. 
Vested shares are recognised in the income statement (employee 
benefit expenses) with a corresponding entry to equity of 
€164 thousand.

Free shares (unit)

AT 31 MARCH 2016 194,387
Granted 162,172
Awarded (86,962)
Void – 

AT 31 MARCH 2017 269,597
Granted 143,166
Awarded (256,397)
Void – 

AT 31 MARCH 2018 156,366
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1.8.5 CONVERTIBLE BONDS (ORA)

There are no longer any convertible bonds (ORA) still to be converted pursuant to the initial agreement of 2009.

TREASURY SHARES, ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS 
BY THE COMPANY OF ITS TREASURY SHARES, SHARE 
REPURCHASE PROGRAMME

At the Combined General Shareholders’ Meeting of 26 July 2017, 
the shareholders authorised a share repurchase programme that 
allowed the acquisition, disposal or transfer of shares at any time, 
in accordance with the laws and regulations in force, including 
during public offers, subject to the abstention periods provided 
for in Article 631-6 of the AMF General Regulation or other 
laws or regulations.

The General Shareholders’ Meeting set the maximum number of 
shares to be acquired at 10% of the total number of shares that 
comprise the share capital, or 5% in the case of shares acquired 
by the Company for retention and allotment purposes as part 
of a merger, split or contribution.

The maximum purchase price is €14 (excluding acquisition 
costs) per share. The maximum theoretical purchase amount 
is €87,494,512.

Breakdown by intended use of securities held by 
the Company
At 31 March 2018, 553,799 shares were held by the Company, 
of which 156,366 shares were allocated to the award of free 
shares to employees and corporate offi cers, and 19,999 shares 
were allocated to the Company under its liquidity agreement.

Duration of share repurchase programme
The share repurchase programme is approved for a period of 
18 months from the date of said General Shareholders’ Meeting 
and ends at the close of the General Shareholders’ Meeting 
called to approve the fi nancial statements for the year ended 
31 March 2018.

Situation at 31 March 2018
At 31 March 2018, Oeneo SA holds 553,799 of its own shares

Percentage of treasury shares held directly or indirectly 0.88%
Number of shares cancelled in the last 24 months 0
Net carrying amount of portfolio (in €) at 31 March 2018 4,185,263
Market value of portfolio at 31 March 2018 (10.16) 5,626,598

Status of programme implementation between 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018

NUMBER OF SHARES PURCHASED AND SOLD DURING THE YEAR (ARTICLES L. 225-208/209-1)

HOLDING MARCH 2016 440,881
Share purchases 756,109
Share sales 701,924
Transfer 86,962

HOLDING MARCH 2017 408,104
Share purchases 943,647
Share sales 541,355
Transfer 256,397

HOLDING MARCH 2018 553,799

Gross cumulative flows Open positions at 31/08/2018

Purchases Sales Transfers For purchase For sale

Number of securities 943,647 541,355 256,397
Average share price of trade in € 9.6605677 9.6233881 9.2857218
Amounts in € 9,116,166 5,211,594 2,380,831

The amount of trading costs for those purchases/sales of shares totalled €1 thousand during the 2017/2018 fi nancial year.
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TRANSACTIONS BY EXECUTIVES AND THEIR CLOSE RELATIVES ON COMPANY SHARES

None

SHARE PRICE

The OENEO share price opened on 3 April 2017 at €8.62 and closed on 31 March 2018 at €10.16. The highest price during the 
fi nancial year was €10.94 on 23 January 2018 and the lowest price was €8.01 on 21 April 2017.

1.8.6 STATUTORY AUDITORS’ FEES

Financial years covered(a): 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017

Deloitte & Associés Grant Thorton

Amount % Amount %

31/03/2018 31/03/2017 31/03/2018 31/03/2017 31/03/2018 31/03/2017 31/03/2018 31/03/2017

AUDIT
Certifi cation of 
the individual and 
consolidated fi nancial 
statements and limited 
half-year review(b)

 1 Issuer 71,000 54,387 30% 31% 71,000 6, 613 34% 28%
 1 Fully consolidated 
subsidiaries 125,670 101,292 52% 58% 140,000 166,643 66% 72%

Services other than 
certifi cation of 
fi nancial statements 
required by legal and 
regulatory texts

 1 Issuer 23,500 20,000 10% 11% – – 0% 0%
 1 Fully consolidated 
subsidiaries 0% 0% 0%

SUB-TOTAL 220,170 175,679 92% 100% 211,000 231,256 100% 100%
Services other than 
certifi cation of 
fi nancial statements 
provided at the entity’s 
request(c) 20,000 8%
Legal, tax and 
corporate
Other(d)

SUB-TOTAL 20,000

TOTAL 240,170 175,679 100% 100% 211,000 231,256 100% 100%
(a) For the period in question these are services provided in respect of a fi nancial year included in the income statement.
(b) Including services of independent experts or the network, requested by the Statutory Auditors as part of the certifi cation of the fi nancial statements.
(c) These are non-audit services provided, in accordance with the provisions of Article 24 of the ethics charter, by a member of the network to subsidiaries of the 

issuer whose fi nancial statements are certifi ed.
(d) Specify if >10% of audit fees.
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1.9 TAX INFORMATION

The dividends distributed for the three previous fi nancial years were as follows:

Financial year Dividends distributed Actual revenue Per share dividend*

2016/2017 €8,779,165.22 €8,779,165.22 €0.14
2015/2016 €7,967,365.25 €7,967,365.25 €0.13
2014/2015 €7,190,248.44 €7,190,248.44 €0.12

* In the absence of an option for fl at-rate taxation at source as per the new Article 117 quater of the French General Tax Code, this dividend opens the right to the 
allowance mentioned in Article 158-3-2°of the French General Tax Code uniquely for natural person shareholders resident for tax purposes in France.

Given the net profi t/(loss) for the period, the distribution of an ordinary dividend of €0.15 per share will be proposed at the next 
General Shareholders’ Meeting, with the option of payment of the whole amount in cash or shares.

PROPOSED ALLOCATION OF EARNINGS

2017/2018

Profi t for the fi nancial year €29,523,110.27
Credit to retained earnings €113,777,604.79

TOTAL AVAILABLE €143,300,715.06
Allocation to the legal reserve €27,665.70
Ordinary dividend of €0.15/share €9,477,126.45

TOTAL DIVIDENDS €9,477,126.45
Balance of retained earnings account. €133,795,922.91

€143,300,715.06
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1.10 LIST OF OFFICES AND POSITIONS

OENEO directors are appointed for a 3-year term. All terms are renewed on a rotating basis.

Hervé CLAQUIN
CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

SINCE 26 JULY 2017

Business address:
Abénex Capital, 9 avenue  Matignon, 75008 
Paris

Other positions or offices currently held
 1 Member of the Board of Directors of ABÉNEX CAPITAL
 1 Managing Director of CVM INVESTISSEMENT
 1 Non-voting director on the Board of Directors of PREMISTA
 1 Chairman of the Strategic Committee of DOLSKI
 1 Chairman of STEFREBA
 1 Member of the Supervisory Board of RUBIS
 1 Director of CENTRES POINT VISION holding
 1 Managing Director of GDF IMMO HOLDING
 1 Representative of ABÉNEX, Chairman of FRESH INVEST REAL ESTATE OPPCI

Previous positions or offices held outside the Group in the last five years
 1 Member of the Supervisory Board of ONDULINE
 1 Member of the Executive Committee and Chairman of FINANCIÈRE OFIC
 1 Member of the Supervisory Board and Strategic Committee of ROSSINI 
HOLDING

 1 Member of the Supervisory Board of BUFFALO GRILL
 1 Member of the Supervisory Committee of RG HOLDING
 1 Director of AA FRENCH SECURITIES
 1 Member of the Supervisory Committee of SURYS
 1 Chairman of ABX ASSOCIÉS
 1 Director of Société d’Investissement S3
 1 Representative of S3, member of the Supervisory Board of Société d’Investissement 
SALINIERS (SIS)

 1 Chairman and member of the Supervisory Board of FINANCIÈRE NARDOBEL
 1 Chairman of HPO HOLDING
 1 Member of the Supervisory Board of OUEST DISTRIBUTION DÉVELOPPEMENT
 1 Chairman of the LBO committee, member of the Board of Directors of the 
Association française des investisseurs en capital (French Association of Capital 
Investors)

 1 Member of the Supervisory Board of IBENEX OPCI
 1 Director of NEUFLIZE France
 1 Director of NEUFLIZE EUROPE EXPANSION

Year fi rst appointed as Director: 2007

Date of last reappointment: 22 July 2015

Current term expiry or reappointment date: at the 
General Shareholders’ Meeting called to approve 
the fi nancial statements for the fi nancial year ended 
31 March 2018
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Marie-Amélie JACQUET
VICE-CHAIR OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

SINCE 25 JULY 2016

Business address:
Andromède SAS, 21 boulevard Haussmann, 
75009 Paris

Other positions or offices currently held
 1 Managing Director of ALETEIA 2
 1 Member of the Executive Board of ANDROMÈDE

Previous positions or offices held outside the Group in the last five years
 1 Managing Director of ALETEIA
 1 Member of the Supervisory Board of ANDROMÈDE

Year fi rst appointed as Director: 2013

Date of last reappointment: 25 July 2016

Current term expiry or reappointment date: at the 
General Shareholders’ Meeting called to approve 
the fi nancial statements for the fi nancial year ending 
31 March 2019

Marc HÉRIAR D DUBREUIL
DIRECTOR

Business address:
Andromède SAS, 21 boulevard Haussmann, 
75009 Paris

Other positions or offices currently held
 1 Managing Director and member of the Executive Board of ANDROMÈDE
 1 Vice-Chairman, Deputy Managing Director and Director of ORPAR
 1 Chairman of RÉMY COINTREAU
 1 Non-executive Chairman of RÉMY COINTREAU AMÉRIQUE INC.
 1 Member of the Executive Committee of RECOPART
 1 Chairman of LVLF 2
 1 Chairman of MANTATECH

Previous positions or offices held within and outside the Group in the last five years
 1 Chairman of the Supervisory Board of CRESCENDO INDUSTRIES
 1 Director and member of the BULL Audit Committee
 1 Member of the Steering Committee of AUXI-A
 1 Managing Director of ANDROMÈDE
 1 Member of the Executive Board of RECOPART
 1 Chairman of LVLF
 1 Director of TC International (LTD)
 1 Managing Director of OENEO
 1 Chairman of the Board of Directors of OENEO

Year fi rst appointed as Director: 2002

Date of last reappointment: 22 July 2015

Current term expiry or reappointment date: at the 
General Shareholders’ Meeting called to approve 
the fi nancial statements for the fi nancial year ended 
31 March 2018
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François HÉRIARD DUBREUIL
DIRECTOR

Business address :
Andromède SAS, 21 boulevard Haussmann, 
75009 Paris

Other positions or offices currently held
 1 Chairman of the Executive Board of ANDROMÈDE
 1 Director of RÉMY COINTREAU and member of the Audit Committee
 1 Chairman and Managing Director of ORPAR
 1 Representative of ORPAR, Chairman of RECOPART
 1 Chairman of FINANCIÈRE OF NONAC 2
 1 Chairman of VIVELYS
 1 Representative of RÉMY COINTREAU SERVICES, Chairman of RÉMY 
COINTREAU INTERNATIONAL MARKETING services

 1 Director of DYNASTY FINE WINES GROUP LTD
 1 President of Fondation INSEAD
 1 Chairman of RÉMY COINTREAU SERVICES
 1 Representative of RÉMY COINTREAU SERVICES, Chairman of JOINT 
MARKETING SERVICES

 1 Representative of RÉMY COINTREAU SERVICES, Chairman of RÉMY 
COINTREAU LIBRA

 1 Representative of RÉMY COINTREAU SERVICES (SAS), Chairman of STORECO
 1 Director of FINANCIÈRE RÉMY COINTREAU (SA/NV)
 1 Director of RÉMY COINTREAU SOUTH AFRICA (PTY) LTD
 1 Directeur of E. RÉMY RENTOUMA TRADING LIMITED
 1 Legal representative of RÉMY COINTREAU SHANGHAI LIMITED
 1 Director of BRUICHLADDICH DISTILLERY COMPANY LIMITED
 1 Director of LOCHINDAAL DISTILLERY LIMITED
 1 Director of PORT CHARLOTTE LIMITED
 1 Director of THE BOTANIST LIMITED
 1 Non-executive Chairman of RÉMY COINTREAU AMÉRIQUE, INC.
 1 Director of RÉMY CONCORD LIMITED
 1 Director of RÉMY PACIFIQUE LIMITED
 1 Director of RÉMY COINTREAU UK LIMITED
 1 Chairman of MOUNT GAY DISTILLERIES LIMITED
 1 Director of RÉMY COINTREAU INTERNATIONAL PTE LIMITED
 1 Member of the Supervisory Board of RÉMY COINTREAU NEDERLAND 
HOLDING NV

 1 Non-executive Chairman of RÉMY COINTREAU USA INC.
 1 Non-executive Chairman of S&E&A METAXA ABE

Previous positions or offices held outside the Group in the last five years
 1 Managing Director of ANDROMÈDE
 1 Chairman of the Executive Board of RECOPART
 1 Chairman of FINANCIÈRE OF NONAC
 1 Director of SHANGHAI SHENMA WINERY Co LTD
 1 Permanent representative of GRANDE CHAMPAGNE PATRIMOINE SAS, 
Chairman of MMI

 1 Chairman of GRANDE CHAMPAGNE PATRIMOINE
 1 Representative of RÉMY COINTREAU SERVICES, Director of RÉMY COINTREAU 
ARIES

 1 Deputy Managing Director of OENEO
 1 Vice-Chairman of OENEO

Year fi rst appointed as Director: 2002

Date of last reappointment: 25 July 2016

Current term expiry date: at the General Shareholders’ 
Meeting called to approve the fi nancial statements for 
the fi nancial year ending 31 March 2019
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Vivien HÉRIARD DUBREUIL
DIRECTOR

Business address:
Pro Drones Investments LLC, 115 East 57th 
street, 5 fl oor New York, NY 10022 USA

Other positions and offices
 1 Vice-Chairman of the Supervisory Board of ANDROMÈDE
 1 Chairman and founder of PRO DRONES
 1 Chairman of MICRODRONES
 1 Member of the Strategic Committee of DELAIR

Previous positions or offices held outside the Group in the last five years
 1 Chairman of the investment company MANTATECH
 1 Vice-President of the UAS Centre of Excellence of QuebecYear fi rst appointed as Director: 2015 (as permanent 

representative of MANTATECH, of which he was 
Chairman)

Date of last reappointment: 26 July 2017

Current term expiry or reappointment date: at the 
General Shareholders’ Meeting called to approve 
the fi nancial statements for the fi nancial year ending 
31 March 2020

Gisèle DURAND
DIRECTOR

Business address:
Andromède SAS, 21 boulevard Haussmann, 
75009 Paris

Other positions or offices currently held

 1 Deputy Managing Director of ANDROMÈDE
 1 Permanent representative of ORPAR, Director of RÉMY COINTREAU
 1 Member of the Appointments and Compensation Committee at RÉMY 
COINTREAU

Previous positions or offices held outside the Group in the last five years

None

Year fi rst appointed as Director: 2012

Date of last reappointment: 22 July 2015

Current term expiry or reappointment date: at the 
General Shareholders’ Meeting called to approve 
the fi nancial statements for the fi nancial year ended 
31 March 2018

Catherine CLEMENT-CHABAS
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

Business address:
11 rue Laugier, 75017 Paris

Position held in the Company
 1 None.

Other positions and offices
 1 Chartered accountant

Previous positions or offices held outside the Group in the last five years
 1 NoneYear fi rst appointed: 2016

Current term expiry or reappointment date: at the 
General Shareholders’ Meeting called to approve 
the fi nancial statements for the fi nancial year ending 
31 March 2019
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Jacques HERAIL
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

Business address:
Herail et Associés SAS 2 rue Decamps, 
75116 Paris

Other positions or offices currently held
 1 Advisor to the Chairman of the SIS Group
 1 Chairman of the European network CRÈCHES De FRANCE
 1 Chairman of HERAIL et ASSOCIÉS SAS

Previous positions or offices held outside the Group in the last five years
 1 Managing Director of the AOS / COLLIERS Group
 1 Chairman of the charity Enfant Présent
 1 Manager of LLC JACQUES HERAIL CONSEILSYear fi rst appointed: 2009

Date of last reappointment: 26 July 2017

Current term expiry or reappointment date: at the 
General Shareholders’ Meeting called to approve 
the fi nancial statements for the fi nancial year ending 
31 March 2020

PATERNOT Conseil et 
Investissement SAS, 
represented by 
Thierry PATERNOT
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

Business address:
Paternot Conseil et Investissement, 62 Rue 
François Ier, 75008 Paris

Other positions or offices currently held
 1 Operating Partner of the investment fund DUKE STREE
 1 Director of the Franco-German Chamber of Commerce and Industry
 1 Manager of PATERNOT CONSEIL ET INVESTISSEMENT SAS
 1 Director of ECKES GRANINI AG
 1 Director of WALTER GROUP in Montreal

Previous positions or offices held outside the Group in the last five years
 1 Director of Bio-DS SAS (Biomnis)
 1 Director of Freedom SAS (Fullsix)
 1 Director of Henkel AG
 1 Chairman of the Supervisory Board of PT Investissement sas (Cérélia)
 1 Director of QCNS CRUISES SAM

Year fi rst appointed: 2011

Date of last reappointment: 22 July 2015

Current term expiry or reappointment date: at the 
General Shareholders’ Meeting called to approve 
the fi nancial statements for the fi nancial year ended 
31 March 2018

Véronique SANDERS
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

Business address:
Château Haut-Bailly, 33850 Léognan

Other positions or offices currently held
 1 Chair and Managing Director of Château Haut-Bailly
 1 Director of ISVV (Institute of Vine and Wine Science)
 1 Director of the Union des Grands Crus de Bordeaux
 1 Director of the Commanderie du Bontemps de Médoc, Graves, Barsac et Sauternes
 1 Member of the Académie du Vin de Bordeaux
 1 Member of the Académie Internationale du Vin
 1 Director of Arpeggioe (Association pour le rayonnement de l’Opéra national de 
Bordeaux (Friends of Bordeaux National Opera))

 1 Director of the Bordeaux Tourist Offi ce

Previous positions or offices held outside the Group in the last five years
 1 Chair of the Union des crus classés de Graves from 2006 to 2009
 1 Chair of the Club APM of Bordeaux

Year fi rst appointed: 2013

Date of last reappointment: 25 July 2016

Current term expiry or reappointment date: at the 
General Shareholders’ Meeting called to approve 
the fi nancial statements for the fi nancial year ending 
31 March 2019
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Olivier HUBIN
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

Business address:
Estee Lauder, 128 bd Haussmann, 75008 
Paris

Other positions or offices currently held
 1 Vice-President Finance, strategy and business operations EMEA at ESTÉE LAUDER 
COMPANIES

Previous positions or offices held outside the Group in the last five years
 1 Director of Internal Auditing and Fraud Prevention – Procter & Gamble
 1 Strategy advisor to the European Centre of FMCG Excellence at EY

Year fi rst appointed: 2014

Date of last reappointment: 26 July 2017

Current term expiry or reappointment date: at the 
General Shareholders’ Meeting called to approve 
the fi nancial statements for the fi nancial year ending 
31 March 2020

Alessia ANTINORI
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

Business address:
Marchesi Antinori Spa – Piazza degli 
Antinori 3 – 50123 Firenze – Italy

Other positions or offices currently held
 1 Vice-Chair of Marchesi Antinori Spa

Previous positions or offices held outside the Group in the last five years
 1 None

Year fi rst appointed: 2016

Current term expiry or reappointment date: at the 
General Shareholders’ Meeting called to approve 
the fi nancial statements for the fi nancial year ending 
31 March 2019

Armand WIEDEMANN-
GOIRAN
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

Business address:
Z.A La Cigalière 130 Allée Mistral 84250 
LE THOR

Other positions or offices currently held
 1 Manager of SCI AB Bâtiment Breton SCI
 1 Manager of SCI AB Cabane Catalane
 1 Manager of SCI AB Phytopatrimoine
 1 Manager of SCI AB Remise Rennaise
 1 Manager of SCI AB Siège social
 1 Manager of SCI Habitation Huizate
 1 Manager of SCI AB Investissements immobiliers
 1 Manager of SCI AB Dépôt Dordognot
 1 Manager of SCI AB Local Laudanien
 1 Manager of SCI AB Garage Gapencais
 1 Manager of SCI AB Villégiature Varoise
 1 Chairman of SERPE
 1 Chairman of SEM Espaces Verts

Previous positions or offices held outside the Group in the last five years
 1 Manager of Entreprise Luc Rat

Year fi rst appointed: 2017

Current term expiry or reappointment date: at the 
General Shareholders’ Meeting called to approve 
the fi nancial statements for the fi nancial year ending 
31 March 2020
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Henri VALLAT
NON-VOTING DIRECTOR

Business address:
Cabinet Vallat, 3 rue Philippy, 34000 
Montpellier

Other positions or offices currently held
 1 Barrister, Court Expert
 1 Director of ENCLOS SAINT FRANÇOIS SA

Previous positions or offices held outside the Group in the last five years
 1 Director of Jeanjean SA
 1 Director of the Association nationale de l’interprofessionnel des vins de table and 
vin de pays (ANIVIT)

Year fi rst appointed: 2014

Date of last reappointment: 25 July 2016

Current term expires: at the General Shareholders 
Meeting called to approve the fi nancial statements for 
the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2018

François GLEMET
NON-VOTING DIRECTOR

Business address:
Route du Beauvallon, 1 CH-3963 CRANS-
MONTANA Switzerland

Other positions or offices currently held
 1 Director Emeritus, McKinsey and Company (since 2004)
 1 Vice-Chairman of Intermines Suisse (since 2011)
 1 Member of the Consultative Committee of École Internationale Bilingue (since 
2016)

Previous positions or offices held in the last five years
 1 Director of ORPAR
 1 Director of OENEO
 1 Director of Mines ParisTech (2004-2009)
 1 Director (2002-2009) and President (2004-2009) of the Association des anciens 
élèves Mines ParisTech (ENSM)

 1 Vice-President of the INTERMINES association (2004-2009)
 1 Director (2008 to March 2010) and President (2008 and half of 2009) of the 
ParisTech Alumni Association

 1 Director of the Conseil National des Ingénieurs et Scientifi ques de France (National 
Council of Engineers and Scientists of France) (2007–2009)

 1 President of the Club Lamennais of the CNISF (2010-2012)
 1 Director of Organisation Resource Counsellors Worldwide (ORCWW) (2004 to 
2010)

Year fi rst appointed: 2016

End of term: 31 March 2018
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1.11 CORPORATE OFFICER COMPENSATION

1.11.1 PRESENTATION OF DRAFT RESOLUTIONS RELATING TO THE PRINCIPLES 
AND CRITERIA FOR SETTING, ALLOCATING AND AWARDING THE FIXED, 
VARIABLE AND EXCEPTIONAL COMPONENTS OF TOTAL COMPENSATION 
AND BENEFITS OF ANY KIND, THAT CAN BE AWARDED TO THE CHAIRMAN, 
MANAGING DIRECTORS AND DEPUTY MANAGING DIRECTORS BY VIRTUE 
OF THEIR OFFICE

Under resolutions twelve, thirteen and fourteen it is proposed 
that shareholders approve the components of total compensation 
and benefi ts of any kind paid to benefi ciaries for the fi nancial year 
ended 31 March 2018, to the executive directors, namely:

 1 François MORINIÈRE, as Chairman of the Board of Directors 
for the period from 1 April to 26 July 2017;

 1 Hervé CLAQUIN, as Chairman of the Board of Directors for 
the period from 26 July 2017 to 31 March 2018;

 1 Nicolas HÉRIARD DUBREUIL, as Managing Director, for the 
period from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018.

The compensation in question relates to (i) the fi xed portion, 
(ii) the variable portion, (iii) the compensation of this variable 
portion, (iv) stock options, performance shares and any other 
long-term compensation, (v) bonuses related to taking up or 
leaving a position, (vi) the supplementary pension scheme and 
(vii) benefi ts of any kind.

The vote at the General Shareholders’ Meeting on these 
components is a result of the amendment of Article L. 225-100 of 
the French Commercial Code, on the back of law no. 2016-1691 
of 9 December 2016 relating to transparency, tackling corruption 
and modernisation of economic life (so-called “Sapin 2” law) and 
replaces the consultative opinion previously requested of you 
under the AFEP-MEDEF Code.

These components are also reproduced in sections 2.4 and 2.5 
of the Company’s 2017/2018 Registration Document.

In accordance with the terms of Article L. 225 37-2 of the French 
Commercial Code, the payment of variable and exceptional 
compensation awarded in the fi nancial year 2017-2018 just ended 
is subject to the prior approval by this Ordinary Shareholders’ 
Meeting of the components of compensation for the individuals 
in question.

DESCRIPTION OF THE FIXED, VARIABLE 
AND EXCEPTIONAL COMPONENTS 
OF COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS

The aim of the policy on the compensation by the Oeneo Group 
of its executive directors is to support its long-term growth 
strategy with a particular focus on investment decisions and its 
competitiveness in its various markets. This policy establishes a 
close link between the performance of its directors and their 

short, medium and long-term compensation, with the aim of 
aligning their interests with those of shareholders.

In this respect, this policy includes short-term compensation 
comprising fixed and variable portions, long-term incentive 
components with performance shares, as well as additional 
components such as defi ned-benefi t pension schemes, welfare 
schemes and severance pay.

The total compensation of executive and non-executive directors 
is agreed by the Board of Directors, whose decision takes into 
account the recommendations of the Appointments and Human 
Resources Committee (CNRH). The committee ensures that 
each of the components of total compensation meets a clear 
objective that is fully aligned with the strategy and interests of 
the business.

On the proposal of the Appointments and Human Resources 
Committee, at the Board of Directors’ Meeting of 11 June 
2018 the principles for compensation of executive directors in 
the 2018-2019 fi nancial year were agreed.

Executive directors

(i) Fixed annual compensation
The fi xed portion of compensation is based on the nature of 
responsibilities assigned and jobholder performance and is in line 
with market trends. It must be such as to attract to the most 
senior management positions talented individuals from within 
the Company itself or, where appropriate, recruited externally; it 
must also contribute to securing their commitment and loyalty 
over the long term.

The issue of changes in fi xed compensation is reviewed each 
year. The criteria used to decide on an increase are changes in 
the scope of responsibility, the performance of the jobholder 
and their development in the position held, the economic and 
social context in the main countries where the Group operates 
and the position in relation to the market for equivalent roles in 
businesses of a comparable size.

(ii) Annual variable compensation
The variable portion of the compensation represents a percentage 
of the fi xed part and is conditional on a number of targets being 
met. Such targets are set at the start of each fi nancial year and 
approved by the Board of Directors, having been proposed by 
the Appointments and Compensation Committee.
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These targets depend on the specific issues of the current 
fi nancial year and thus combine an assessment of the Group’s 
fi nancial performance and a review of management skills in terms 
of the Group’s strategy and leadership model.

As such, following a proposal by the Appointments and Human 
Resources Committee, the Board set performance criteria, each 
counting for one-third, relating to the active search for potential 
targets, the creation of a team atmosphere and the standard of 
dialogue with the Chairman and Board.

This compensation may be paid in cash.

(iii) Multi-year variable compensation
Executive directors are not paid any multi-year variable 
compensation.

(iv) Exceptional variable compensation
Based on a recommendation by the CNRH, the Board of 
Directors adopted the principle according to which executive 
directors may be paid exceptional compensation in certain 
circumstances which must be communicated in detail and with 
evidence provided. Moreover, such compensation may only 
be made with the approval of the shareholders, pursuant to 
Article L. 225-37-2 of the French Commercial Code.

This exceptional compensation may not exceed 25% of the fi xed 
compensation of the executive director.

(v) Directors’ fees
Only executive directors on the board are eligible for directors’ 
fees, which is not the case for the company’s Managing Director.

(vi)  Compensation, indemnities or benefits owed 
or liable to be owed upon taking up a position.

Upon recommendation of the CNRH, the Board of Directors has 
not adopted the principle whereby executive directors coming 
from a company outside the group would benefi t from a signing 
bonus.

(vii) Benefits in kind
Executive directors may be entitled to:

 1 a company car, in accordance with the company’s internal rules 
(servicing, insurance and running costs paid by the company);

 1 a social security regime for corporate offi cers and executives 
subscribed by the company;

 1 collective pension, welfare and healthcare schemes in place 
within the group for all employees.

(viii) Performance shares
The Oeneo Group has decided to implement only performance 
share plans.

The aim of the medium and long-term incentive plan is to align 
executive directors with the Group’s medium and long-term 
objectives. The plan is fully subject to performance conditions.

In order to strengthen alignment with the interests of shareholders, 
executive directors are required to retain one third of shares 
defi nitively vested for the duration of their term of offi ce.

In accordance with the AFEP-MEDEF Code, executive directors 
have formally committed, until the end of their term of offi ce, 

not to resort to any risk hedging mechanism for shares allocated 
as part of long-term incentive plans.

Following a proposal by the Appointments and Human Resources 
Committee, the Board of Directors decided to renew last year’s 
scheme, with the introduction of a qualitative criterion of 25%.

For 75%:

The following allocation rule is adopted:

Number of free shares allocated = max free shares x theoretical 
capital growth vs. N-1/10%

The increase in the capital value is equal to 15 times the change 
in ROC plus the free cash fl ow before dividends.

If the change in capital value at the end of the fi nancial year at 
31 March 2018 as a percentage of capital value at 31 March 
2017 is:

 1 less than 0%: no performance shares are payable;

 1 greater than 10%: all performance shares are payable;

 1 between 0 and 10%: proportionate (example, at +6%, 60% of 
performance shares are payable).

At 25%:

Performance shares will be allocated after one or more qualitative 
criteria relating to the executive director and to be set by the 
Board of Directors are met.

(ix) Severance pay
Severance pay would be due in the event of the termination 
of the term of offi ce in case of forced departure, unless there 
was a serious reason or gross misconduct or in the event of the 
failure of the company.

The amount of this allowance would be calculated on the basis 
of one year of compensation, including the basic monthly gross 
salary (with the company vehicle benefi t mentioned in the last 
pay statement), premium, indemnity or any other benefi t of any 
kind.

It is subject to the following performance conditions:

 1 if the quantitative results verifi ed by the Board are less than 
75% of the budgetary targets, no compensation will be payable;

 1 if the quantitative results verifi ed by the Board are greater than 
or equal to 75%, the compensation paid shall be in proportion 
to this percentage, and limited to 100%.

In the event of a departure after 1 April 2017, the company’s 
situation will be assessed against the results calculated at the end 
of the last two tax years.

No severance pay is payable in the event of the voluntary 
departure of executive directors.

(x) Non-compete indemnity
Executive directors are subject to a non-compete clause 
according to which they undertake, for one year from the end 
of their term of offi ce, not to directly or indirectly engage in an 
activity that is in competition with that of the company, either on 
their own behalf or on behalf of another company. In exchange 
for this non-compete obligation, executive directors may be paid 
gross fi nancial compensation corresponding to one year of fi xed 
pay, payable in twelve monthly payments.
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On the departure of executive directors, the Company’s Board of 
Directors shall decide whether or not to apply the non-compete 
clause and may waive the application of this clause unilaterally.

If this clause is implemented once executive directors cease to 
hold offi ce, the cumulative severance pay (departure and non-
compete) will be capped at 24 months of their basic gross fi xed 
compensation.

(xi) Supplementary pension scheme
The pension scheme provides for a contribution of 8% of 
the compensation of eligible benefi ciaries, subject to a ceiling 
equal to 8x the annual social security limit, fi nanced entirely 
by OENEO. The scheme is managed by an external insurance 
company.

(xii)  Any other compensation associated 
with the term of office

Executive directors do not benefi t from any other compensation 
as a result of their term of offi ce other than that set out above.

Non-executive directors

(xiii) Fixed annual compensation
The fi xed portion of compensation is calculated on the basis of 
the responsibilities of the Chairman of the Board of Directors, 
non-executive director.

This compensation may be paid in cash.

(xiv) Annual variable compensation
The non-executive director is not paid any annual variable 
compensation as a reminder of his independence in relation to 
the Chief Executive Offi cer’s remit.

(xv) Multi-year variable compensation
The non-executive director is not paid any multi-year variable 
compensation.

(xvi) Exceptional variable compensation
The non-executive director is not paid any exceptional variable 
compensation.

(xvii) Directors’ fees
As the non-executive director has director status, he is eligible for 
directors’ fees in accordance with the rules set out in the articles 
of association and internal regulations of the Board of Directors.

(xviii)  Compensation, indemnities or benefits owed 
or liable to be owed upon taking up a position

The non-executive director is not entitled to any such 
compensation.

(xix) Performance shares
The non-executive director is not eligible for performance plans.

(xx) Severance pay
The non-executive director is not entitled to any such indemnity.

(xxi) Non-compete indemnity
The non-executive director is not entitled to any such indemnity.

(xxii) Benefits in kind
Executive directors are entitled to:

 1 a company car, in accordance with the company’s internal rules 
(servicing, insurance and running costs paid by the company);

 1 a social security regime for corporate offi cers and executives 
subscribed by the company;

 1 collective pension, welfare and healthcare schemes in place 
within the group for all employees.

(xxiii)  Any other compensation associated 
with the term of office

The non-executive director is not entitled to any other 
compensation as a result of his term of offi ce other than that 
set out above.

1.11.2 SUMMARY OF COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS PAID TO CORPORATE 
OFFICERS (GROSS)

The information contained in this document takes into account 
the recommendations of the revised November 2016 version 
of the Afep-Medef Corporate Governance Code, as well as the 
22 December 2008 AMF recommendation on disclosure of the 
compensation of corporate offi cers in registration documents. 
As a result, it indicates all commitments of any kind made by 
the Company to its corporate offi cers which correspond to 
components of compensation, indemnities or benefi ts due or 
likely to be due as a result of the taking, termination or change 
of those functions or subsequent thereto.

In accordance with the provisions of the law of 9 December 
2016 relating to transparency, tackling corruption and 
modernisation of economic life (so-called “Sapin 2” law), this 

report sets out the principles and criteria for setting, allocating 
and awarding the fi xed, variable and exceptional components 
of total compensation and benefi ts of any kind, that can be 
awarded to the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer for 
fi nancial year 2017-2018.

This applies to:

 1 François MORINIÈRE, as Chairman of the Board of Directors 
for the period from 1 April 2017 to 26 July 2017;

 1 Hervé CLAQUIN, as Chairman of the Board of Directors for 
the period from 26 July 2017 to 31 March 2018;

 1 Nicolas HÉRIARD DUBREUIL, as Chief Executive Offi cer, for 
the period from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018.
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1.11.2.1 SUMMARY OF COMPENSATION AND OPTIONS AND SHARES GRANTED 
TO EACH EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

In euros
Financial year 

2017-2018
Financial year 

2016-2017
François MORINIÈRE 
Chief Executive Offi cer (until 30/09/2016) 
Chairman of the Board of Directors (until 26/07/2017)
Compensation paid during the fi nancial year (detailed in the following table) 314,288 964,311
Value of options granted during the fi nancial year  
Value of performance shares granted (detailed in the following table) 69,825 500,750

TOTAL 384,113 1,465,061

In euros
Financial year

 2017-2018
Financial year 

2016-2017
Hervé CLAQUIN 
Chairman of the Board of Directors (since 26/07/2017)
Compensation paid during the fi nancial year (detailed in the following table) 15,300 15,300
Value of options granted during the fi nancial year
Value of performance shares granted (detailed in the following table)

TOTAL 15,300 15,300

In euros
Financial year 

2017-2018
Financial year 

2016-2017
Nicolas HÉRIARD DUBREUIL 
Chief Executive Offi cer (since 01/10/2016)
Compensation paid during the fi nancial year (detailed in the following table) 400,437 131,429
Value of options granted during the fi nancial year – 
Value of performance shares granted (detailed in the following table) 228,570 – 

TOTAL 629,007 131,429

1.11.2.2 SUMMARY OF COMPENSATION FOR EACH EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Compensation paid by OENEO SA

In euros Financial year 2017-2018 Financial year 2016-2017

François MORINIÈRE Amount payable Amount paid* Amount payable Amount paid*
Fixed compensation 100,000 109,703 300,000 319,271
Variable compensation – – 50,000 265,879
Multi-year variable compensation – – – – 
Exceptional compensation – – – – 
Directors’ fees 4,862 7,650 7,650 – 
Benefi ts in kind 9,386 9,386 29,262 29,262
Transactional indemnities – – 150,000 150,000
Severance pay – – – – 
Non-compete indemnity 174,996 174,996 174,996 174,996
Supplementary pension scheme 12,553 12,553 24,904 24,904

TOTAL 301,797 314,288 736,812 964,311
* Amounts paid include amounts exceeding social payment allowances.
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In euros Financial year 2017-2018 Financial year 2016-2017

Hervé CLAQUIN Amount payable Amount paid Amount payable Amount paid
Fixed compensation – – – –
Variable compensation – – – 
Multi-year variable compensation – – – – 
Exceptional compensation – – – – 
Directors’ fees 79,904 15,300 15,300 15,300
Benefi ts in kind – – – – 
Severance pay – – – – 
Non-compete indemnity – – – – 
Supplementary pension scheme

TOTAL 79,904 15,300 15,300 15,300

In euros Financial year 2017-2018 Financial year 2016-2017

Nicolas HÉRIARD DUBREUIL Amount payable Amount paid* Amount payable Amount paid*
Fixed compensation 230,000 249,590 115,000 120,347
Variable compensation 78,300 114,000 114,000 – 
Multi-year variable compensation – – – – 
Exceptional compensation – – – – 
Directors’ fees – – – – 
Benefi ts in kind 11,550 11,550 1,792 1,792
Severance pay – – – – 
Non-compete indemnity – – – – 
Supplementary pension scheme 25,297 25,297 9,200 9,200

TOTAL 345,147 400,437 239,992 131,429
* Amounts paid include amounts exceeding social payment allowances.

Supplementary pension scheme
Nicolas HÉRIARD DUBREUIL, Chief Executive Offi cer, and François Morinière, Chairman of the Board of Directors until 25 July 2017, 
are covered by this scheme, which is managed by an external insurance company. This scheme provides for a contribution of 8% of 
the compensation of eligible benefi ciaries, subject to a ceiling equal to 8x the annual social security limit, fi nanced entirely by OENEO.

Compensation paid by Andromède SAS
Nicolas HÉRIARD DUBREUIL was paid €5 thousand in directors’ fees for the 2017-2018 fi nancial year, in respect of his term as member 
of the Supervisory Board of Andromède SAS.

1.11.3 SUMMARY OF COMPENSATION AND OPTIONS AND SHARES GRANTED 
TO OTHER NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

In euros
Financial year 

2017-2018
Financial year 

2016-2017
Gisèle DURAND 
Member of the Board of Directors
Compensation paid during the fi nancial year (detailed in the following table) 18,160 18,160
Value of options granted during the fi nancial year – – 
Value of performance shares granted (detailed in the following table) 70,756 61,180

TOTAL 88,916 79,340
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In euros
Financial year

 2017-2018
Financial year 

2016-2017

François HÉRIARD DUBREUIL 
Member of the Board of Directors 
Compensation paid during the fi nancial year (detailed in the following table) 100,300 106,838
Value of options granted during the fi nancial year – – 
Value of performance shares granted (detailed in the following table) – – 

TOTAL 100,300 106,838

1.11.4 SUMMARY OF COMPENSATION FOR OTHER NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

1.11.4.1 COMPENSATION PAID BY OENEO SA

In euros Financial year 2017-2018 Financial year 2016-2017

Gisèle DURAND Amount payable Amount paid Amount payable Amount paid

Fixed compensation – – – – 
Variable compensation – – – – 
Exceptional compensation – – – – 
Directors’ fees 18,160 18,160 18,160 18,160
Benefi ts in kind – – – – 

TOTAL 18,160 18,160 18,160 18,160

In euros Financial year 2017-2018 Financial year 2016-2017

François HÉRIARD DUBREUIL Amount payable Amount paid Amount payable Amount payable

Fixed compensation* 85,000 85,000 91,538 91,538
Variable compensation – – – – 
Exceptional compensation – – – – 
Directors’ fees 15,300 15,300 15,300 15,300
Benefi ts in kind – – – – 

TOTAL 100,300 100,300 106,838 106,838
* See § below.

1.11.4.2 COMPENSATION PAID BY ANDROMÈDE SAS OR OTHER COMPANIES

The compensation paid to Gisèle DURAND by Andromède 
SAS, the company that controls OENEO SA, amounted to 
€374,447 for financial year 2017-2018. This compensation 
amounted to €327,175 for fi nancial year 2016-2017. This was 
fi xed compensation, including amounts exceeding social payment 
allowances, and a variable portion. There were no directors’ fees. 
It should be noted that the activity of Andromède SAS does not 

exclusively comprise the control of OENEO SA, but extends to 
other activities.

The fi xed compensation  paid to François HÉRIARD DUBREUIL 
by Vivelys SAS, a company controlled by OENEO SA amounted 
to €85 thousand   for fi nancial year 2017-2018. François HÉRIARD 
DUBREUIL received €91,538 for financial year 2016-2017. 
François HÉRIARD DUBREUIL has been Chairman of Vivelys 
SAS since 17 November  2014.
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1.11.5 DIRECTORS’ FEES AND OTHER COMPENSATION RECEIVED BY MEMBERS 
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The members of the Board of Directors listed below do not receive any compensation from the Company or its subsidiaries other 
than the directors’ fees listed below.

Members of the Board 
of Directors

Financial year 2017-2018 Financial year 2016-2017

Payable Paid Payable Paid
Marie-Amélie JACQUET(2)

Directors’ fees 18,160 18,160 18,160 18,160
Other compensation – – – – 
Marc HÉRIARD DUBREUIL(10)

Directors’ fees 15,300 15,300 15,300 15,300
Other compensation* – – 46,549 49,728
Vivien HÉRIARD DUBREUIL(6)

Directors’ fees 15,300 15,300 15,300 4,946
Other compensation – – – – 
Catherine CLEMENT CHABAS(1) (4)

Directors’ fees 29,355 12,438 12,438 – 
Other compensation – – – – 
Jacques HERAIL(1)

Directors’ fees 23,375 34,570 34,570 34,570
Other compensation – – – – 
PATERNOT CONSEIL & INVEST(1)

Represented by Thierry PATERNOT
Directors’ fees 34,570 34,570 34,570 34,570
Other compensation – – – – 
Véronique SANDERS(1)

Directors’ fees 15,300 15,300 15,300 15,300
Other compensation – – – – 
Olivier HUBIN(1)

Directors’ fees 18,160 18,160 18,160 18,160
Other compensation – – – – 
Alessia ANTINORI(1) (5)

Directors’ fees 15,300 10,479 10,479 – 
Other compensation – – – – 
Armand WIEDEMANN-GOIRAN(1) (3) – – 
Directors’ fees 10,438 – – – 
Other compensation – – – – 
Henri VALLAT
Directors’ fees 8,210 8,210 8,210 8,210
Other compensation – – – – 
François GLEMET(9)

Directors’ fees 11,070 14,615 14,615 18,160
Other compensation – – – – 
MANTATECH(6)

Represented by Vivien HÉRIARD DUBREUIL – – 
Directors’ fees – – 0 10,354
Other compensation – – – – 
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Members of the Board 
of Directors

Financial year 2017-2018 Financial year 2016-2017

Payable Paid Payable Paid
Angela MUIR(1) (7) – – 
Directors’ fees – 4,821 4,821 15,300
Other compensation – – – – 
André CHARLES(8)

Directors’ fees – 4,105 4,105 8,210
Other compensation – – – – 

TOTAL(11) 214,538 206,028 252,577 246,022
* Amounts paid include amounts exceeding social payment allowances.
(1) Independent Directors who had received directors’ fees at 31 March 2018.
(2) Marie-Amélie JACQUET is Vice-Chair of the Board of Directors (an unpaid position).
(3) Armand WIEDEMANN-GOIRAN was appointed as Director at the General Shareholders’ Meeting of 26 July 2017.
(4) Catherine CLÉMENT CHABAS, Independent Director, was appointed at the General Shareholders’ Meeting of 25 July 2016.
(5) Alessia ANTINORI, Independent Director, was appointed at the General Shareholders’ Meeting of 25 July 2016.
(6) Mantatech, resigning, was replaced by Vivien HÉRIARD DUBREUIL, co-opted by the Board on 4 December 2015.
(7) The term of offi ce of Angela MUIR expired at the General Shareholders’ Meeting of 25 July 2016.
(8) André CHARLES resigned from his term as a non-voting director on 01/10/2016. He was owed €4,105 in directors’ fees for his term to that date.
(9) François GLEMET became a non-voting director on 01/10/2016. The amount of directors’ fees indicated above for the fi nancial year 2016-2017 includes 

€9,080 for his directorship until 01/10/2016, and €5,535 for his term as a non-voting director and member of the CNRH, with effect from 01/10/2016. 
Directors’ fees payable for fi nancial year 2017-2018 are for his term as a non-voting director and member of the CNRH.

(10) Marc HÉRIARD DUBREUIL was Chairman of the Board of Directors until 30/09/2016.
(11) The members of the Board of Directors listed above do not receive any compensation from OENEO SA or its subsidiaries other than the directors’ fees listed 

above.

Other compensation paid by Andromède SAS, 
the company that controls OENEO SA
Viven HÉRIARD DUBREUIL received €5 thousand   in director’s 
fees for the 2017-2018 fi nancial year, in respect of his term as 
director of Andromède SAS.

Marc HÉRIARD DUBREUIL received €321,337 for fi nancial 
year 2017-2018. This compensation amounted to €379,058 for 
fi nancial year 2016-2017. This was fi xed compensation, including 
amounts exceeding social payment allowances. There was no 
variable compensation or directors’ fees.

Mrs Marie-Amélie JACQUET received €289,623 in compensation 
for financial year 2017-2018. This compensation amounted 
to €73,511 for fi nancial year 2016-2017, plus €5 thousand in 
directors’ fees. This was fi xed compensation, including amounts 
exceeding social payment allowances. There is no variable portion.

It should be noted that the activity of Andromède SAS does not 
exclusively comprise the control of OENEO SA, but extends to 
other activities.

1.11.6 STOCK OPTIONS OR SHARE PURCHASE OPTIONS GRANTED TO EACH 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR BY THE ISSUER 
AND BY ANY GROUP COMPANY

None.

1.11.7 STOCK OPTIONS OR SHARE PURCHASE OPTIONS EXERCISED BY EACH 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR BY THE ISSUER 
AND BY ANY GROUP COMPANY

None.
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1.11.8 PERFORMANCE SHARES GRANTED TO EACH CORPORATE OFFICER

General Shareholders’ 
Meeting of 25/07/2016 Plan no. and date

Number 
of shares 
granted 

during the 
financial 

year

Value 
of shares 

(€9.31)
Acquisition 

date
Availability 

date
Performance 

conditions

François MORINIÈRE Board of Directors’ 
meeting of 26/07/2017 

– plan 13

7,500 69,825 26/07/2018 26/07/2019 Operating 
profi t targets – 

Cash fl ow targets
Gisèle DURAND Board of Directors’ 

meeting of 26/07/2017 
– plan 13

7,600 70,756 26/07/2018 26/07/2019 Operating 
profi t targets – 

Cash fl ow targets
Nicolas HÉRIARD 
DUBREUIL

Board of Directors’ 
meeting of 26/07/2017 

– plan 13

5,000 46,550 26/07/2018 26/07/2019 Operating 
profi t targets – 

Cash fl ow targets
Board of Directors’ 

meeting of 26/07/2017 
– plan 14

19,551 182,020 26/07/2018 26/07/2019 theoretical capital 
value growth rate

1.11.9 PERFORMANCE SHARES THAT BECAME AVAILABLE DURING 
THE FINANCIAL YEAR

Performance shares 
that became available 
for each corporate officer Plan no. and date

Number of shares 
that became available 

during the financial year Vesting conditions

François MORINIÈRE Board of Directors’ meeting 
of 22 July 2015 – plan 10

5,625 Presence in the company 
at the vesting date

Gisèle DURAND Board of Directors’ meeting 
of 22 July 2015 – plan 10

9,000 Presence in the company 
at the vesting date

TOTAL 14,625

1.11.10 INFORMATION ON STOCK OR PURCHASE OPTIONS

None.
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1.11.11 INFORMATION ON THE STOCK OR SHARE PURCHASE OPTIONS GRANTED 
TO THE FIRST TEN EMPLOYEES THAT ARE NOT CORPORATE OFFICERS 
AND OPTIONS EXERCISED BY THEM

1.11.11.1 ALLOCATION OF FREE SHARES

Grant date for the free share plan Maximum quantity
Closing share price 

at 26 July 2017

Plan 13 – 26 July 2017 116,746 €9.31
Plan 14 – 26 July 2017 26,420 €9.31

1.11.11.2 STOCK OPTIONS AND/OR OTHER FINANCIAL TOOLS

As part of the investment programme for managers, put in place during the fi nancial year 2013/2014, Gisèle DURAND, non-executive 
director, subscribed to 21,075 preference shares in Seguin Moreau et Cie, and 9,289 preference shares in Diam Bouchage.

1.11.12 RETIREMENT COMMITMENTS WITH REGARD TO EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 
AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Employment 
contract

Supplementary 
pension scheme

Indemnities or benefits 
due or likely to be due 
following termination 
or change of duties

Indemnities 
with regard to 

a non-compete clause

Yes No Yes No Yes No Yes No

Nicolas HÉRIARD DUBREUIL X X X X
François MORINIÈRE X X X X
Gisèle DURAND X X X X
François HÉRIARD DUBREUIL X X X X

1.11.13 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

Our Company is continuously analysing the best corporate governance practices, consolidated in the AFEP-MEDEF Code on the 
Corporate Governance of Listed Companies, to which the Company refers, particularly in drawing up the Corporate governance report.

The AFEP-MEDEF Code is available to consult at our Company headquarters.
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1.12 COMPOSITION AND CONDITIONS FOR 
PREPARING AND ORGANISING THE BOARD’S 
WORK

1.12.1 CONVENING THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Directors are provided with a provisional calendar of meetings 
of the Board of Directors and its specialised committees. They 
are convened at least eight days before the meeting through a 

secure platform. Subject to any confi dentiality requirements, a 
fi le on the agenda items requiring prior analysis is systematically 
enclosed with the notice.

1.12.2 BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ MEETING PROCEDURE

The Board considers any issues relating to the smooth running of 
the Company and settles matters affecting the Company through 
its deliberations.

Board meetings are held at the headquarters or at any other 
venue as stated in the meeting notice. The Board of Directors 
so as to allow a maximum number of people to attend. Under 
the internal regulations, Board meetings held by videoconference 
are permitted.

1.12.3 INFORMATION FOR MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Each director must receive the information required to perform 
their duties and may, at any time, request information from the 
Company that they deem necessary to form an opinion. To this 
effect, they must request from the Chairman of the Board of 
Directors the relevant information in order to deliberate on the 
agenda items in full knowledge of the facts, should they consider 
that the information they possess is insuffi cient.

The Chief Executive Offi cer presents an activity report at each 
meeting of the Board of Directors relating to the operational 
divisions, the main ongoing projects, and a summary of the 
fi nancial results and the forecast for the end of the year. He also 
offers detailed presentations on disposals and acquisitions.

The Board of Directors also regularly invites Operational 
Directors to its meetings in order to freely discuss the issues in 

their divisions. Budget scenarios and business plans prepared by 
the operational and functional teams are discussed by the Board 
of Directors.

Each Director may, if they wish, meet any functional or operational 
manager, together or separately.

Outside of Board meetings, directors regularly receive important 
information about the Company and its Group, in particular 
monthly activity reports compared against the budget, and are 
notifi ed of any event or changes signifi cantly affecting operations 
or information previously shared with the Board. In particular they 
receive press releases circulated by the Company as well as the 
main press articles and fi nancial analysis reports.

1.12.4 REMIT

The Board’s remit is to determine, based on proposals by the 
Chief Executive Offi cer, the strategic, economic and fi nancial 
direction of the Company’s activity and that of the Group and 
to oversee their implementation. The Board may address all issues 
concerning the smooth operation of the Company and its group 
and ask the executive management to provide it with a report 

and/or proposals on these issues. In this respect, the Board retains 
all decision-making authority.

In general terms, any decision with signifi cance for the Company 
and its Group, particularly those relating to operations liable to 
affect the strategy thereof, to modify their fi nancial structure or 
their scope, is subject to its prior authorisation.



34

1 MANAGEMENT  REPORT
Composition and conditions for preparing and organising the Board’s work

Any signifi cant operation beyond the scope of the Group’s stated 
strategy is subject to the prior approval of the Board of Directors.

Finally, the Board oversees the information received by investors, 
which must be relevant, balanced and instructive in terms of the 
strategy, development model and long-term prospects of the 
Group.

Certain matters requiring more in-depth work, such as the 
review of the human resources policy (key managers, long-term 
compensation) or the approval of half-yearly or annual accounts, 
are fi rst examined at committee meetings attended by certain 
members of the Executive Committee and external experts so 
as to ensure the Board is as well informed as possible before 
making a decision.

Aware of their responsibilities, the directors perform their remit 
with independence, honesty towards the shareholders, respecting 
the professional secrecy that is an inherent part of their role, 
as well as legal provisions and those arising from the internal 
regulations. They dedicate signifi cant time to the Company and 
are actively involved in meetings of the Board of Directors, 
within the Auditing Committee and the Appointments and 
Human Resources Committee, but also at General Shareholders’ 
Meetings. They also visit the various sites of the Group. Their 
presence within the various committees refl ects their respective 
skills and the desire to share their expertise with the Company.

1.12.5 MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

Minutes are produced following each meetings of the Board of 
Directors, with a draft sent to members with the notice of the 
following meeting at which they are to be approved. The minutes 
must contain the key information and all resolutions as proposed 
and seconded. Directors may ask for their comments and name 

to be included in the minutes. The appendices, once approved by 
the Board and signed by the Chairman and at least one director, 
are deemed to be authentic. The same is true of documents and 
copies or extracts authenticated by the Chairman.

1.12.6 APPLICATION OF THE PRINCIPLE OF GENDER BALANCE ON THE BOARD

Gender balance and diversity of skills is a priority for the Board. 
All Board members must have extensive, broad experience of 
the world of business and global markets. They must dedicate the 
necessary time and attention to their duties. In all circumstances 
they must act in the corporate interest of the Group.

The Company’s Board of Directors at 31 March 2018 comprises 
13 directors appointed for a three-year term, as well as two 
non-voting directors appointed for a one-year term. According 
to the statutory provisions, the number of directors must be no 
fewer than six and no greater than 18. All terms are renewed 
on a rotating basis.

In particular, representatives of the main shareholders sit on the 
Board of Directors. Andromède SAS is represented by Marie-
Amélie JACQUET, Vice-Chair, Marc HÉRIARD DUBREUIL, 
François HÉRIARD DUBREUIL and Vivien HÉRIARD DUBREUIL, 
directors. A number of recognised personalities from the world 
of business and the public sphere sit on the Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors includes fi ve women, i.e. 40% of members 
(excluding non-voting directors).

In accordance with the provisions of the AFEP-MEDEF Code, at 
least one-third of the Board of Directors must be made up of 
independent members.

The Board of Directors examines the independence of each 
director against independence criteria set out in the Code, 
on the proposal of the Appointments and Human Resources 
Committee. Specifi cally, members of the Board of Directors with 
no relationship of any kind to either the Company, its Group or 
management that might compromise their ability to exercise their 
free judgement are considered to be independent.

The Board of Directors has seven independent members, i.e. 
54% of its members (excluding non-voting directors): Allesia 
ANTINORI, Véronique SANDERS, Catherine CLÉMENT 
CHABAS, Jacques HÉRAIL, Olivier HUBIN, Thierry PATERNOT 
and Armand WIEDEMANN-GOIRAN.

On the Board of Directors no representative of individual 
shareholders has more than a 5% shareholding (other than 
Andromède SAS).
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1.12.7 RESTRICTIONS ON THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S POWERS

As an internal measure that does not apply to third parties, 
before committing the company, the Chief Executive Offi cer must 
ensure he has the agreement of the Board of Directors for any 
transactions that are beyond the scope of day-to-day business, 
especially in the case of:

 1 providing pledges, securities or guarantees for sums in excess 
of €10 million;

 1 acquisitions, disposals and exchanges of moveable or immovable 
assets and rights and committing to investments in excess of 
€2 million per transaction;

 1 signing with other French or foreign companies any equity 
investment or joint venture agreements;

 1 gross contributions in cash or in kind, be they rights of 
ownership or enjoyment, to any constituted companies, for a 
sum in excess of €2 million per transaction;

 1 taking a Company stake in any economic interest or other 
groupings, business, associations, par tnerships or capital 

companies, whether in France or overseas, through the creation 
or assisting the creation, by subscription or gross contribution 
in cash or in kind, by purchasing shares, ownership interests or 
securities and generally, in any form whatsoever, for a sum in 
excess of €2 million per transaction;

 1 disposal of shareholdings for a sum in excess of €2 million per 
transaction;

 1 approval of loans, credit and advances to third-party legal 
entities outside of the OENEO Group for a sum in excess of 
€2 million per borrower;

 1 taking out any loan or obtaining overdraft facilities, with or 
without lien or other securities against company assets, for a 
total sum in excess of €10 million within a given fi nancial year.

Moreover, the Board of Directors may authorise the Chief 
Executive Offi cer to grant pledges, deposits or guarantees on 
behalf of the company up to the limit of a total sum.

1.12.8 ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE ATTENDANCE OF SHAREHOLDERS AT THE 
GENERAL SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

NOTICE TO ATTEND GENERAL SHAREHOLDERS’ 
MEETINGS

In accordance with the provisions of Article 23 of the articles 
of association, General Shareholders’ Meeting are convened 
by the Board of Directors or by the individuals designated 
under Article L. 225-103 of the French Commercial Code, 
and particularly by the Statutory Auditors, by a representative 
designated by the Presiding Judge of the Commercial Court in 
summary proceedings at the request of shareholders representing 
at least 5% of the share capital or, in the case of a special meeting, 
at least 1/10th of the shares in the relevant category or at the 
request of a shareholder association that meets the conditions 
set out under Article L. 225-120 of the French Commercial 
Code, and by liquidators after the winding down of the Company. 
General Shareholders’ Meetings are held at the headquarters or 
any other venue stated in the notice to attend.

Notwithstanding any legal exceptions, shareholders are convened 
at least fi fteen full days prior to the scheduled meeting date, 
reduced to six full days for General Shareholders’ Meetings 
convened for the second time and deferred meetings. Meetings 
take place on the day and at the time and place stated on the 
meeting notice.

ATTENDANCE AT GENERAL SHAREHOLDERS’ 
MEETINGS

In accordance with Article 25 of the articles of association, the 
right to attend General Shareholders’ Meetings is subject to the 
shares being recorded in the name of the shareholder or of the 
intermediary registered on their behalf, on the second business 
day prior to the meeting at zero hours (Paris time).

The shares must be recorded by the deadline given in the 
preceding paragraph, either in the registered share accounts 
held by the Company, or in bearer share accounts held by the 
authorised intermediary. Access to the General Shareholders’ 
Meeting is open to any member who shows proof of their status 
and identity. Should they deem it useful, the Board of Directors 
may have nominative, personal admission cards issued and 
require these to be shown.

Each member at the meeting has as many votes as the shares they 
hold or represent, notwithstanding any suspension of voting rights.

Any shareholder may give a proxy vote to their spouse or 
another shareholder in order to be represented at a General 
Shareholders’ Meeting.
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Members may vote by post or proxy in accordance with the 
conditions and procedures set out in the legal and regulatory 
provisions. The ballot must be received by the Company no 
later than 3 p.m. (Paris time) on the day preceding the General 
Shareholders’ Meeting.

Proxy ballots and postal ballots, as well as shareholding certifi cates, 
may be produced electronically and duly signed under the 
conditions contained within the relevant legal and regulatory 
provisions. Any shareholders voting by post or by proxy by the 
deadline contained within this article, using the ballot issued to 
shareholders by the Company, have the same voting rights as 
shareholders present or represented.

If decided by the Board of Directors when convening the 
meeting, a ballot may be completed and signed electronically 
directly on the site made available by the Company by means of 
a procedure including the use of a user code and password, in 
accordance with the conditions set out in the fi rst sentence of 
the second paragraph of Article 1316-4 of the French Civil Code 
and any other procedure that meets the conditions set out in 
the fi rst sentence of the second paragraph of Article 1316-4 of 
the French Civil Code.

A ballot or proxy ballot submitted in this way prior to the 
meeting by electronic means, as well as the receipt issued for it, 
shall be considered fi nal and binding documents, notwithstanding 
that stated below. As an exception, in the event of a disposal of 
shares prior to zero hours (Paris time) on the second business 
day preceding the meeting, the Company will invalidate or modify 
accordingly, as the case may be, the proxy or ballot submitted 
by the electronic means put in place by the Board of Directors.

The General Shareholders’ Meeting may be held by 
videoconference or by any other means of telecommunication 
enabling the shareholders to be identifi ed in accordance with the 
conditions of the legal and regulatory texts in force.

CHANGES TO SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

Changes to shareholder rights fall within the remit of the 
Extraordinary General Shareholders’ Meeting, in accordance 
with conditions laid down by law.
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1.13 INFORMATION LIABLE TO HAVE AN EFFECT 
IN THE EVENT OF A PUBLIC OFFERING

In accordance with Article L. 225-100-3 of the French Commercial Code, the information liable to have an effect in the event of a 
public offering is set out below.

1.13.1 STRUCTURE OF THE COMPANY’S CAPITAL

The structure of OENEO’s capital is set out in the table below under point 1.8.2  “Breakdown of capital and voting rights”.

1.13.2 STATUTORY RESTRICTIONS ON EXERCISING VOTING RIGHTS 
AND TRANSFERRING SHARES

Under the articles of association there is no system placing 
a ceiling on voting rights. Under Article 27 of the Company’s 
articles of association, each share entitles the holder to one vote. 
However, a double voting right is allocated: for all fully paid up 
shares for which evidence is provided of a registration for at least 
two (2) years in the name of the same shareholder; for registered 
free shares allocated to a shareholder, in the event of a capital 
increase through the capitalisation of reserves, profi ts or issue 
premiums, where the benefi ciary also holds old shares for which 
they have this entitlement. If old shares have been held for at least 
two years, a double voting right will be granted for new shares 
on the same date as the old shares.

Moreover, notwithstanding any provisions relating to the legal 
requirements on notifi cations, under Article 30 of the articles 
of association, any shareholder acting alone or with others, who 

acquires at least 1% of the share capital or a multiple of this 
percentage, is required to notify the Company within fi ve (5) 
trading days of these thresholds being crossed, by recorded 
delivery letter with proof of receipt.

Failure to meet this obligation may be penalised by the removal 
of voting rights for the shares exceeding the undeclared fraction 
at any General Shareholders’ Meeting to be held within two years 
of the date on which the notifi cation is made.

This penalty may only be applied at the request, recorded in 
the minutes of the General Shareholders’ Meeting, of one or 
more shareholders holding more than a 1% shareholding in the 
Company.

According to the same procedures, all shareholders are also 
required to notify the company, within fi ve days, where their 
shareholding falls below each of the above thresholds.

1.13.3 RULES APPLICABLE TO THE APPOINTMENT AND REPLACEMENT 
OF MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AS WELL AS CHANGES 
TO THE COMPANY’S ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

In accordance with the provisions of Article 14 of the Company’s 
articles of association, members of the Board of Directors are 
appointed by the Ordinary General Shareholders’ Meeting. They 
may be removed by the Ordinary General Shareholders’ Meeting.

In accordance with the terms of Article L. 225-96, articles of 
association may only be modifi ed at an Extraordinary General 
Shareholders’ Meeting, which may delegate its powers to the 
Board of Directors in some cases, particularly for financial 
authorisations requested on an annual basis.
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1.13.4 POWERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, PARTICULARLY IN RELATION 
TO BUYING BACK AND CANCELLING SHARES

In its 19th resolution on 26 July 2017, the General Shareholders’ 
Meeting authorised the Board of Directors to have the company 
purchase treasury shares. The acquisition, disposal or transfer of 
these shares may be by any means, on-market, off-market or over 

the counter, particularly in blocks, by public offerings, through 
the use or exercising of any fi nancial instrument or derivative, 
including the use of options.

1.13.5 AGREEMENTS ENTERED INTO BY THE COMPANY THAT ARE MODIFIED 
OR END IN THE EVENT OF A CHANGE OF CONTROL OF THE COMPANY

The Company and/or its subsidiaries have signed a number of 
commercial agreements including, where relevant, clauses offering 

the client or partner the option of terminating the agreement in 
the event of a change of control.
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1.13.6 SUMMARY TABLE SHOWING CURRENT DELEGATIONS GRANTED BY THE 
GENERAL SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS IN 
THE AREA OF CAPITAL INCREASES IN APPLICATION OF ARTICLE L. 225-129 
OF THE FRENCH COMMERCIAL CODE

Date of the Meeting 
having granted 
authorisation Authorisation content Expiry date

Actual use 
of these 

authorisations

Maximum 
amount 

authorised
25/07/2016
(resolution 21)

Authorisation to allocate free existing or new 
shares

25/09/2019 Allocation of 
116,800 shares 
on 25/07/2016, 

45,872 on 
05/09/2016 and 
143,166 shares 
on 26/07/2017

Ceiling: 
500 thousand 

shares
Sub-ceiling: 

100 thousand for 
corporate offi cers

26/07/2017
(resolution 21)

Issuance of securities giving access to the 
capital with preferential subscription rights 
for shareholders

26/09/2019 Nominal cap 
on capital increase:

€22 million
26/07/2017
(resolution 22)

Issuance of securities giving access to the capital 
without preferential subscription rights for 
shareholders

26/09/2019 Nominal cap 
on capital increase: 

€22 million
26/07/2017
(resolution 23)

Capital increase through the issuance of securities 
without preferential subscription rights, as part of 
an offering referred to under II of Article L. 411-2 
of the French Monetary and Financial Code

26/09/2019 Nominal cap 
on capital increase: 
20% of capital per 

annum
26/07/2017
(resolution 24)

Authorisation to set the price based on the terms 
agreed by the General Shareholders’ Meeting 
in the event of an issuance without preferential 
subscription rights

26/09/2019 10% of capital

26/07/2017
(resolution 25)

Increase in number of securities to be issued in 
the event of a capital increase with or without 
preferential subscription rights

26/09/2019 15% of initial issue

26/07/2017
(resolution 26)

Issuance of ordinary shares and securities 
giving access to the capital, without preferential 
subscription rights for shareholders, as 
compensation for contributions in kind for capital 
shares or securities giving access to the capital

26/09/2019 10% of capital

26/07/2017
(resolution 27)

Increase in share capital through the capitalisation 
of premiums, reserves, profi ts or other

26/09/2019 Nominal cap 
on capital increase: 

€22 million
26/07/2017
(resolution 28)

Capital increase reserved for employees under 
the provisions of the French Commercial Code 
and Articles L. 3332-18 et seq. of the French 
Labour Code

26/09/2019 Cap: 
€400 thousand
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1.14 AGREEMENTS AND COMMITMENTS SUBMITTED 
TO THE GENERAL SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING 
FOR APPROVAL

Agreements and commitments authorised during the fi nancial year ended.

We hereby inform you that there are no agreements or commitments during the fi nancial year ended to be submitted to the General 
Shareholders’ Meeting for approval in accordance with the provisions of Article L. 225-38 of the French Commercial Code.

1.14.1 AGREEMENTS AND COMMITMENTS ALREADY APPROVED 
BY THE GENERAL SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

a. Agreements and commitments approved 
during previous financial years the 
implementation of which continued 
during the financial year ended

In application of Article R. 225-30 of the French Commercial 
Code, we hereby inform you that the implementation of the 
following agreements and commitments, already approved by 
the General Shareholders’ Meeting in previous fi nancial years, 
has continued during the fi nancial year ended.

Upon their review at its meeting on 11 June 2018, the Board of 
Directors considered the agreements listed below to fulfi l the 
criteria on which its decision to authorise them was based.

SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

Applicable to:

François MORINIÈRE, Chief Executive Offi cer of Oeneo until 
30 September 2016.

Nature and purpose:

At its meeting on 5 September 2016, on the recommendation 
of the Appointments and Human Resources Committee, the 
Board of Directors gave advance authorisation for a settlement 
agreement between François Morinière and the Company, 
relating to the end of the term of offi ce of François Morinière 
as Chief Executive Offi cer, with a view to making changes to the 
governance of the Oeneo Group from 1 October 2016:

 1 appointing Nicolas HÉRIARD DUBREUIL as Chief Executive 
 Offi cer;

 1 considering the possibility of François Morinière continuing to 
determine the strategic direction and public communication 
of the Group in a non-executive role by appointing him as 
Chairman of the Board of Directors for a renewable one-
year term.

This settlement agreement contains the following main provisions:

 1 in relation to the end of François MORINIÈRE’s term as Chief 
Executive Offi cer:

 1 payment of a transactional indemnity of one hundred and 
fi fty thousand (150,000) euros gross in place of severance 
pay – which had been initially agreed upon at the time of 
his appointment as Chief Executive Offi cer in the event of 
the termination of his term as Chief Executive Offi cer – 
authorised by the Board of Directors on 12 November 
2014 and approved by the General Shareholders’ Meeting 
on 22 July 2015,

 1 allocation of 45,872 free performance shares,

 1 removal of conditions of presence applicable to (i) the 
5,625 performance shares allocated to him by the Board 
of Directors at its meeting of 22 July 2015, and (ii) 15,000 
performance shares allocated to him by the Board of 
Directors at its meeting of 25 July 2016,

 1 payment of a share of his variable compensation for the 
fi nancial year 2016/2017, i.e. €50 thousand gross;

 1 for his appointment as Chairman of the Board of Directors:

 1 payment of fi xed annual compensation of two hundred 
thousand (200,000) euros gross,

 1 payment of directors’ fees in accordance with the internal 
regulations of the Board of Directors,

 1 introduction of a twelve (12) month non-compete 
commitment from the end of his term as Chief Executive 
Offi cer,

 1  payment of gross monthly compensation of €29,166, in 
place of the non-compete indemnity which had initially been 
agreed upon his appointment as Chief Executive Offi cer in 
the event that his term as Chief Executive Offi cer were to 
be terminated – as authorised by the Board of Directors 
on 12 November 2014 and approved by the General 
Shareholders’ Meeting on 22 July 2015.

Terms:

Our Company paid €174,996 in non-compete indemnities for 
the year ended 31 March 2018.
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ADDENDUM NO. 7 TO THE SERVICE AGREEMENT ENTERED 
INTO ON 30 MARCH 2007 WITH ANDROMÈDE (BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS’ MEETING OF 31 MAY 2013)

Applicable to:

Marie-Amélie JACQUET, Vice-Chair and Director of the Board of 
Oeneo and member of the Executive Board of Andromède SAS.

Marc HÉRIARD DUBREUIL, director of Oeneo, member of the 
Executive Board and Chief Executive Offi cer of Andromède SAS.

François HÉRIARD DUBREUIL, director of Oeneo and Chairman 
of the Executive Board of Andromède SAS.

Vivien HÉRIARD DUBREUIL, director of Oeneo and Vice-
Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Andromède SAS.

Nicolas HÉRIARD DUBREUIL, Chief Executive Offi cer of Oeneo 
and member of the Supervisory Board of Andromède SAS.

Andromède SAS, shareholder with a direct holding of more than 
10% in Oeneo.

Nature and purpose:

At its meeting of 31 May 2013, the Board of Directors authorised 
addendum no. 7 to the service agreement entered into on 
30 March 2007 with Andromède (and amended by addenda 
nos. 1 to 6) dated 6 May 2008, 16 December 2008, December 
2009, 11 March 2011, 14 March 2012 and 6 June 2012, on 
assistance and provision of advice by Andromède to Oeneo in the 
accounting, fi nancial, administrative, legal and commercial fi elds, 
as well as in human resources and research and development.

The agreement covers the compensation of services to be 
performed by Andromède for Oeneo, corresponding to the 
direct and indirect costs incurred by Andromède for services 
performed under the agreement, plus a profi t margin of 5% 
excluding tax.

This rider was signed on 4 July 2013. Its purpose is to amend the 
term of the agreement, which will now be indefi nite and may be 
terminated at any time by giving one month’s notice.

Terms:

In the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2018, invoices for these 
services amounted to €496,459 excluding tax.

FRANÇOIS MORINIÈRE’S DEFINED-CONTRIBUTION PENSION 
SCHEME

Applicable to:

François Morinière, Chairman of the Board of Directors of 
Oeneo from 1 April 2017 to 26 July 2017.

Nature and purpose:

At its meeting on 5 September 2016, the Board of Directors 
gave its authorisation for François Morinière to be covered by 
the collective defi ned-contribution pension scheme.

Terms:

Our Company paid €12,553 in contributions for the fi nancial 
year ended 31 March 2018.

COMMITMENT TO A DEFINED-CONTRIBUTION PENSION 
SCHEME FOR NICOLAS HÉRIARD DUBREUIL

Applicable to:

Nicolas HÉRIARD DUBREUIL, Chief Executive Offi cer of Oeneo 
from 1 October 2016.

Nature and purpose:

At its meeting on 27 September 2016, the Board of Directors 
gave prior authorisation for Nicolas HÉRIARD DUBREUIL to be 
covered by the collective defi ned-contribution pension scheme.

Terms:

Our Company paid €25,297 in contributions for the year ended 
31 March 2018.

b.  Agreements and commitments approved 
in previous financial years and not 
implemented 
in the financial year ended

SEVERANCE PAY

Applicable to:

Nicolas HÉRIARD DUBREUIL, Chief Executive Offi cer of Oeneo 
from 1 October 2016.

Nature and purpose:

On 27 September 2016, the Board of Directors gave prior 
authorisation for severance pay to be paid in the event of the 
termination of Nicolas HÉRIARD DUBREUIL’s term of offi ce in 
case of forced departure, unless there was a serious reason or 
gross misconduct or in the event of the failure of the company.

Terms:

The severance pay would be calculated on the basis of 12 months 
of his last basic gross monthly salary including the company car 
as indicated on the last pay slip but excluding any bonuses, 
indemnities or other benefi ts in kind.

The payment of the indemnity is subject to the following 
performance conditions:

 1 if the quantitative results verifi ed by the Board are less than 
75% of the budgetary targets, no compensation will be payable;

 1 if the quantitative results verifi ed by the Board are greater than 
or equal to 75%, the severance pay shall be in proportion to 
this percentage, and limited to 100%.

In the event of a departure after 1 April 2017, the Company’s 
situation will be assessed against the results recorded at the end 
of the last two tax years.

NON-COMPETE INDEMNITY

Applicable to:

Nicolas HÉRIARD DUBREUIL, Chief Executive Offi cer of Oeneo 
from 1 October 2016.

Nature and purpose:

At its meeting on 27 September 2016, the Board of Directors 
gave prior authorisation for the payment of a non-compete 
indemnity in exchange for respecting the non-compete clause, 
amounting to one year’s fi xed compensation, payable in twelve 
monthly payments.

On the departure of Nicolas HÉRIARD DUBREUIL, the Board 
of Directors of the Company shall decide whether or not to 
apply the non-compete clause and may waive the application of 
this clause unilaterally.
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Terms:

If this clause is implemented once Nicolas HÉRIARD DUBREUIL 
ceases to hold offi ce, the cumulative severance pay (departure 
and non-compete) will be capped at 24 months of his basic gross 
fi xed compensation.

SUBSCRIPTION TO A SOCIAL SECURITY SCHEME 
FOR COMPANY DIRECTORS

Applicable to:

François MORINIÈRE, Chairman of the Board of Directors from 
1 October 2016.

Nicolas HÉRIARD DUBREUIL, Chief Executive Offi cer of Oeneo 
from 1 October 2016.

Nature and purpose:

At its meeting on 5 September 2016, the Board of Directors 
agreed to retain the social security cover for company directors 
taken out by our Company for François MORINIÈRE as Chairman 
of the Board of Directors.

On 27 September 2016, the Board of Directors gave prior 
authorisation for Nicolas HÉRIARD DUBREUIL to be covered 
by the social security cover for company directors taken out by 
our Company.

1.14.2 CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORT

This report is included in the 2017-2018 Registration Document published on the company website: http://oeneo.com/

Paris, 29 June 2018

Nicolas HÉRIARD DUBREUIL

Chief Executive Offi cer
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2 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Key fi gures and analysis

2.1 KEY FIGURES AND ANALYSIS

The year ended 31 March 2018 covered a 12-months period from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018. The previous fi nancial year, which 
ended on 31 March 2017, also had a duration of 12 months.

2.1.1 INCOME STATEMENT

In thousands of euros
31/03/2018 

12 months
31/03/2017* 

Adjusted 12 months 12-month change

Revenue 248,618 222,188 11.9%
Current operating profi t 46,454 43,308 7.3%
% current operating margin 18.7% 19.5% –0.8%
Operating profi t 43,627 39,808 9.6%
Profi t/from fi nancing activities (1,987) (913) 117.6%
Net profi t/(loss) before tax 41,641 38,895 7.1%
Tax (11,074) (10,707) 3.4%
Net profi t from continuing operations 30,584 28,195 8.5%
Net profi t from discontinued operations (3,933) (1,736) 126.6%
Net profi t of the consolidated group 26,651 26,459 0.7%
Net profi t attributable to equity holders of the parent 26,603 26,412 0.7%

* In light of the decision to sell the natural and agglomerated corks/stoppers activities of the Piedade Group, the related income and expenses have been 
reclassifi ed as discontinued operations in accordance with IFRS 5.

 Non-strategic closure activities cover the ranges associated with traditional and non-technological cork, as well as two production sites in Portugal for the 
preparation and punching of corks.

2.1.2 BALANCE SHEET

In thousands of euros 31/03/2018 31/03/2017

ASSETS
Non-current assets 172,421 171,263
Inventories 105,656 113,835
Trade receivables and other current assets 128,338 135,988
Assets related to activities held for sale 15,657

TOTAL ASSETS 422,072 421,086
LIABILITIES
Equity 229,738 215,294
Loans and other borrowings 101,662 117,370
Trade and other payables 86,500 88,422
Liabilities related to activities held for sale 4,172

TOTAL LIABILITIES 422,072 421,086
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2.1.3 PERFORMANCE AND BUSINESS ANALYSIS

Presentation of results from continuing operations
The Oeneo Group’s performance was good in 2017/2018 with 
a +11.9% increase in revenue (+12.5% in organic terms) and 
a +7.3% increase in current operating profi t, which gave it a 
current operating margin of 18.7% of revenue in a less favourable 
economic environment (lowest wine production worldwide 
since 1957 and intermittent increase in the price of cork). The 
operating profi t increased by 9.6% to €43.6 million.

The Group managed to control its net debt, which fell from 
€50.0 million at 31 March 2017 to €48.5 million at 31 March 
2018, thanks to the cash fl ow generated during the year, which 
allowed the Group to continue to strengthen its WCR in 
anticipation of its future growth and the payment of €6.6 million 
in dividends.

2.1.3.1 REVENUE BY ACTIVITY

Consolidated annual revenue from continuing operations 
amounted to €248.6 million at 31 March 2018, up 11.9% 
compared to the previous year. This increase can be broken 
down as follows:

 1 closures activity continued its strong growth (+19.0%), 
especially in the Diam range, which recorded a 20% increase 
by volume and value across all geographical regions;

 1 against a backdrop of a decline in production linked to the 
poor weather conditions of spring 2017 (an estimated 8% 
drop according to the International Organisation of Vine and 
Wine) the Ageing business showed strong resilience, managing 
to maintain the revenue level achieved the previous year at 
+0.4% (+1.8% at constant scope and exchange rates).

BREAKDOWN OF REVENUE BY DIVISION

In thousands of euros
31/03/2018 

12 months
31/03/2017 

Adjusted 12 months 12-month change

Closures 163,100 137,018 19.0%
Ageing 85,518 85,170 0.4%

TOTAL REVENUE 248,618 222,188 11.9%

REVENUE BY GEOGRAPHICAL REGION

In thousands of euros
31/03/2018 

12 months
31/03/2017 

Adjusted 12 months 12-month change

France 73,203 71,571 2.3%
Europe 84,181 68,633 22.7%
Americas 59,652 55,267 7.9%
Oceania 12,527 9,852 27.1%
Rest of the world 19,056 16,866 13.0%

TOTAL REVENUE 248,618 222,188 11.9%

Change in net profit/loss

BREAKDOWN OF CURRENT OPERATING PROFIT BY DIVISION

In thousands of euros
31/03/2018 

12 months
31/03/2017 

Adjusted 12 months 12-month change

Closures 33,764 31,749 6.3%
Ageing 16,505 16,056 2.8%
Holding (3,815) (4,497) –15.2%

TOTAL CURRENT OPERATING PROFIT 46,454 43,308 7.3%
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Current operating profit by activity sector
The OENEO Group reported current operating profit of 
€46.5 million and a resulting current operating margin of 18.7%, 
up €3.2 million (+7.3%) compared to the previous period.

The Closures division posted current operating profit of 
€33.8 million, for an operating margin of 20.7% of the division’s 
revenue. Volume growth and good control of yields and 
distribution costs largely offset the signifi cant impact on the gross 
margin of the rise in cork prices due to an unusually low global 
harvest this year. This gap between supply and demand for cork 
should gradually be reduced for the 2019 harvest.

The current operating profi t of the Ageing Division rose by 2.8% 
to €16.5 million, with revenue up 0.4%. This performance brings 
the current operating profi t to 19.3%, a new annual record for 
the Division. The optimisation of operational productivity and 
the good performance of “core business” activities (casks, large 
containers and oenological wood) made it possible to absorb 
the increase in commercial actions in response to cyclical and 
meteorological effects.

Holding costs amounted to €3.8 million for the year, a sharp 
decrease that refl ected the strong control of its structural costs.

Non-recurring operating profit
At 31 March 2018, OENEO Group non-current profi t amounted 
to –€2.8 million, down by nearly 20%. It consists mainly of the 
following:

 1 third-party disputes and tax risks for –€0.3 million;

 1 division restructuring costs for –€0.8 million;

 1 costs of the Group’s change in governance for –€0.3 million;

 1 industrial claims costs for –€0.7 million;

 1 costs of depar ture from the former head office for 
–€0.3 million.

Profit/from financing activities
The Group’s fi nancial expense amounting to –€2.0 million at 
31 March 2018 mainly included:

 1 €1.1 million in fi nancial expenses, a decrease of €0.1 million 
compared to the previous year;

 1 and a negative exchange rate impact (essentially unrealised) 
of –€0.9 million, compared to +€0.3 million for the previous 
year, due to the change in Euro/US Dollar and Chilean Peso 
exchange rates.

Net profit from continuing operations
The OENEO Group posted an increase of +8.4% in continuing 
operations, at €30.6 million, compared to €28.2 million at 
31 March 2017.

Diluted earnings per share amounted to €0.49, an increase of 
8.9% compared to 31 March 2017.

Net profit attributable to equity holders 
of the parent
Against a backdrop of declining non-strategic ranges, operations 
being discontinued posted a negative result of –€3.9 million, a 
signifi cant decrease compared to the previous year.

Net profi t attributable to equity holders of the parent amounted 
to €26.6 million, an increase of 0.7% compared to 31 March 2017.

1.1.3.2 CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

The balance sheet totalled €422 million, an increase of €1 million 
compared to 31 March 2017.

Non-current assets
The Group’s non-current assets amounted to €172.4 million, 
representing 40.8% of the total balance sheet at 31 March 2017.

Deferred taxes
During the 2017/2018 financial year, the OENEO Group 
consumed €1.9 million in deferred tax assets on its tax losses 
carried forward.

Current assets
Anticipating future sale growth, the OENEO Group continued 
to strengthen its inventory positions and secure its supply of 
raw materials, thus bringing its working capital requirement to 
€132 million compared to €119.1 million at 31 March 2017.

Equity
Equity increased from €215.3 million to €229.7 million, mainly 
thanks to net profi t of €26.6 million over the fi nancial year.

Provisions for liabilities and charges
Provisions for liabilities and charges decreased by –€0.7 million 
and mainly consisted of provisions for tax risks, third-party 
litigation, restructuring and other risks in both divisions.

Net financial debt
The Group’s debt decreased by 3% to €48.5 million due to cash 
generation during the fi nancial year.

It comprises mainly:

 1 medium-term credit lines and debt: €97.5 million (bilateral 
debt, leases, etc.);

 1 short-term credit lines: €4.2 million (factoring, investments, etc.);

 1 cash and cash equivalents of €53.2 million.

Given the Group’s fi nancial performance and exchanges with its 
banks, the Group is confi dent that short-term credit lines will 
be extended.
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2.2 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.2.1 CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

In thousands of euros Notes 31/03/2018
31/03/2017 

adjusted*

Revenue 15 248,618 222,188
Other revenue from operating activities 997 1,873
Purchases used in the business (100,178) (79,690)
External expenses (40,266) (35,704)
Employee benefi ts expense 16 (48,423) (47,967)
Taxes (2,538) (2,177)
Depreciation and amortisation (10,093) (12,196)
Net increase in provisions (944) (3,322)
Change in work in progress and fi nished product inventories 430 525
Other current income/(expenses) (1,149) (222)

CURRENT OPERATING PROFIT 46,454 43,308
Other non-current operating income and expenses 17 (2,827) (3,500)

OPERATING PROFIT 43,627 39,808
Income from cash and cash equivalents 226 208
Cost of gross fi nancial debt (1,301) (1,422)
Cost of net fi nancial debt (1,076) (1,214)
Other fi nancial income/expenses 18 (911) 301

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 41,641 38,895
Income tax 19 (11,074) (10,707)

PROFIT/LOSS AFTER TAX 30,567 28,188
Profi t/(loss) of associates 17 7

NET PROFIT FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 30,584 28,195
Non-controlling interests (48) (47)

NET PROFIT FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 
(ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT)

30,536 28,148

NET PROFIT FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 
(ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT)

(3,933) (1,736)

NET PROFIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED GROUP 26,651 26,459

NET PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS 
OF THE PARENT

26,603 26,412

Earnings per share of the consolidated group (in euros) 20 0.42 0.43
Earnings per share from continuing operations (in euros) 20 0.49 0.46
Diluted earnings per share of the consolidated group (in euros) 20 0.42 0.42
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations (in euros) 20 0.49 0.45

* In light of the decision to sell the natural and agglomerated corks/stoppers activities of Piedade, the related income and expenses have been reclassifi ed as 
discontinued operations in accordance with IFRS 5 (see Note 5.A.1).
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31/03/2018 31/03/2017

NET PROFIT 26,651 26,459
Foreign currency translation reserve (2,792) 1,099
Other fi nancial instruments 31 199
Of which tax (15) (99)
Subtotal for items that may be reclassifi ed subsequently to profi t or loss (2,761) 1,298
Deferred actuarial gains and losses, net of tax (231) (5)
Deferred taxes on convertible bond (ORA) subscription fees (equity) - (13)
Sub-total for items that may not be reclassifi ed subsequently to profi t or loss (231) (18)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (2,992) 1,281

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 23,659 27,740
Of which:

 1 attributable to equity holders of the parent 23,611 27,693
 1 attributable to non-controlling interests 48 47
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2.2.2 CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

2.2.2.1 BALANCE SHEET – ASSETS

In thousands of euros Note 31/03/2018 31/03/2017

Goodwill 1 46,140 46,069
Intangible assets 2 4,672 4,889
Property, plant and equipment 2 119,760 115,354
Non-current fi nancial assets 2 842 720
Deferred taxes 4 1,007 4,231

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 172,421 171,263
Inventories and work in progress 5 105,656 113,835
Trade and other receivables 6 70,494 64,834
Tax receivables 2,772 1,180
Other current assets 3 1,879 2,621
Cash and cash equivalents 7 53,193 67,353

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 233,994 249,823
Assets related to activities held for sale 8 15,657 - 

TOTAL ASSETS 422,072 421,086
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2.2.2.2 BALANCE SHEET – LIABILITIES

In thousands of euros Note 31/03/2018 31/03/2017

Contributed capital 9 63,181 62,904
Additional paid-in capital 9 20,664 18,642
Reserves and retained earnings 10 119,159 107,187
Net profi t/(loss) for the period 26,603 26,412

TOTAL EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT 229,606 215,145
Non-controlling interests 132 149

TOTAL EQUITY 229,738 215,294
Loans and other borrowings 11 67,492 89,936
Employee benefi t obligations 12 3,431 3,178
Other provisions 13 960 929
Deferred taxes 4 2,617 3,719
Other non-current liabilities 14 8,639 15,928

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 83,138 113,690
Bank loans and other borrowings (portion < 1 year) 11 34,170 27,434
Provisions (portion < 1 year) 13 586 1,299
Trade and other payables 57,613 56,144
Other current liabilities 14 12,654 7,225

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 105,024 92,102
Liabilities related to activities held for sale 8 4,172 - 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 422,072 421,086
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2.2.3 CONSOLIDATED EQUITY

In thousands of euros

Contributed 
capital

Additional 
paid-in 
capital

Consolidated 
reserves

Net profit/
(loss) for 

the period

Total 
attributable 

to equity 
holders of 
the parent Minorities

Total 
equityNote 8 Note 9

POSITION AT 01/04/2016 61,615 12,215 89,563 23,497 186,889 102 186,991
Foreign currency translation reserve - - 1,099 - 1,099 - 1,099
Actuarial gains and losses* - - (5) - (5) - (5)
Deferred taxes on convertible bond 
(ORA) (equity) subscription fees - - (13) - (13) - (13)
Other fi nancial instruments* - - 199 - 199 - 199

INCOME AND EXPENSE 
RECOGNISED DIRECTLY 
IN EQUITY - - 1,281 - 1,281 - 1,281
Net profi t - - - 26,412 26,412 47 26,459

INCOME AND EXPENSE 
RECOGNISED FOR THE 
PERIOD - - 1,281 26,412 27,693 47 27,740
Allocation of earnings - 23,497 (23,497) - - - 
Dividends** - - (7,989) - (7,989) - (7,989)
Convertible bonds (ORA) 
(conversion) - - (209) - (209) - (209)
Capital increase 1,290 6,427 - - 7,717 - 7,717
Treasury shares - - (464) - (464) - (464)
Share-based payments*** - - 1,506 - 1,506 - 1,506
Other changes - - 2 - 2 2

SITUATION AT 31/03/2017 62,904 18,642 107,186 26,412 215,145 149 215,294
* Net of deferred taxes.
** Corresponding to €7,967 thousand in dividends paid by Oeneo (of which €7,505 thousand relates to the share of Oeneo dividends paid in new shares created 

on 03 October 2016) and distributions by the companies Seguin Moreau and Diam Bouchage to participants in the investment scheme set up by the Group, 
amounting to €22 thousand held in current accounts until the plan matures in March 2018.

*** See Note 9.2 on allocation of free shares.
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In thousands of euros

Contributed 
capital

Additional 
paid-in 
capital

Consolidated 
reserves

Net profit/
(loss) for 

the period

Total 
attributable 

to equity 
holders of 
the parent Minorities

Total 
equityNote 8 Note 9

POSITION AT 01/04/2017 62,904 18,642 107,186 26,412 215,145 149 215,294

Foreign currency translation reserve - - (2,792) - (2,792) - (2,792)
Actuarial gains and losses* - - (231) - (231) - (231)
Other fi nancial instruments* - - 31 - 31 - 31

INCOME AND EXPENSE 
RECOGNISED DIRECTLY 
IN EQUITY - - (2,992) - (2,992) - (2,992)
Net profi t - - - 26,603 26,603 48 26,651

INCOME AND EXPENSE 
RECOGNISED FOR THE 
PERIOD - - (2,992) 26,603 23,611 48 23,659
Allocation of earnings - 26,412 (26,412) - - - 
Dividends** - - (8,843) - (8,843) (90) (8,933)
Capital increase 277 2,022 - - 2,299 - 2,299
Treasury shares - - (3,865) - (3,865) - (3,865)
Share-based payments*** - - 1,260 - 1,260 - 1,260
Other changes - - - - - 25 25

SITUATION AT 31/03/2018 63,181 20,664 119,159 26,603 229,606 132 229,738
* Net of deferred taxes.
** Corresponding to €8,779 thousand in dividends paid by Oeneo (see Note 22 – Distribution; of which €2,314 thousand relates to the share of Oeneo dividends 

paid in new shares created on 18 September 2017) and distributions by the companies Seguin Moreau and Diam Bouchage to participants in the investment 
scheme set up by the Group, amounting to €64 thousand held in current accounts until the plan matures in March 2018.

*** See Note 9.2 on allocation of free shares.
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2.2.4 CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOWS

In thousands of euros Note 31/03/2018
31/03/2017 
(adjusted*)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Consolidated net profi t/(loss) 26,651 26,459
Consolidated net profi t from discontinued operations (3,933) (1,736)
Consolidated net profi t from continuing operations 30,584 28,195
Elimination of the share of income of associates (17) (7)
Elimination of amortisation, depreciation and provisions 9,375 13,861
Elimination of net profi t on disposal and dilution gains and losses (72) 123
Dividends received from associates 40 – 
Income and expenses calculated on share-based payments 1,260 1,506
Other non-cash income and expenses 1,666 2,731

= CASH FLOW AFTER COST OF NET FINANCIAL 
DEBT AND TAX 42,836 46,409
Income tax expense 19 11,074 10,707
Cost of net fi nancial debt 1,076 1,214

= CASH FLOW BEFORE COST OF NET FINANCIAL DEBT AND INCOME TAX EXPENSE 54,986 58,330
Taxes paid (11,821) (6,513)
Change in working capital requirement related to operating activities(2) 29 (13,310) (12,444)
Net cash from operations related to continuing operations 29,855 39,373
Net cash from operations related to discontinued operations 200 158

= NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 30,055 39,531
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Impact of changes in scope(1) 29 (118) (122)
Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 29 (16,313) (13,199)
Acquisition of fi nancial assets 28 (176) – 
Disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 77 1,095
Change in loans and advances outstanding 35 (64)
Net cash fl ow from investing activities of continuing operations (16,495) (12,290)
Net cash fl ow from investing activities of discontinued operations

= NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (16,495) (12,290)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition and disposal of treasury shares (3,865) (464)
Debt issuance 15,469 23,261
Debt repayment (32,692) (33,798)
Net interest paid (1,076) (1,214)
Dividends paid by the parent company 25 (6,480) (530)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (90) – 
Net cash fl ow from fi nancing activities of continuing operations (28,734) (12,745)
Net cash fl ow from fi nancing activities of discontinued operations (200) (158)
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In thousands of euros Note 31/03/2018
31/03/2017 
(adjusted*)

= NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (28,934) (12,903)
Impact of exchange rate movements (885) 359
Change in cash and cash equivalents from continuing operations (16,259) 14,697
Change in cash and cash equivalents from discontinued operations (412) (211)

* In light of the decision to sell the natural and agglomerated corks/stoppers activities of Piedade, the related cash fl ows have been reclassifi ed as discontinued 
operations in accordance with IFRS 5 (see Note 5.A.1).

(1) For fi scal year 2017/18, corresponds to the acquisition price net of cash acquired during the takeover of GALILEO by Seguin Moreau France.
At 31 March 2017, this corresponded to –€122 thousand in transaction expenses, of which –€75 thousand related to Piedade and –€47 thousand related to 
SM NAPA.

(2) Corresponds to:

In thousands of euros 31/03/2018
31/03/2017 
(adjusted*)

Impact of the change in net inventory and work in progress (3,172) (8,485)
Impact of the change in trade receivables and other net debtors (11,125) (276)
Impact of the change in trade payables and other creditors 987 (3,683)

IMPACT OF THE CHANGE IN WCR RELATING TO OPERATING ACTIVITIES (13,310) (12,444)
* The impact of the IFRS 5 adjustment on the change in WCR at 31/03/2017 was posted to “Trade and other payables” due to the lack of more precise 

information.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

OENEO Group is a major player in the wine-growing 
business. Operating worldwide, the Group specialises in two 
complementary business areas:

 1 Closures, with the manufacture and marketing of cork closures, 
both technological with high added value in the Diam range 
and traditional ones in the PIETEC range;

 1 Ageing, by providing high-end ageing solutions through Seguin-
Moreau Millet and Galileo for wine and spirits to leading market 
players and by working with Vivelys to develop innovative 
solutions for the wine industry (R&D, consulting, systems).

COMPANY NAME AND REGISTERED OFFICE

OENEO – 16 quai Louis XVIII – 33000 Bordeaux.

LEGAL FORM

Public limited company (société anonyme) with a Board of 
Directors

COMPANY REGISTRATION

OENEO is registered with the Bordeaux Trade and Companies 
Register under the company registration number 322 828 260 
RCS Bordeaux.

The consolidated fi nancial statements of the OENEO Group 
(hereinafter the “Group”) at 31 March 2018 were approved by 
the Board of Directors at its meeting on 11 June 2018. Figures 
are in thousands of euros unless otherwise stated.

A. ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND MEASUREMENT BASES

The annual consolidated fi nancial statements of the OENEO 
Group are prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the IASB (International 
Accounting Standards Board), as adopted by the European Union 
at 31 March 2018.

The separate fi nancial statements of the consolidated companies, 
which are prepared according to generally accepted accounting 
principles in their respective countries, are restated to comply 
with the accounting policies of the Group.

Preparing the fi nancial statements in accordance with IFRS requires 
certain critical accounting estimates to be made. Management 
is also required to exercise its discretion when applying the 
Group’s accounting methods. The most critical areas in terms of 
judgement or complexity, or those for which the assumptions and 
estimates are material with respect to the consolidated fi nancial 
statements, are set out in Notes 1 “Goodwill”, 2 “Activities held 
for sale and discontinued operations”, 4 “Deferred taxes”, 12 
“Provisions for liabilities and charges” and 13 “Other current and 
non-current liabilities”.

The following standards apply as of 1 April 2017 to the fi nancial 
information presented:

 1 amendments to IAS 12, Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets 
for Unrealised Losses;

 1 amendments to IAS 7, Disclosure Initiative: Additional 
information to be provided on the change in fi nancial liabilities 
on the balance sheet;

 1 improvements to IFRS 2014-2016 Cycle.

The entry into force of standards whose application is mandatory 
star ting 1 January 2017 has had no effect on the financial 
statements for the 2017-2018 fi scal year.

The following new standards, amendments to existing standards 
and interpretations have been published but were not applicable 
at 31 March 2018, and have not been adopted early:

 1 IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” will apply for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018;

 1 amendment to IFRS 2* “Share-based Payments” will apply for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018;

 1 IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” was 
adopted on 22 September 2016 by the European Union and 
entered into force on 1 January 2018;

 1 IFRS 16 “Leases” will apply for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2019;

 1 improvements to IFRS 2015-2017 Cycle* will enter into force 
on 1 January 2019;

 1 IFRIC 22* “Foreign Currency Transactions” entered into force 
on 1 January 2018;

 1 IFRIC 23* “Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments” will enter 
into force on 1 January 2019.

As of 31 March 2018, IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 had not been adopted 
early by the Group. The Group does not anticipate that these 
standards will have a major impact on the consolidated fi nancial 
statements.

The analysis of the leases entered into by the Group and of 
the collection of information necessary for the application of 
IFRS 16 will be conducted in the second half of 2018.

* Standards not yet adopted by the European Union.
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1. COMPARABILITY OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND IMPACT OF THE 
APPLICATION OF IFRS 5

Given its positioning in high added value technological products, 
the Oeneo Group decided to withdraw from the natural and 
agglomerated corks/stoppers activities of the PIEDADE Group.

In the consolidated fi nancial statements at 31 March 2018, in 
accordance with IFRS 5, this activity is presented in the income 
statement as a discontinued operation. As a result, that note in 
the fi nancial statements as at 31 March 2017 was adjusted.

IFRS 5 “Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued 
operations” specifi es the accounting treatment applicable to 
assets held for sale and the presentation of disclosures for 
discontinued operations.

In particular, it requires assets held for sale to be presented 
separately in the consolidated statement of fi nancial position at 
the lower of the carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell, 
if the criteria set forth by the standard are met.

In addition, it requires that profi ts and losses from discontinued 
operations be presented separately in the consolidated income 
statement retrospectively for all periods presented.

A discontinued operation is a component of an entity that has 
been separated from the entity or is classifi ed as held for sale and:

 1 represents a major separate business line or geographical 
region;

 1 is part of a single coordinated plan to be separated from a 
separate business line or geographical region; or

 1 is a subsidiary acquired exclusively for the purpose of resale.

IMPACT OF THE APPLICATION OF IFRS 5 ON THE 2016/2017 CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

In thousands of euros
31/03/2017 

reported
Discontinued 

operations
31/03/2017 

adjusted

Revenue 246,581 (24,393) 222,188
Other revenue from operating activities 1,873 – 1,873
Purchases used in the business (97,163) 17,473 (79,690)
External expenses (39,647) 3,943 (35,704)
Employee benefi ts expense (51,582) 3,615 (47,967)
Taxes (2,204) 27 (2,177)
Depreciation and amortisation (12,805) 609 (12,196)
Net increase in provisions (3,294) (28) (3,322)
Change in work in progress and fi nished product inventories 525 – 525
Other current income/(expenses) (263) 41 (222)

CURRENT OPERATING PROFIT 42,021 1,287 43,308
Other non-current operating income and expenses (3,636) 136 (3,500)

OPERATING PROFIT 38,385 1,423 39,808
Income from cash and cash equivalents 208 – 208
Cost of gross fi nancial debt (1,580) 158 (1,422)
Cost of net fi nancial debt (1,372) 158 (1,214)
Other fi nancial income/expenses 283 18 301

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 37,296 1,599 38,895
Income tax (10,844) 137 (10,707)

PROFIT/LOSS AFTER TAX 26,452 1,736 28,188
Profi t/(loss) of associates 7 – 7

NET PROFIT FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 26,459 1,736 28,195
Non-controlling interests (47) (47)

NET PROFIT FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 
(ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT)

26,412 1,736 28,148

NET PROFIT FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 
(ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT)

– (1,736) 1,736

NET PROFIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED GROUP 26,459 – 26,459

NET PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS 
OF THE PARENT

26,412 26,412
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IMPACT OF THE APPLICATION OF IFRS 5 ON THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

In thousands of euros
31/03/2017 

reported
Discontinued 

operations
31/03/2017 

adjusted

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Consolidated net profi t/(loss) 26,459 – 26,459
Consolidated net profi t from discontinued operations (1,736) (1,736)
Consolidated net profi t from continuing operations 26,459 1,736 28,195
Elimination of the share of income of associates (7) – (7)
Elimination of amortisation, depreciation and provisions 13,252 609 13,861
Elimination of net profi t on disposal and dilution gains and losses 123 – 123
Dividends received from associates – – – 
Income and expenses calculated on share-based payments 1,506 – 1,506
Other non-cash income and expenses 2,731 – 2,731

= CASH FLOW AFTER COST OF NET FINANCIAL DEBT AND TAX 44,064 2,345 46,409
Income tax expense 10,844 (137) 10,707
Cost of net fi nancial debt 1,372 (158) 1,214

= CASH FLOW BEFORE COST OF NET FINANCIAL DEBT AND TAX 56,280 2,050 58,330
Taxes paid (6,513) – (6,513)
Change in working capital requirement related to operating activities (10,236) (2,208) (12,444)
Net cash from operations related to continuing operations 39,531 (158) 39,373
Net cash from operations related to discontinued operations – (53) (53)

= NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 39,531 (211) 39,320
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Impact of changes in scope (122) – (122)
Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (13,199) – (13,199)
Acquisition of fi nancial assets – – – 
Disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 1,095 – 1,095
Change in loans and advances outstanding (64) – (64)
Net cash fl ow from investing activities of continuing operations (12,290) – (12,290)
Net cash fl ow from investing activities of discontinued operations – 

= NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (12,290) – (12,290)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition and disposal of treasury shares (464) – (464)
Debt issuance 23,261 – 23,261
Debt repayment (33,798) – (33,798)
Net interest paid (1,372) 158 (1,214)
Dividends paid by the parent company (530) – (530)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests – – – 
Net cash fl ow from fi nancing activities of continuing operations (12,903) 158 (12,745)
Net cash fl ow from fi nancing activities of discontinued operations (158) (158)

= NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (12,903) – (12,903)
Impact of exchange rate movements 359 – 359
Change in cash and cash fl ow from continuing operations 14,697 – 14,697
Change in cash and cash fl ow from discontinued operations (211) (211)
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2. CONSOLIDATION METHODS

Subsidiaries are entities (including any special purpose entities) 
whose fi nancial and operating policies can be governed by the 
Group, usually because it holds more than half of the voting rights. 
Potential voting rights are taken into account when evaluating 
the control exercised by the Group over another entity, if these 
result from instruments likely to be exercised or converted at 
the time of that evaluation.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated once effective control is 
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated once control 
ceases to be exercised.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its 
associates are eliminated in proportion to the Group’s interest 
in those associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated, unless 
the transaction indicates that the asset sold is impaired. The 
accounting policies of associates have been modifi ed where 
necessary so that they are in line with those adopted by the 
Group.

Associates are entities over which the Group does not have 
control but exercises signifi cant infl uence, usually because it 
holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in 
associates are consolidated using the equity method. The Group’s 
interest in associates includes goodwill (net of any accumulated 
impairment losses) identifi ed at acquisition.

The fi nancial statements of joint ventures are also consolidated 
using the equity method.

3. GOODWILL

On initial consolidation of the Group’s subsidiaries and affi liates, 
all identifi able items acquired (assets and liabilities) are measured.

Measurement is in the currency of the acquired company. 
In subsequent years, fair value adjustments receive the same 
accounting treatment as the items to which they relate.

Positive goodwill
Any residual difference corresponding to the surplus acquisition 
cost on the Group’s share of the fair value of the identifi able 
assets and liabilities of the acquire at the acquisition date is 
entered on the assets side of the balance sheet under “Goodwill”.

Positive goodwill is not amortised, in accordance with the revised 
IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”. It is tested for impairment 
whenever there is objective evidence of a loss of value and at 
least once a year in the manner set out below in the section 
entitled “5. Recoverable amount of assets”. The calculation is 
done separately for each of the two operating sectors (CGU 
groups), Closures and Ageing. The net carrying amount of the 
assets and liabilities of each division is reconciled with value in 
use, estimated by discounting future cash fl ows. In the event of 
impairment, the impairment loss recognised under impairment 
of assets is irreversible.

Where an operation within a CGU is disposed of, the goodwill 
associated with the discontinued operation:

 1 is included in the carrying amount of the operation when 
determining the gain or loss on disposal; and

 1 is measured on the basis of the relative values of the 
discontinued operation and the part of the cash-generating 
unit retained.

Negative goodwill
Negative goodwill represents the surplus relative to the acquisition 
cost of the Group’s share of the fair value of the identifi able assets 
and liabilities of the acquire at the acquisition date.

Negative goodwill is recognised immediately in the income 
statement during the acquisition period.

4. TRANSLATION OF FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS IN FOREIGN CURRENCY

Functional currency and reporting currency of the 
financial statements
The items included in the financial statements of each of 
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates 
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated fi nancial statements 
are presented in euros, which is the Company’s functional and 
reporting currency.

Transactions and balances
Transactions denominated in foreign currency are translated into 
the functional currency using the exchange rates applicable at 
the transaction dates. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting 
from the settlement of such transactions and those resulting 
from the conversion, at the rates in effect at the reporting date, 
of foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are recognised 
in pro fi t or loss, except when they are recognised directly in 
equity, either as an eligible cash fl ow hedge, or a hedge of a net 
investment in a foreign operation.

Group companies
The fi nancial statements of all Group entities (none of which 
operate in a hyperinflationary economy) whose functional 
currency is different from the presentation currency are translated 
into the presentation currency as follows: (i) assets and liabilities 
are translated at the closing rate at the date of each balance 
sheet; (ii) the income and expenses in each income statement 
are translated at average exchange rates; and (iii) any resulting 
translation differences are recognised as a separate component 
of equity.

When a foreign operation is sold, the translation differences 
initially recognised in equity are taken to profi t or loss under 
gains and losses on disposal.
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5. NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Contractual customer relationships
In the context of business combinations, in accordance with 
IFRS 3 revised, contractual customer relationships are recognised 
separately from goodwill if the acquire has a regular volume 
of business with identifi ed customers. Contractual customer 
relationships are measured according to the excess earnings 
method, which takes into account discounted future cash fl ows 
generated by customers.

Contractual customer relationships are amortised over their 
useful life (if determinable), which may be between 6 and 
16 years. They are tested for impairment if there is evidence 
that they might be impaired.

Intangible assets
In accordance with IAS 38 “Intangible Assets”, acquired intangible 
assets are carried at their acquisition cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and impairment losses.

Following initial recognition, if their recoverable amount based on 
criteria existing at the time of acquisition should fall permanently 
below their net carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.

Other intangible assets categorised as having a fi nite useful life are 
amortised on a straight-line basis over periods that correspond 
to their expected useful life.

Development costs are amortised over a fi ve-year period.

Patents are amortised on a straight-line basis over the actual 
duration of protection (between 8 and 11 years for Closures 
and 10 years for Ageing).

Software is amortised on a straight-line basis over a period of 
one to three years.

Property, plant and equipment
Under the depreciated historical cost method, the Group opted 
to revalue its property, plant and equipment at fair value at the 
date of transition to IFRS.

In accordance with IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment”, the 
property, plant and equipment acquired subsequent to the date 
of transition to IFRS are carried at acquisition price or cost less 
any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Assets 
under construction are recognised at billed cost less any identifi ed 
impairment loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the carrying amount of the 
asset or, where applicable, recognised separately, if it is likely that 
the future economic benefi t associated with the asset will fl ow 
to the Group, and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. 
All other expenses for repair and maintenance are recognised in 
the income statement for the period in which they are incurred.

Land cannot be depreciated but may be subject to impairment.

Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment begins 
once the assets are ready for use. From the date they come 
into service, property, plant and equipment are depreciated 
according to the straight-line method over their useful lives, using 
a components approach:

 1 buildings 15 to 50 years (depending on the site and components 
such as foundations/roof/walls);

 1 building fi xtures and fi ttings 15 to 30 years;

 1 industrial plant, machinery and equipment 5 to 20 years;

 1 other property, plant and equipment 3 to 15 years.

The Group plans to use its assets over their entire lifetime and 
therefore has not identifi ed any residual value.

Leases
Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of an asset to the lessee qualify as fi nance 
leases and accounted for as follows:

 1 the leased item is recognised as an asset at an amount equal 
to its fair value or, if lower, the present value of the minimum 
lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease;

 1 a liability is recognised for the same amount on the liabilities 
side of the balance sheet;

 1 minimum lease payments are allocated between interest 
expense and reduction of the lease liability;

 1 the fi nance expense is allocated to each period of the lease 
term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on 
the remaining balance of the liability for each fi nancial year;

 1 the asset is depreciated, as appropriate, using the components 
method in accordance with Group accounting policy for similar 
assets, or, in the absence of reasonable certainty that the Group 
will obtain ownership of the asset by the end of the lease term, 
over the shorter of the lease term and the asset’s useful life.

Unlike fi nance leases, operating leases are recognised as a lease 
expense in the income statement. They are recognised as an 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Recoverable amount of assets
In accordance with IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”, the carrying 
amount of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
is tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that 
an asset may be impaired. This test is performed at least once 
a year for assets with indefi nite useful lives (limited to goodwill, 
land and brands).

Assets are tested for impairment whenever events or 
circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be 
recovered. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying 
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value less 
costs of disposal and its value in use.
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For impaired assets other than goodwill, the possible reversal of 
the impairment is examined at each annual or interim reporting 
date.

To determine their value in use, assets are allocated to cash-
generating units (CGUs). CGUs are defi ned as the smallest 
identifi able group of assets that generates cash infl ows that are 
largely independent of the cash infl ows from other groups of 
assets.

The CGUs used for the purpose of impairment tests are not 
larger than the operating segments determined in accordance 
with IFRS 8 “Operating Segments”.

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued 
operations
In accordance with IFRS 5, “Non-current Assets Held for Sale 
and Discontinued Operations”, assets held for sale are presented 
separately in the statement of fi nancial position and are measured 
and recognised at the lower of carrying amount and market value 
less costs to sell.

An asset is classifi ed as “available for sale” only:

 1 if the sale is highly probable within a reasonable timeframe;

 1 if the asset is available for immediate sale in its present 
condition; and

 1 if management has committed to a plan to sell the asset.

6. INVENTORIES AND WORK IN PROGRESS

Gross values
Inventories of materials and fi nished goods are measured at 
the lower of purchase price or production cost, calculated using 
the weighted average cost method, and net realisable value. The 
purchase price or production cost corresponds to the amount 
of purchases, processing costs (such as direct and indirect 
production costs) and other costs incurred. Work in progress is 
valued at production cost.

In accordance with IAS 2 “Inventories”, cork for the Closures 
business and oak for the Ageing business are measured at 
acquisition cost. This includes the purchase price, import duties 
and other taxes (other than those subsequently recoverable), 
transpor t and handling costs and all other costs directly 
attributable to the purchase of materials and services. Discounts 
and rebates are deducted from purchase costs.

Provisions
For raw materials, a provision is recorded if the provisional 
cost price of the fi nished products in which these materials are 
incorporated is higher than the market price of the fi nished 
products, net of selling expenses.

For work in progress, a provision is recorded if the estimated cost 
price of the fi nished products, comprising the value of work in 

progress and the production costs necessary to complete the 
product, net of selling expenses, is higher than the market price.

For fi nished products, a provision is recorded if the cost price 
plus selling expenses proves to be higher than the market price.

Margins earned on transactions between consolidated companies 
are eliminated.

7. CUSTOMERS

Trade receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less 
allowances for impairment.

Factoring agreements have been set up in Portuguese, Spanish 
and Italian operating companies in return for short-term credit 
facilities, which are therefore backed by trade receivables.

These agreements were negotiated with the Group’s fi nancial 
partners to obtain standard terms.

The companies bear the collection risk until customers have 
settled invoices in full, with the receivables being accordingly 
consolidated in the fi nancial statements.

An allowance for impairment of trade receivables is recognised 
when there is objective evidence that the Group will be unable 
to recover the full amount due according to the initial terms of 
the transaction. Serious fi nancial diffi culties faced by the debtor, 
the likelihood of bankruptcy or fi nancial restructuring of the 
debtor and payment default or delinquency are indicators of 
the impairment of a receivable. The amount of the provision is 
the difference between the carrying amount and the estimated 
payment amount. The amount of the provision is recognised in 
the income statement under net increase in provisions.

8. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The “cash and cash equivalents” item includes cash, sight deposits 
and other very liquid short-term investments with initial maturities 
of up to three months. Bank overdrafts are included in current 
liabilities on the balance sheet under “borrowings”.

9. SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES

Where any Group company purchases Company shares (treasury 
shares), the consideration paid, including directly attributable 
incremental costs (net of income taxes), is deducted from equity 
attributable to the Company’s equity holders until the shares are 
cancelled or disposed of. If sold, the proceeds received, net of 
directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the related 
tax effects, are included in equity attributable to the Company’s 
equity holders.



62

2 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated fi nancial statements

10. FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets include long-term investments, receivables, 
investment securities, derivative instruments and cash. The 
measurement and recognition of fi nancial assets are defi ned by 
IAS 39 and its amendment of 15 October 2008.

The classifi cation depends on the reasons for the acquisition of 
the fi nancial assets. The management determines the classifi cation 
of its fi nancial assets on initial recognition.

Loans and receivables are valued at amortised cost and are 
tested for impairment as a minimum at each reporting date. 
An impairment provision is recognised when the recoverable 
amount is less than the carrying amount.

11. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Except for derivatives, loans and other fi nancial liabilities are 
valued at their amortised cost using the effective interest rate. 
Interest rate swaps that economically hedge fi nancial liabilities 
are classifi ed as cash fl ow hedges.

Loans are classifi ed as current liabilities, except when the Group 
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the debt for 
at least 12 months after the reporting date, in which case these 
loans are classifi ed as non-current liabilities.

Compound fi nancial instruments are recognised in accordance 
with IAS 32, i.e. with separate recognition of the fi xed-income 
component recorded in debt at amortised cost and the equity 
component recorded in equity (similar to a call option), the issue 
expenses being recognised in equity and debt in proportion to 
the issue proceeds.

All derivatives are measured at fair value, which corresponds 
to the market value for quoted instruments. For unquoted 
instruments, their fair value is determined using estimates such 
as option pricing models and the discounted cash fl ow method. 
Gains or losses arising from the revaluation of these instruments 
at each reporting date are recognised in equity.

Derivatives are reported in other borrowings (see Note 21).

12. DEFERRED TAXES

In accordance with IAS 12 “Income Taxes”, temporary differences 
between the carrying amount of an asset or liability in the 
statement of fi nancial position and its tax base give rise to the 
recognition of a deferred tax according to the liability method 
using the most recent tax rates adopted.

The effects due to changes in tax rates are recognised in 
the income statement for the year in which the rate change 
is announced or in equity if they relate to items that were 
recognised directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets on losses carried forward are only taken into 
account if it is probable that the entity will be able to recover 

them within a reasonable time by means of taxable profi t during 
future accounting periods.

The Group has recognised, for the French, Spanish and 
Portuguese tax consolidation groups, tax loss carryforwards on 
the basis of projected earnings contained in the business plan 
prepared by the Group.

The tax expense is recognised in the income statement unless it 
concerns items that were recognised directly in equity, in which 
case it is also recognised in equity.

The Group decided that the business contribution on value 
added (CVAE) could be treated as income tax according to the 
defi nition contained in IAS 12.

Under IAS 12, deferred taxes are not discounted.

13. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Supplementary pension schemes, retirement 
benefits and other long-term benefits
The Group offers its employees various supplementary pension 
schemes, retirement benefits and other long-term benefits, 
according to the regulations and practices in force in the countries 
where it operates.

These include both defi ned contribution and defi ned benefi t 
schemes.

For defi ned contribution schemes, the Group has no obligation 
other than the payment of premiums to third-party organisations; 
the corresponding liability is recognised as an expense for the 
period.

For defi ned benefi t schemes, including multi-employer plans for 
which the external manager is able to provide information, the 
Group measures its obligations in accordance with the revised 
IAS 19 “Employee Benefi ts”.

These commitments are calculated using the projected unit credit 
method, taking into account actuarial assumptions such as wage 
growth, retirement age, mortality, staff turnover, discount rates 
and national insurance rates. The assumptions used to calculate 
these commitments are described in Note 12.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in actuarial 
assumptions and experience adjustments are immediately 
recognised in “Other comprehensive income that may not be 
reclassifi ed subsequently to profi t or loss”.

The net liability is recognised in the statement of fi nancial position 
under employee benefi ts.

Termination benefi ts are due when the entity terminates the 
employment contract of an employee before the normal 
retirement date or when an employee has accepted an offer of 
voluntary redundancy.
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The Group recognises these termination benefits when it is 
demonstrably committed to terminating the employment of an 
employee or group of employees, if it has a detailed formal plan 
for the termination and is without realistic possibility of withdrawal, 
or if it has agreed to grant termination benefi ts as a result of an 
offer made in order to encourage voluntary redundancy. Where 
termination benefi ts fall due more than 12 months after the 
reporting date, they are discounted to their present value.

The impact of “Other comprehensive income that may not 
subsequently be reclassifi ed to profi t or loss” at Group level on 
retirement benefi ts was –€231 thousand, net of tax, in 2017/2018, 
the discount rate going from 1.46% to 1.37%.

Incentives and bonuses
The Group recognises a liability and an expense in respect of 
incentives and bonuses, using a formula that takes into account 
net profi t/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the parent, after 
certain adjustments. The Group recognises a provision when it 
has a contractual obligation to do so or if a past practice gives 
rise to a constructive obligation.

Share plan and similar schemes
The Group applies IFRS 2 to share plans with cash-settled share-
based payments.

The total cost of benefi ts depends on the fair value of the shares 
awarded and the number of shares that will eventually be issued 
under the plans in place.

The number of shares issued at the end of the vesting period is 
subject to continued employment and achievement of the Group’s 
performance criteria, conditions of eligibility for such plans.

The present value of the obligation, discounted to cost of equity, 
is spread over the vesting period during which the services are 
rendered. It is recognised in “Current operating profi t” with a 
corresponding entry to “Other non-current liabilities”.

Performance criteria are taken into account, in accordance with 
IFRIC’s positions, only to assess the likelihood of issuance of the 
instruments.

For free share plans (equity settled), the fair value of the services 
rendered in exchange for these instruments is expensed over 
the vesting period with a corresponding entry to reserves on the 
basis of the value of the instruments at the award date.

No expense is ultimately recognised if the instruments are 
awarded subject to a condition other than a market condition 
that will not be fulfi lled.

14. INVESTMENT GRANTS

In accordance with IAS 20 “Accounting for Government Grants 
and Disclosure of Government Assistance”, investment grants 
are recognised in liabilities under “deferred income”. They are 
recognised in profi t or loss as the assets to which they relate 
are depreciated and are therefore presented in income from 
operating activities.

15. SEGMENT REPORTING

In accordance with IFRS 8, the fi nancial data reported by operating 
segment (defi ned as groups of CGUs) were prepared based 
on internal reporting, which is reviewed by the chief operating 
decision maker on a regular basis and then reconciled with the 
Group’s results. The chief operating decision maker has been 
identifi ed as the Chief Executive Offi cer.

A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged 
in providing products or services that are subject to risks and 
returns that are different from those of other business segments. 
A geographical segment is a group of assets and operations 
engaged in providing products or services within a particular 
economic environment that is subject to risks and returns that 
are different from those of other economic environments in 
which the Group operates.

16. REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue corresponds to the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable in respect of goods and services sold in 
the course of the Group’s ordinary activities. Revenue is stated 
net of value-added tax, returns of goods, discounts and rebates 
and after elimination of intra-group sales.

Revenue is recognised on the date on which the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership are transferred (typically on 
the date of transfer of title to the products).

17. DIVIDENDS

Dividends not paid out to the Company’s shareholders are 
recognised as a liability in the Group’s fi nancial statements for 
the period in which the dividends are approved by shareholders.

18. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share are calculated using the weighted average 
number of shares outstanding during the period, less treasury 
shares deducted from equity.

The weighted average number of shares outstanding during the 
period as well as those from prior periods previously reported 
are adjusted for any free shares distributed.

Diluted earnings per share are calculated taking into account the 
average number of shares outstanding during the period, plus the 
dilution effect caused by the likely exercise of stock options and 
any other dilutive instrument.

This dilutive effect is calculated for each plan in which the exercise 
price is less than the fair value of the stock. It corresponds to the 
difference between the number of shares issued following the 
likely exercise of options and the number of shares issued at the 
average market price.
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19. RISK MANAGEMENT

Liquidity risks
OENEO Group financing is covered by a Group policy 
implemented by the fi nance department. The French companies 
use central treasury management. The foreign companies manage 
their treasury locally in consultation with head offi ce, whose 
permission is required before any signifi cant funding can be 
arranged.

In accordance with applicable legislative and regulatory provisions, 
Group subsidiaries have signed a treasury agreement with the 
Company to pool cash surpluses and cover the requirements 
of the various subsidiaries on the best terms. Some foreign 
subsidiaries arrange fi nance locally.

At 31 March 2018, the Group carried out a specifi c review 
of its liquidity risk (see Note 10 to the consolidated fi nancial 
statements) and considers, particularly given that it satisfi es all 
its bank covenants, that it is able to meet its upcoming maturities 
over the twelve months following publication of these documents.

Interest rate risk
The fi nancial instruments used are associated with different types 
of debt (bank facilities/borrowings). The Group applies hedge 
accounting principles.

Sensitivity to interest rate risk (see also Note 11 to the 
consolidated fi nancial statements):

The OENEO Group’s fl oating-rate debt represents 29.72% of 
the total debt.

On 20 November 2014, OENEO arranged two interest rate 
hedges (option swaps) on €4 million of medium-term facilities 
with a term of 60 months (see Note 10 “Loans and other 
borrowings”).

On 21 November 2014 and on 25 February 2015, Diam France 
arranged two interest rate hedges (option swaps) on €17 million 
of long-term facilities with a term of 84 months (see Note 11 
“Loans and other borrowings”).

At March 31, 2018, the outstanding capital remaining swapped 
is €10,693 thousand.

At 31 March 2018, the swaps used had a negative fair value 
(€68.1 thousand).

Any rise in interest rates would lead to an increase in interest 
expense. A –0.2%/+0.5% fl uctuation in interest rates would affect 
net fi nancial income by –€173 thousand (gain) to €39 thousand 
(loss).

The Group thus feels that it has little exposure to interest rate 
risk.

Credit and counterparty risks
The Company only enters into hedging transactions with major 
fi nancial institutions.

There is no counterparty risk on the instrument at the reporting 
date. The maximum credit risk exposure chiefl y concerns trade 
receivables. However, due to the large number of customers 
worldwide, there is no concentration of credit risk in respect of 
trade receivables.

Foreign exchange risk
The Group manages its exposure to foreign exchange risk 
centrally so as to reduce its sensitivity to adverse exchange rate 
movements. It hedges this risk through forward transactions and 
by purchasing currency puts and calls. As a result, the Group’s 
exposure is not immaterial.

Whenever necessary, to protect itself against an adverse exchange 
rate movement, the OENEO Group uses hedging instruments 
(options and futures).

At March 31, 2018, all of the Group’s debt was denominated in 
euros. Euro-denominated debt represented 94% of the Group’s 
debt at 31 March 2017.

The OENEO Group is exposed to the risk of adverse 
exchange rate movements, both on its assets (current 
accounts denominated in foreign currency) and on its 
commercial transactions (transactional risk). Foreign exchange 
risk is monitored by the Group’s finance depar tment. At 
31 March 2018, the position of the main receivables and 
payables likely to be impacted by exchange rate movements 
amounted to €21.6 million. A +/-10% movement in exchange 
rates would have an impact of +/-0.60% on these commitments.

Authorisation from the Group’s fi nance department is required 
for hedging transactions that could have a material impact on the 
consolidated fi nancial statements.

The position after hedging corresponds to the currency amount 
on which the Group is exposed to an adverse exchange rate 
movement.

Equity risk
The securities recognised in the Group’s statement of fi nancial 
position comprise cash OEICs purchased from time to time.

On 6 July 2010, the Group entered into a liquidity contract with 
the brokerage fi rm Gilbert Dupont, covering 19,999 treasury 
shares at 31 March 2018.

In addition, the Group’s treasury shares increased from 
408,104 shares at 31 March 2017 to 553,799 shares at 31 March 
2018, representing 0.88% of its capital.

Consequently, the Group is marginally exposed to equity risk.
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Other risks
The OENEO Group has identifi ed four risk categories. This 
analysis compares the consequences of these risks on the 
Group’s profi tability:

 1 risks related to product design: these risks arise on the creation 
of innovations and the invention of new industrial processes 
and marketing, which will represent future economic benefi ts;

 1 risks related to product manufacturing: these risks arise on 
the industrial application of the processes invented and their 
mass production;

 1 risks related to product sales and marketing: these risks arise 
during and after the sale of products to customers;

 1 other risks: these risks are extraneous to industrial and 
commercial processes and represent a smaller risk category 
than the previous three.

The Group updated its risk mapping during the 2017-2018 
fi nancial year. All of the risks identifi ed are covered by:

 1 a system in place;

 1 an ongoing or identifi ed action plan.

These risks were not deemed to have a signifi cant operational 
impact.

The analysis is updated regularly, either in full, or by adding specifi c 
missions.

20. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements, which are continually updated, are 
based on historical information and other factors such as forecasts 
of future events, deemed reasonable in light of the circumstances.

The resulting accounting estimates are, by defi nition, seldom 
equivalent to the actual results. Estimates and assumptions that 
could lead to a signifi cant adjustment of the carrying amount of 
assets and liabilities in subsequent periods are discussed below.

Intangible assets
The Group commissioned independent experts to measure 
intangible assets relating to the acquisition of Piedade Group 
and of Vivelys Group. They estimated future fl ows and applied 
rates with a direct impact on the asset values.

A reduction in value in use would result in an impact on profi t 
or loss.

Property, plant and equipment
The Group commissioned independent experts to measure its 
property, plant and equipment upon transition to IFRS and upon 
the acquisition of Piedade Group. They estimated future fl ows 
and applied rates with a direct impact on the asset values.

A reduction in value in use would result in an impact on profi t 
or loss.

Goodwill
The Group subjects goodwill to an annual impairment test, 
in accordance with the accounting policy set out in section 5 
Recoverable amount of assets.

Fair value of derivatives and other financial 
instruments
The fair value of fi nancial instruments that are not quoted in an 
active market (such as over-the-counter derivatives) is reported 
by the issuer.

Deferred tax assets
As stated in section 12 above, deferred tax assets on tax losses 
carried forward are only taken into account if it is probable that 
the entity will be able to recover them within a reasonable time 
by means of taxable profi t during future accounting periods.

Specifically, the Group has recognised, for the French and 
Portuguese tax consolidation groups, and for Seguin Moreau 
Napa Cooperage in the United States, all tax loss carryforwards 
on the basis of projected earnings contained in the business plan 
prepared by the Group.

Non-current transactions
Other non-current operating income and expenses correspond 
to income and expenses that do not arise from the Group’s day-
to-day management. They are essentially characterised by their 
unusual nature and signifi cant amount.

Other non-current operating income and expenses include the 
following items:

 1 proceeds from the disposal of non-current assets;

 1 reorganisation and restructuring provisions and expenses and 
exceptional third-party litigation costs.

French competitiveness and employment tax 
credit (CICE)
The Group recognises the CICE as a reduction from employee 
benefi ts expense.
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B. INFORMATION ABOUT THE SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION

CONSOLIDATED COMPANIES AT 31 MARCH 2018

Company Country
Consolidation 

method

March 2018 March 2017

% 
control

% 
interest

% 
control

% 
interest

OENEO France Full Parent Parent Parent Parent
Sabate South Africa South Africa Full 100 100 100 100
Enodev Argentine Argentina Full 100 100 100 100
Oeneo Australasia Australia Full 100 100 100 100
Diamant Closures PTY LTD Australia Full 100 100 100 100
Industrial Oeneo Sudamericana Chile Full 100 100 100 100
Vivelys Chili Chile Full 100 100 100 100
Beijing Vida China Equity 35 35 35 35
Diam Corchos SA (formerly Corchos de Merida) Spain Full 100 100 100 100
Discosaga Spain Equity 50 50 50 50
Piedade Corcho Spain Full 100 100 100 100
Diam Closures USA (formerly Oeneo Closures USA) United States Full 100 100 100 100
Seguin Moreau Napa Cooperage United States Full 100 100 100 100
Vivelys USA United States Full 100 100 100 100
Diam Bouchage (formerly Oeneo Bouchage) France Full 100 100 100 100
Sambois France Full 100 100 100 100
Seguin Moreau & CIE France Full 100 100 100 100
Boise France France Full 100 100 100 100
Diam France France Full 100 100 100 100
Vivelys SAS France Full 100 100 100 100
Piedade France France Full 100 100 100 100
Société de Transformation Argonnaise du Bois France Full 100 100 100 100
Galileo France Full 52 52 – – 
Diam Sugheri Italy Full 80 80 80 80
Piedade SA Portugal Full 100 100 100 100
Pietec Portugal Full 100 100 100 100
Sà & Sobrinho Portugal Full 100 100 100 100

The only change in the scope of consolidation was the integration of Galiléo.

On 12 December 2017, the Group’s stake in Galiléo increased to 52% via the Group’s subsidiary Seguin Moreau. Galileo is a French 
company specialised in the design and manufacture of concrete vats for sustainable wine-making. This company was incubated within 
Seguin Moreau’s Research & Development department. The Group has a buyout option for the rest of the capital which can be 
exercised from 2021.

Since OENEO directly or indirectly holds the majority of voting rights, Galiléo has been fully consolidated.
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C. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AT 31 MARCH 2018

On 1st September 2017, Oeneo SA transferred its head offi ce to 16 Quai Louis XVIII, Bordeaux (33000).

As announced by the Group on 29 June 2017, the Board of Directors appointed Hervé Claquin as Chairman of the Board of Directors 
on 26 July 2017, to replace François Morinière who did not wish his term of offi ce to be renewed.

D. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 GOODWILL

Impairment test
Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units 
(CGUs).

These CGUs are then grouped together within the Group’s 
two operating sectors, i.e. Closures and Ageing, as defi ned under 
IFRS 8.

The fi nal goodwill from the Piedade Group was allocated to the 
various CGUs of the Closures operating sector, i.e. the Technical 
Closures CGU and the Diam Closures CGU (the legacy CGU 
of the Closures operating sector due to the synergies provided 
by that grouping).

The recoverable amount of CGUs was calculated on the basis 
of value in use. These calculations are based on the cash fl ow 
projection contained in the fi ve-year business plan approved by 
the Group’s executive management. Beyond that, cash fl ows are 
extrapolated using the estimated growth rates.

The discount rate is 7.3% for the Closures operating sector, and 
7.2% for Ageing. The perpetual growth rate is 1.50%. Since the 
tests conducted on the two operating sectors (groups of CGUs) 
showed no loss in value, no impairment loss was recognised. 
Moreover, it should be noted that prior to the acquisition of the 
Piedade Group, goodwill relating to the Closures operating sector 
had been fully impaired since 2004.

NET POSITIVE GOODWILL – CLOSURES

At 31 March 2018, net goodwill amounted to €31,792 thousand, 
unchanged from 2017.

NET POSITIVE GOODWILL – AGEING

At 31 March 2018, the net carrying amount of goodwill totalled 
€14,346 thousand, as against €14,277 thousand in the previous 
fi nancial year. The change in goodwill is due to:

 1 a positive currency effect of €(110) thousand relating to 
goodwill recognised in US dollars following the takeover of 
Fine Northern Oak by SMNAPA;

 1 the recognition of goodwill on the acquisition of 52% of 
GALILEO shares amounting to €181 thousand.

Sensitivity analysis
The Group conducted sensitivity analyses of the value in use of 
the Ageing and Closures CGUs under the following changes in 
key assumptions:

 1 a 1% fall in EBIT (Earnings Before Interest and Tax);

 1 a 1 percentage point increase in the discount rate to 8.2% 
and 8.3%;

 1 a 0.5 percentage point decrease in the growth rate to 1%.

Applying a discount rate of 8.2% and 8.3% (instead of 7.2% and 
7.3%), or a 1% reduction in EBIT, or a 0.5 point decrease in the 
perpetual growth rate, would not result in the Group’s write-
down of goodwill in its operating sectors.

Likewise, the simultaneous degradation of two out of three of 
these variables would not result in the Group’s write-down of 
its goodwill.
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Note 2 NON-CURRENT ASSETS, DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION

2.1 BREAKDOWN OF FIXED ASSETS

In thousands of euros

31/03/2018 31/03/2017

Gross

Depreciation, 
amortisation 

and provisions Net Net

Development expenses 1,539 (1,061) 478 283
Patents 7,030 (4,957) 2,073 2,004
Other intangible assets 3,033 (935) 2,098 2,464
Intangible assets in progress 23 – 23 138

TOTAL INTANGIBLE ASSETS 11,625 (6,953) 4,672 4,889
Land 8,031 (43) 7,988 6,678
Buildings 56,517 (22,324) 34,193 35,618
Ind. plant, tools and machinery 157,213 (92,176) 65,037 64,654
Transport equipment 528 (383) 145 271
Offi ce furn. and IT equipment 2,596 (1,913) 683 540
Other property, plant and equipment 5,676 (3,971) 1,705 1,488
Property, plant and equipment under construction(1) 9,945 – 9,945 5,459
Prepayments to suppliers of fi xed assets 64 – 64 646

TOTAL PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 240,570 (120,810) 119,760 115,354
Investments in associates 445 – 445 476
Other fi nancial assets 398 (1) 397 244

TOTAL NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS 843 (1) 842 720

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS 253,038 (127,764) 125,274 120,963
(1) Mainly relating to ageing and closures production facilities (including moulding machines, property reserve and pre-Diamant 4 studies) under installation at our 

French, Spanish and Portuguese sites.
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2.2 CHANGE IN FIXED ASSETS

In thousands of euros

Non-current assets, net

TotalIntangible Tangible Financial

VALUE AT 31 MARCH 2017 4,889 115,354 720 120,963
Increases, gross(1) 434 17,463 176 18,073
Changes in scope – 15 – 15
Profi t/(loss) of associates – – 17 17
Dividends paid by associates – – (40) (40)
Net value on disposal – (48) (13) (61)
Depreciation, amortisation and provisions (774) (10,103) – (10,877)
Reversals of provisions – – – – 
Reclassifi cations 221 (226) (1) (6)
IFRS 5 reclassifi cations – (2,094) (10) (2,104)
Currency translation adjustments (98) (601) (7) (706)

VALUE AT 31 MARCH 2018 4,672 119,760 842 125,274
(1) These amounts cover the purchase of production equipment and the cost of improvement of Closures production facilities totalling €7.9 million (in particular 

moulding machines, branding machine, sorting machine, washing machine, processing line, etc.), and French and American cooperage equipment amounting to 
€1.6 million.

2.3 CHANGE IN NON-CONSOLIDATED EQUITY INVESTMENTS

In thousands of euros

March 2018 March 2017

Gross value Provision Net value Net value

S.A ORECO (Cognac Economic Organisation) 103 – 103 68
Tonellerie Plantagenet 4 – 4 – 
NAÏO Technologies 102 – 102 – 

TOTAL EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT 31 MARCH 2018 209 – 209 68

In December 2017, the Group announced a partnership with Naïo Technologies. This partnership involves the acquisition of a minority 
stake (1.5%).

Naïo Technologies – set up in 2011 – produces agricultural robots for weeding, hoeing and harvesting purposes on cultivated land. 
These machines use technologies that limit the environmental impact and increase productivity.

As investing partner, the Group will provide the start-up with access to all of its winegrowing knowledge and its international networks.
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Note 3 OTHER CURRENT ASSETS AND OTHER LONG-TERM ASSETS

In thousands of euros March 2018 March 2017

Loans and guarantees 62 355
Prepaid expenses 1,817 2,266

TOTAL OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 1,879 2,621

Note 4 DEFERRED TAXES

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and these 
deferred tax assets and liabilities concern corporate income taxes accruing to the same tax authority.

The breakdown of (current and deferred) tax in the income statement is presented in Note 19.

4.1 CHANGE IN DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

In thousands of euros March 2017
Net profit/

(loss)

Currency 
translation 

adjustments
Other 

movements
Change in 

scope March 2018

Internal margin on inventory 1,888 (280) 1,608
Other temporary differences 1,905 99 21 2,025
Securities acquisition fees 220 (192) 28
Restatements 431 (132) 74 373
Regulated provisions (4,663) 123 (4,540)
Lease fi nancing (1,117) (437) (1,554)
Capitalisation of tax loss carryforwards(1) 3,478 (1,249) 8 2,237
IAS 16 – Property, Plant and Equipment (1,166) 203 13 (405) (1,355)
IAS 18 – Revenue 129 (129) – 
IAS 38 – Intangible Assets(2) (634) 149 29 (456)
IAS 32/39 – Financial Instruments 41 (16) 24
Long-term fi nancing – (131) 131 – 

TOTAL NET DEFERRED TAXES 512 (1,977) 63 (208) – (1,610)
Of which:

 1 Deferred tax assets 4,231 1,007
 1 Deferred tax liabilities (3,719) (2,617)

(1) In accordance with the accounting policies applied by the Group and described above, reversals of deferred tax assets for the period amounted to €1,249 
thousand and primarily break down as follows:
 - –€1,871 thousand was used during the period for the French tax consolidation group, Seguin Moreau and Diam Bouchage;
 - €289 thousand in deferred tax assets were recognised during the period for Vivelys SAS under a fi ve-year tax plan.
At the 31 March 2018 year-end, the Group recognised tax losses of €12.6 million that can be carried forward against the future taxable profi ts of the companies 
that generated these losses. They consist of losses of €5.5 million in France, which were fully capitalised, and €7.1 million in Portugal, of which €2.7 million was 
capitalised.

(2) Of which deferred tax liabilities on fair value adjustments linked to changes in scope in previous periods.

The tax reforms introduced in the United States and in France had no material impacts on the fi nancial statements.
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4.2 RECONCILIATION OF THEORETICAL AND ACTUAL TAX EXPENSE

In thousands of euros March 2018 March 2017 adjusted*

Net profi t/(loss) of the consolidated group 26,651 26,459
Net profi t/(loss) from discontinued operations (3,933) (1,736)
Income tax (11,074) (10,707)
Profi t/(loss) of associates 17 7
Pre-tax profi t/(loss) from continuing operations 41,641 38,895
Theoretical tax expense at 33.33% 13,879 12,964
Non-deductible expenses and non-taxable income(1) 268 404
Differences in rates for foreign companies (1,807) (1,433)
Differences in rates for French companies (352) (263)
Differences in rates for operations taxed at a reduced rate (1,189) (1,045)
Non-capitalised tax losses 115 13
Use of non-capitalised tax losses (670)
Tax losses capitalised in future periods (306) (331)
Contribution on dividends paid (241)
Tax credits (27) 18
Business contribution on value added (CVAE) 937 936
Other (203) 114

ACTUAL TAX EXPENSE 11,074 10,707
Effective tax rate 26.59% 27.53%

* Given its decision to dispose of Piedade’s natural and agglomerated corks/stoppers activities, the tax proof for 2017 was restated.
(1) “Non-deductible expenses and non-taxable income” includes the CICE, recognised in employee benefi ts expense (see Note 16). This is non-taxable, thereby 

generating a tax saving of €231 thousand.

There is a tax consolidation agreement between Oeneo and the 
following companies: Seguin Moreau & Cie, Sambois, Stab, Diam 
Bouchage, Diam France, Boisé France and Vivelys SAS.

Each subsidiary recognises its tax as if it were taxed separately. 
Oeneo recognises and retains tax savings made by the Group as 
a result of tax consolidation in relation to tax losses and capital 
losses.

Subsidiaries can use their tax loss carryforwards once they return 
to profi t. OENEO will then incur the tax expense for the amount 
of tax losses or capital losses previously transferred.

If a subsidiary leaves the tax consolidation group, no compensation 
will be granted by OENEO to that subsidiary in respect of the 
additional tax costs triggered by its membership of the group. 
Tax losses incurred during tax consolidation and not used by the 
subsidiary will accrue to OENEO as the Group holding company.
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Note 5 INVENTORIES AND WORK IN PROGRESS

In thousands of euros Raw materials
Work in 

progress
Finished products 

and goods for resale Total

NET VALUES AT 31/03/2016 70,896 9,143 23,863 103,902
Changes during the period 11,042 688 (3,452) 8,278
Increase/Reversal in provisions 830 16 809 1,655
Net balance at end of period 82,768 9,847 21,220 113,835
Gross values 83,894 10,421 21,760 116,075
Provisions (1,126) (574) (540) (2,240)

NET VALUES AT 31/03/2017 82,768 9,847 21,220 113,835
Changes during the period (8,696) (816) 362 (9,150)
Increase/Reversal in provisions 675 174 122 971
Net balance at end of period 74,747 9,205 21,704 105,656
Gross values 75,198 9,605 22,122 106,925
Provisions (451) (400) (418) (1,269)

NET VALUES AT 31/03/2018 74,747 9,205 21,704 105,656

Note 6 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

In thousands of euros March 2018 March 2017
Due from suppliers 2,507 243
Trade receivables 62,323 63,256
Tax and employee-related receivables 4,316 5,421
Other receivables 2,355 2,254
Provisions (1,007) (6,340)

TOTAL TRADE RECEIVABLES 70,494 64,834

The fi gures as at 31 March 2017 have not been restated to refl ect discontinued operations and include €4,800 thousand in provisions 
on trade receivables relating to the PIEDADE Group.
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OUTSTANDING RECEIVABLES

In thousands of euros
Carrying 
amount

Of which 
financial assets 
not overdue or 

impaired at the 
reporting date

Of which financial assets overdue but 
not impaired at the reporting date Of which 

impaired 
financial 

assets<1 month 1-3 months
Beyond 

3 months

Trade receivables 63,256 46,434 5,491 2,605 2,386 6,340

TOTAL AT 31 MARCH 2017 63,256 46,434 5,491 2,605 2,386 6,340

In thousands of euros
Carrying 
amount

Of which 
financial assets 
not overdue or 

impaired at the 
reporting date

Of which financial assets overdue but 
not impaired at the reporting date Of which 

impaired 
financial 

assets<1 month 1-3 months
Beyond 

3 months

Trade receivables 62,323 48,738 7,866 2,045 2,667 1,007

TOTAL AT 31 MARCH 2018 62,323 48,738 7,866 2,045 2,667 1,007

Note 7 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The net cash position is detailed in Note 21, “Analysis of net cash and cash equivalents and fi nancial debt”.

Available cash amounted to €53,193 thousand at 31 March 2018.
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Note 8 ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND INCOME STATEMENT RELATING 
TO DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Given its positioning in high added value technological products, 
the Oeneo Group decided to withdraw from the natural and 
agglomerated corks/stoppers activities of the PIEDADE Group.

In the consolidated fi nancial statements at 31 March 2018, in 
accordance with IFRS 5, this activity is presented in the income 
statement as a discontinued operation.

(A) BALANCE SHEET – ASSETS

In thousands of euros 31/03/2018

Goodwill – 
Intangible assets – 
Property, plant and equipment 2,094
Non-current fi nancial assets 10
Deferred taxes 396

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 2,500
Inventories and work in progress 8,433
Trade and other receivables 4,636
Tax receivables 138
Other current assets 39
Cash and cash equivalents – 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 13,246

TOTAL ASSETS 15,746

(B) BALANCE SHEET – LIABILITIES

In thousands of euros 31/03/2018

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT 11,485
Non-controlling interests – 

TOTAL EQUITY 11,485
Loans and other borrowings – 
Employee benefi t obligations – 
Other provisions – 
Deferred taxes – 
Other non-current liabilities 214

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 214
Bank loans and other borrowings (portion < 1 year) – 
Provisions (portion < 1 year) – 
Trade and other payables 3,565
Other current liabilities 482

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 4,047

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 15,746
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(C) INCOME STATEMENT

In thousands of euros 31/03/2018 31/03/2017

Revenue 20,533 24,393
Other revenue from operating activities 0 – 
Purchases used in the business (15,885) (17,473)
External expenses (2,980) (3,943)
Employee benefi ts expense (2,975) (3,615)
Taxes (29) (27)
Depreciation and amortisation (781) (609)
Net increase in provisions (1,501) 28
Change in work in progress and fi nished product inventories – – 
Other current income/(expenses) (42) (41)
Current operating profi t (3,661) (1,287)
Other non-current operating income and expenses (66) (136)
Operating profi t (3,728) (1,423)
Income from cash and cash equivalents 0 – 
Cost of gross fi nancial debt (200) (158)
Cost of net fi nancial debt (200) (158)
Other fi nancial income/expenses (4) (18)

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX (3,933) (1,599)
Income tax 0 (137)

PROFIT/LOSS AFTER TAX (3,933) (1,736)
Profi t/(loss) of associates – – 
Net profi t (3,933) (1,736)
Non-controlling interests – – 

NET PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT (3,933) (1,736)
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(D) STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

In thousands of euros 31/03/2018 31/03/2017

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Consolidated net profi t/(loss) (3,933) (1,736)
Elimination of the share of income of associates
Elimination of amortisation, depreciation and provisions 781 (609)
Elimination of net profi t on disposal and dilution gains and losses
Income and expenses calculated on share-based payments
Other non-cash income and expenses

= CASH FLOW AFTER COST OF DEBT (3,152) (2,345)
Income tax expense – 137
Cost of net fi nancial debt 200 158

= CASH FLOW BEFORE COST OF NET FINANCIAL DEBT AND INCOME TAX EXPENSE (2,952) (2,050)
Taxes paid – – 
Change in working capital requirement related to operating activities 2,740 1,997

= NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (212) (53)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Impact of changes in scope – 
Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets – 
Acquisition of fi nancial assets – 
Disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets – 
Disposal of fi nancial assets – 
Change in loans and advances outstanding – 

= NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES – – 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition and disposal of treasury shares – – 
Debt issuance – – 
Debt repayment – – 
Net interest paid (200) (158)
Dividends paid by the parent company – – 
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests – – 
Impact of exchange rate movements – – 
Impact of changes in accounting policies
Change in cash and cash equivalents (412) (211)
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Note 9 CONTRIBUTED CAPITAL

9.1 COMPOSITION OF CONTRIBUTED CAPITAL

In thousands of euros
Number of 

ordinary shares Par value
Contributed 

capital
Value of additional 

paid-in capital Total

AT 31/03/2016 61,614,555 1 61,615 12,213 73,829
Capital increase(1) 1,289,631 1 1,290 6,429 7,719

AT 31/03/2017 62,904,186 1 62,904 18,642 81,548
(1) The capital increase stems from the conversion of 6,200 convertible bonds (ORA) giving rise to the issuance of 186,000 shares, and the portion of Oeneo 

dividends paid in new shares amounting to 1,103,631 ordinary shares with a par value of €1 each.

In thousands of euros
Number of 

ordinary shares Par value
Contributed 

capital
Value of additional 

paid-in capital Total

AT 31/03/2017 62,904,186 1 62,904 18,642 81,548
Capital increase(1) 276,657 1 277 2,022 2,299

AT 31/03/2018 63,180,843 1 63,181 20,664 83,847
(1) The capital increase stems from the portion of Oeneo dividends paid in new shares, amounting to 276,657 ordinary shares with a par value of €1 each.

9.2 ALLOCATION OF FREE SHARES

Plan no. 10 of 22 July 2015
Free shares were awarded to senior executives and employees 
(107,425 shares).

The free shares vest two years after the award date, provided 
the benefi ciaries are still employees or corporate offi cers of the 
Group or one of its associates at the end of the vesting period, 
i.e. on 22 July 2017.

The fair value of the free shares awarded in 2015 is €704 thousand. 
Vested shares are recognised in the income statement (employee 
benefits expense) with a corresponding entry to equity of 
€95 thousand.

Plan no. 11 of 25 July 2016
Free shares were awarded to senior executives and employees 
(116,800 shares). The share awards will vest after a year, namely 
on 25 July 2017.

The fair value of the free shares awarded in 2016 is €873 thousand. 
Vested shares are recognised in the income statement (employee 
benefits expense) with a corresponding entry to equity of 
€266 thousand.

Plan no.12 of 5 September 2016 
(effective date: 1 October 2016)
Free shares were awarded to a senior executive (45,872 shares).

The share awards vest after a year, namely on 1 October 2017.

The fair value of the free shares awarded in 2016 is €380 thousand.

Plan no. 13 of 26 July 2017
Free shares were awarded to senior executives and employees 
(116,746 shares). The share awards will vest after a year, namely 
on 26 July 2018.

The fair value of the free shares awarded in 2017 is 
€1,059 thousand. Vested shares are recognised in the income 
statement (employee benefi ts expense) with a corresponding 
entry to equity of €734 thousand.

Plan no. 14 of 26 July 2017
Free shares were awarded to a senior executive (26,420 shares).

The share awards will vest after a year, namely on 26 July 2018.

The fair value of the free shares awarded in 2017 is €242 thousand. 
Vested shares are recognised in the income statement (employee 
benefits expense) with a corresponding entry to equity of 
€164 thousand.

The total expense for the rights vesting under plans 10 to 
14 was €1,260 thousand at 31 March 2018 (see. 4. Consolidated 
statement of changes in equity).
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Free shares (unit)

AT 31/03/2016 194,387
Granted 162,172
Awarded (86,962)
Void – 

AT 31/03/2017 269,597
Granted 143,166
Awarded (256,397)
Void – 

AT 31/03/2018 156,366

9.3 CONVERTIBLE BONDS

There are no longer any convertible bonds still to be converted pursuant to the initial agreement of 2009.

Note 10 RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS

In thousands of euros
Legal 

Reserve

Group 
consolidation 

reserve

Group 
translation 

reserve

Total attributable 
to equity holders 

of the parent

BALANCE AT 31/03/2016 6,077 81,115 2,370 89,563
Foreign currency translation reserve – – 1,099 1,099
Actuarial gains and losses, net of tax – (5) – (5)
Deferred taxes on convertible bond subscription fees (equity) – (13) – (13)
Other fi nancial instruments – 199 – 199

INCOME AND EXPENSES RECOGNISED DIRECTLY IN EQUITY 6,077 81,296 3,469 90,843
Allocation of earnings 132 23,365 – 23,497
Dividends – (7,989) – (7,989)
Convertible bonds – (209) – (209)
Treasury shares and share-based payments – 1,042 – 1,042

BALANCE AT 31/03/2017 6,209 97,508 3,469 107,187
Foreign currency translation reserve – – (2,792) (2,792)
Actuarial gains and losses, net of tax – (231) – (231)
Other fi nancial instruments – 31 – 31

INCOME AND EXPENSES RECOGNISED DIRECTLY IN EQUITY 6,209 97,308 678 104,195
Allocation of earnings – 26,412 – 26,412
Dividends(1) – (8,843) – (8,843)
Convertible bonds – – – – 
Treasury shares and share-based payments – (2,605) – (2,605)
Other changes – – – – 

BALANCE AT 31/03/2018 6,209 112,271 678 119,159
(1) The dividends are detailed in the “Consolidated statement of changes in equity”.
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Note 11 LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

11.1 BREAKDOWN OF LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS ACCORDING TO THE TYPE OF FUNDING

In thousands of euros March 2018 March 2017
Bank loans > 1 year (a) 57,580 75,887
Lease fi nancing (b) 6,403 9,844
Financial instruments (d) 68 115
Other fi nancial liabilities (e) 3,441 4,090

NON-CURRENT LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS 67,492 89,936
Bank loans < 1 year (a) 24,791 20,373
Short-term bank borrowings < 1 year (c) 4,162 2,063
Lease fi nancing (b) 3,441 3,433
Other fi nancial liabilities (e) 1,776 1,565

CURRENT LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS 34,170 27,434

TOTAL LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS 101,662 117,370

These consist of:

(a) Bank loans
The Group has €82.4 million in bank borrowings, comprised as 
follows:

 1 €27.4 million to fi nance investments in Spain, €9.0 million of 
which was arranged during the fi nancial year;

 1 €7.2 million to finance the Diam France investments, 
€5.2 million of which was for Diamant III;

 1 €1.9 million in fi nance for Vivelys acquisitions in 2014/2015;

 1 €0.9 million in fi nance for Boisé France;

 1 €1.8 million to fi nance Seguin Moreau investments**;

 1 and fi nancing of €43.2 million in connection with the acquisition 
of PIEDADE SA*.

Except for the covenants relating to the financing of the 
acquisition of PIEDADE SA* and the Seguin Moreau 
investments**, which were complied with at 31 March 2018, the 
Group was not subject to any other covenant on the borrowings 
listed above(1). 

Notes:

In the United States: Seguin Moreau Napa Cooperage has a 
credit facility, subject to covenants, of up to USD 9 million expiring 
on 13 January 2019. At 31 March 2018, this credit facility had 
not been used.

Finally, in France, the Group has a total short-term bilateral facility 
of €38.0 million, granted until 30 April 2019 (including €3.0 million 
confi rmed until 30 April 2019 and €7 million confi rmed for an 
indefi nite period), along with an additional €50.0 million revolving 
credit facility for a maximum of 7 years, bringing the available total 
to €88.0 million. These facilities were not in use at 31 March 2018.

(b) Lease financing
Finance lease liabilities mainly consist of €18.5 million in equipment 
fi nance arranged in 2014/2015 for the Diamant III plant. Of this, 
€9.8 million was still outstanding at the end of the 2017/2018 
fi nancial year.

(c) Short-term bank borrowings
At 31 March 2018, the outstanding balance on the short-term 
bank borrowings mainly stemmed from the factoring facility, which 
amounted to €3.0 million in Portugal and €1.0 million in Spain.

Note:

In Spain: a factoring line for trade receivables was negotiated for 
a total of €7.0 million (€4.0 million with BSCH and €3.0 million 
with CAIXA) at the one-month EURIBOR rate plus a spread. 
At 31 March 2018, this facility had been used in the amount of 
€1.0 million.

In Italy: the Italian subsidiary has access to a shor t-term 
discounting line for its trade receivables totalling €180 thousand 
and a factoring agreement for its trade receivables for a maximum 
of €700 thousand, which is unused.

(1) The Group is required to comply with covenants relating to the short-term US credit line, loans in respect of the acquisition of the Piedade* group and to loans 
in respect of Seguin Moreau France** investments. All of these covenants were complied with at 31 March 2018.



80

2 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated fi nancial statements

(d) Financial instruments
An interest rate SWAP hedge was arranged for Oeneo and Diam 
France. The swaption was valued at –€68.1 thousand at 31 March 
2018 and qualifi es as a cash fl ow hedge. It is allocated as follows:

 1 Oeneo: €4.8 thousand;

 1 Diam France: €63.3 thousand.

(e) Other financial liabilities
At 31 March 2018, other financial liabilities totalled 
€5,217 thousand. They mainly consist of the following:

 1 €2,000 thousand payable to the French SME development 
agency Oséo and €427 thousand to BPI;

 1 employee profi t-sharing for €1,093 thousand;

 1 a liability arising from the consolidation of PIEDADE companies, 
amounting to €1,560 thousand (IAPMEI) was added to the 
debt;

 1 a liability of €137 thousand (accrued interest, deposits and 
guarantees, etc.).

11.2 REPAYMENT SCHEDULE

The repayment schedule for other borrowings recognised in the statement of fi nancial position is as follows:

In thousands of euros March 2018 March 2017
Within 1 year 34,170 27,434
1 to 5 years 65,918 83,830
Beyond 5 years 1,574 6,106

TOTAL LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS 101,662 117,370

The increase in liabilities payable within one year was due to the use of the credit facilities in Portugal and in Spain.

11.3 BREAKDOWN BY TYPE OF RATE

The breakdown by type of rate on loans and other borrowings is as follows:

In thousands of euros

March 2018

Euro zone Other Total
Fixed rate 71,449 – 71,449
Floating rate 30,213 – 30,213

TOTAL BY RATE 101,662 – 101,662

The net position of fl oating-rate debt is as follows:

In thousands of euros March 2018 March 2017
Level of medium/long-term fl oating-rate debt 24,965 20,030
Level of short-term fl oating-rate debt 5,248 9,584

TOTAL FLOATING-RATE DEBT 30,213 29,614
Interest rate swaps outstanding (10,693) (13,965)

NET POSITION AFTER HEDGING 19,520 15,649
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11.4 BREAKDOWN BY CURRENCY

In thousands of euros March 2018 March 2017
EUR 101,662 111,007
USD – 6,363

TOTAL 101,662 117,370

Note 12 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

In thousands of euros March 2018 March 2017

Provisions for retirement obligations 3,352 3,093
Provisions for long-service awards 79 85

TOTAL EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 3,431 3,178

The retirement obligations of the OENEO Group’s French 
companies are funded on the basis of the cost method in 
proportion to length of service. The Group calculates the 
provision taking into account staff turnover, life expectancy, wage 
growth and discounting of sums payable.

The other criteria used for the calculation are:

 1 annual salary increase rate:

 1 2.0% non-managers,

 1 2.5% managers;

 1 annual infl ation rate: 2.0%;

 1 Iboxx AA10+ discount rate: 1.37%;

 1 retirement age: between 60 and 67 years;

 1 voluntary retirement terms: 100%;

 1 statutory mortality rate prescribed by the French Insurance 
Code: INSEE 2013-2015.

The impact on profi t or loss for the period of employee benefi t 
obligations is €52 thousand.

The impact on reserves for the period of actuarial gains and 
losses (application of the revised IAS 19) for employee retirement 
benefi t obligations is €(305) thousand before tax. In addition, 
the provision for the retirement benefi ts of the founders of the 
subsidiary Pietec stands at €1,771 thousand.
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Note 13 PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES

In thousands of euros Note
March 
2017 Additions

Reversals, 
amounts 

used

Reversals, 
amounts 
not used Reclass

Translation 
difference

Change 
in scope

March 
2018

Disputes [a] 918 143 – (112) – – – 949
Restructuring 11 – – – – 11

TOTAL NON-CURRENT 
PROVISIONS 929 143 – (112) – – – 960
Disputes [a] 1,041 47 (848) – – – – 240
Restructuring 8 – (8) – – – – 
Tax risks [b] 250 116 (156) (84) – (10) – 116
Other risks 230 230

TOTAL CURRENT 
PROVISIONS 1,299 393 (1,012) (84) – (10) – 586

Note (a):  The Group automatically accrues provisions for any dispute with a third party if this is legal or contractual in nature (civil liability for damages caused 
to another person or non-fulfi lment of a contractual obligation prior to the reporting date, even if such damage is discovered after the reporting 
date). Since 2002, the Group has improved its dispute monitoring procedures, particularly for customer disputes. All customer complaints are entered 
in a database, enabling them to be identifi ed and individually followed up.

  Accrued provisions include compensation or damages potentially payable to customers. The Group estimates how much it could have to pay out following 
a settlement or court ruling, taking into account the direction of exchange rates. They include disputes with employees and the ancillary costs that may be 
incurred, such as legal or consulting fees and court costs. For each dispute, the Group considers whether its insurer might cover the dispute. Provisions are 
adjusted according to the latest information available at each reporting date.

  At 31 March 2018, provisions for sundry third-party disputes amounting to €830 thousand had been reversed in the Closures division, out of a total 
of €848 thousand.

Note (b):  At 31 March 2017, a provision for tax risks was booked following the tax audit of a subsidiary outside the Euro zone. At 31 March 2018, a provision 
reversal of €156 thousand was recognised on the amounts used, in view of the notifi cation received.
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Note 14 OTHER CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

In thousands of euros March 2018 March 2017

Other operating liabilities(1) – 7,828
Other non-operating liabilities 52 49
Deferred income(2) 8,587 8,051

TOTAL OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 8,639 15,928
Deferred income(2) 998 3,904
Tax liabilities 2,162 3,321
Other operating liabilities(1) 9,494

TOTAL OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES 12,654 7,225
(1) During the 2013/2014 fi nancial year, an investment scheme was set up for Group managers. The plan links its management over the medium/long-term to value 

creation, allowing management to invest up to €0.9 million in Diam Bouchage and Seguin Moreau & Cie, in the form of ordinary and preference shares.
Preference shares can be converted into ordinary shares subject to a fi ve-year vesting period, expiring in March 2018. The shares will be vested at the end 
of the period if the performance targets set at the beginning of the plan are reached.
Based on a model including several scenarios for the unfolding of the 2013/2018 business plan, the amount of the commitment – recognised under 
“Other non-current liabilities” in the amount of €7.7 million at 31 March 2017, and under “Other current operating liabilities” in the amount of €9.5 million 
at 31 March 2018 – include the amount of the initial investment (€0.9 million) and a current expense of €1.8 million recognised for the year.

(2) “Deferred income” mainly consists of investment grants recognised by Diam Corchos, Diamant Technologie, Diam Bouchage, Sambois and Diam France 
for €8.8 million and by Piedade, Pietec and Sobrinho for €0.6 million (the grants recognised are then reversed through profi t or loss in line with depreciation 
on the assets funded).

Note 15 REVENUE

In thousands of euros March 2018 March 2017 Change

France 73,203 71,571 1,632
Export 175,415 150,617 24,798

TOTAL REVENUE 248,618 222,188 26,430
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Note 16 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE

In thousands of euros March 2018 March 2017 Adjusted

Salaries and wages (34,320) (34,420)
Social security contributions(1) (12,940) (12,304)
Employee profi t-sharing (1,096) (1,140)
Provisions for retirement benefi t obligations (67) (103)

TOTAL EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (48,423) (47,967)
(1) Including income of €717 thousand relating to the competitiveness and employment tax credit (CICE).

Note 17 OTHER NON-CURRENT OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES

In thousands of euros March 2018 March 2017 Adjusted

Disputes(1) (148) (1,350)
Restructuring(2) (1,152) (1,059)
Tax risks(3) (104) (220)
Net gains/losses on disposal of non-current assets (19) (186)
Other(4) (1,404) (685)

TOTAL OTHER NON-CURRENT OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES (2,827) (3,500)
(1) Includes the costs of disputes with third parties incurred to protect the Group’s industrial property.
(2) Mainly includes Piedade restructuring and redundancy costs and Oeneo governance costs.
(3) Mainly includes the impacts of a tax audit conducted in a subsidiary outside the Euro zone.
(4) Of which €0.3 million for the transfer of the registered offi ce and €0.7 million as a result of an industrial accident in the Closures division.

Changes in provisions for liabilities and charges are detailed in Note 13.

Note 18 OTHER FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES

In thousands of euros March 2018 March 2017 Adjusted
Net profi t/fi nancial assets (excluding cash equiv.) 1 5
Other net fi nancial expense (53) (23)
Other net fi nancial income 53 31

TOTAL OTHER FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES EXCLUDING FOREIGN EXCHANGE 1 13
Foreign exchange gains 393 940
Foreign exchange losses (1,305) (652)

NET FOREIGN EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS (1) (912) 288

TOTAL OTHER FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES (911) 301
(1) Including net unrealised foreign exchange losses of €0.9 million on the conversion into euros of the intra-Group debts of foreign subsidiaries (USD-AUD, 

Argentinian and Chilean pesos) due to the strengthening of the euro.
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Note 19 BREAKDOWN OF INCOME TAX

In thousands of euros March 2018 march 2017 Adjusted

Tax payable(1) (9,097) (9,117)
Deferred tax (1,977) (1,590)

TOTAL INCOME TAX (11,074) (10,707)
(1) Of which –€937 thousand relates to the business contribution on value added (CVAE), versus –€936 thousand at 31 March 2017.

Note 20 EARNINGS PER SHARE

20.1 DILUTIVE INSTRUMENTS

At 31 March 2018, the number of securities convertible to equity was as follows:

Number of securities
Giving rights to 

number of securities

Shares* 63,160,844 63,160,844
Free shares 156,366 156,366
Convertible bonds – – 

TOTAL 63,317,210 63,317,210
* The number of shares indicated excludes treasury shares.

20.2 EARNINGS PER SHARE

The level of earnings taken into account is that accruing to the consolidating entity, i.e. “Net profi t attributable to equity holders of the 
parent”. Basic earnings per share are obtained by dividing profi t attributable to equity holders of the parent by the weighted average 
number of shares outstanding during the period.

In thousands of euros March 2018 March 2017 Adjusted

Net profi t of the consolidated group – attributable to equity holders of the parent 26,603 26,412
Net profi t from continuing operations – attributable to equity holders of the parent 30,536 28,148
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 62,626,686 61,879,328
Basic earnings per share of the consolidated group (€ per share) 0.42 0.43
Basic earnings per share for continuing operations (€ per share) 0.49 0.45
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20.3 DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

The level of earnings taken into account is Net profi t attributable 
to equity holders of the parent. The weighted average number 
of shares is adjusted for the maximum impact of the conversion 
of the dilutive instruments into ordinary shares.

Dilutive instruments are instruments that can be converted 
into equity of the parent company (e.g. convertible bonds or 
warrants), where any future issuance of ordinary shares leads to 
a reduction in earnings per share.

For the calculation, all dilutive instruments issued by the parent 
company are used, regardless of their term and the likelihood 
of conversion into ordinary shares, treating each instrument 
separately, from the most to the least dilutive.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, 
used in the calculation of (basic) earnings per share, is adjusted 
for the number of shares that would be created as a result of 
the conversion of the convertible bonds.

In thousands of euros March 2018 March 2017 Adjusted

Net earnings of the consolidated group – attributable to equity holders of the parent 26,603 26,412
Net earnings from continuing operations – attributable to equity holders of the parent 30,536 28,148
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share 62,829,452 62,188,131
Diluted earnings per share of the consolidated group (€ per share) 0.42 0.42
Diluted earnings per share for continuing operations (€ per share) 0.49 0.45

Note 21 ANALYSIS OF NET CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND FINANCIAL DEBT

21.1 ANALYSIS OF NET CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

In thousands of euros Note March 2018 March 2017

Bank accounts 18,155 27,321

SUB-TOTAL CASH 18,155 27,321
Marketable securities – gross 35,038 40,032

CASH ASSETS 7 53,193 67,353
Bank accounts (4,162) (2,063)

CASH LIABILITIES 11 (4,162) (2,063)

NET CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 49,031 65,290

21.2 ANALYSIS OF NET FINANCIAL DEBT

In thousands of euros Note March 2018 March 2017

Bank loans (82,371) (96,260)
Short-term bank borrowings (4,162) (2,063)
Lease fi nancing (9,844) (13,277)
Financial instruments (68) (115)
Other fi nancial liabilities (5,217) (5,655)

GROSS FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 11 (101,662) (117,370)
Cash and cash equivalents 53,193 67,353

FINANCIAL ASSETS 7 53,193 67,353

NET FINANCIAL DEBT (48,469) (50,017)
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Note 22 SEGMENT REPORTING

The information presented is based on internal reporting used 
by management to assess the performance of different segments.

The benchmark used is current operating profi t.

Oeneo Group management identifi es three operating segments:

 1 “Ageing”, which comprises wine ageing activities,

 1 “Closures”, which comprises wine closure activities,

 1 other activities (holding company).

The Company’s chief operating decision maker within the 
meaning of IFRS 8 is the Chief Executive Offi cer.

OPERATING SECTORS

In thousands of euros

Income statement/statement 
of financial position March 2018

Income statement/statement of financial 
position March 2017 Adjusted*

A C H I TOTAL A C H I Total

Revenue 85,518 163,100 – – 248,618 85,170 137,018 – – 222,188
Current operating profi t 16,505 33,764 (3,815) – 46,454 16,056 31,749 (4,497) – 43,308
Total assets 145,088 244,357 142,828 (110,201) 422,072 142,497 236,544 123,833 (81,788) 421,086
Acq. prop., plnt & eqpmt 2,579 14,796 88 – 17,463 3,871 8,519 124 – 12,514
Acq. intang. assets 165 223 46 – 434 347 235 – – 582
Depreciation, amort. 
and provisions (1,667) (5,983) (268) – (7,918) (1,548) (8,809) 40 – (10,317)
Capital employed 114,212 153,896 (1,387) – 266,721 103,697 158,637 2,977 – 265,312
ROR (Return on revenue) 19% 21% – – – 19% 19% – – – 
ROCE (Return on capital 
employed) 14% 22% – – – 15% 19% – – – 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 
EXCLUDING EQUITY 64,590 176,296 61,392 (109,944) 192,334 63,955 151,584 71,943 (81,690) 205,792

A: Ageing; C: Closures; H: Holding company **; I: Intersegment elimination.
* Restated for IFRS 5.
** So that operating segments only cover their own expenses, the cost of funding in relation to OENEO’s fi nancial position and the costs of running a listed holding 

company have remained at the holding company level.

GEOGRAPHICAL REGIONS

In the table below: revenue is presented by destination of products 
sold, and investments and assets by geographical location of the 
consolidated subsidiary.

In accordance with IFRS 8, the non-current assets to be presented 
by geographical region are non-current assets other than fi nancial 
instruments and deferred tax assets and surpluses paid on 
retirement benefi t obligations.
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REVENUE BY GEOGRAPHICAL REGION

In thousands of euros March 2018 March 2017 Adjusted

France 73,203 71,571
Europe 84,180 68,633
Americas 59,652 55,267
Oceania 12,527 9,852
Rest of the world 19,056 16,865

TOTAL REVENUE 248,618 222,188

ASSETS BY GEOGRAPHICAL REGION

In thousands of euros March 2018 March 2017

France 280,052 282,791
Europe 96,711 89,868
Americas 40,291 43,455
Oceania 4,886 4,837
Rest of the world 132 135

TOTAL ASSETS 422,072 421,086

BREAKDOWN OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS EXCLUDING TAXES AND FINANCIAL ASSETS 
BY GEOGRAPHICAL REGION

In thousands of euros March 2018 March 2017
France 72,405 71,099
Europe 89,429 85,772
Americas 8,146 8,862
Oceania 592 579
Rest of the world – – 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS EXCLUDING TAXES AND FINANCIAL ASSETS 170,572 166,312
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Note 23 HEADCOUNT

Average headcount Headcount at year-end

March 2018 March 2017 March 2018 March 2017

Managers 161 155 163 161
Technicians/Supervisors 136 134 134 134
Offi ce staff 106 99 98 101
Labourers 701 695 697 698

TOTAL HEADCOUNT 1,104 1,083 1,092 1,094
Of which:

 1 Closures 725 710 722 734
 1 Ageing 370 366 362 351
 1 Holding 8 8 8 10

Note 24 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the reporting date, we were not aware of any contingent liabilities likely to impact the Group’s consolidated fi nancial statements.

Note 25 DIVIDENDS

The Combined General Meeting of 26 July 2017 approved the distribution of a dividend of €0.14 per share. Shareholders could opt 
for payment of the dividend in cash or in new shares. Shareholders opting for share-based payment could do so from 31 July 2017 until 
7 September 2017. Shareholders who opted for share-based payment represented 26.28% of OENEO shares. The cash dividend was 
paid out on 18 September 2017 for a total of €6,465,102, plus a balancing payment of €15,044.
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Note 26 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In thousands of euros March 2018 March 2017

ON THE INCOME STATEMENT
Revenue(1) 4,903 4,718
Purchases(1) (37) 7
Services(2) (439) 948
ON THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Trade receivables(1) 232 144
Trade payables(1) (2) (267) (62)

(1) Various OENEO Group companies, both in closures and ageing, are suppliers to the Rémy Cointreau Group, of which Andromède is also a shareholder through the 
company Orpar.

(2) The Andromède agreement relates to Group fi nancial audit and management services provided by Andromède to OENEO SA. OENEO pays a fl at-rate fee 
(excluding tax) for the services rendered.

COMPENSATION OF EXECUTIVES AND OTHER MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors defi nes compensation arrangements based on recommendations from the Compensation Committee.

The Board of Directors approves performance criteria primarily based on the fi nancial indicators to be taken into account when 
setting executive pay.

In thousands of euros March 2018 March 2017

Management bodies (performance-related and director’s fees) 452 739
Other members of the Board of Directors (directors’ fees) 255 235

TOTAL SHORT-TERM BENEFITS 
(gross amounts, excluding amounts exceeding social payment allowances) 707 974
Post-employment benefi ts – – 
Other long-term benefi ts and termination benefi ts 175 325
Expenses related to share plan and similar schemes 490 810

TOTAL COMPENSATION 1,372 2,109
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Note 27 OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS

Monitoring off-balance sheet commitments is reported twice a year at the level of the Group’s fi nance department, through audits of 
the accounts of subsidiaries and consolidation of the Group accounts. In addition, signifi cant off-balance sheet commitments require 
prior authorisation from the Group’s fi nance department as a minimum.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS RELATING TO ORDINARY OPERATIONS

In thousands of euros March 2018 March 2017

Guarantees, security and collateral given(a) 8,705 8,705
Purchase of currency futures(b) 1,425
Interest rate swaps(c) 10,693 13,965
Property lease payments not yet due(d) 967 865

TOTAL OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS 21,790 23,535
(a) This amount corresponds to:

 - collateral security given by Oeneo to SGN bank on 9 December 2009 in respect of a bank facility arranged for the Boisé & France subsidiary 
for €1,529 thousand;

 - collateral security given to Novo Banco bank in respect of a bank facility arranged for Piedade for €4,625 thousand;
 - guarantees, security and collateral given by Oeneo to third parties in connection with the acquisition of PIEDADE for €2,551 thousand.

(b) Forward purchase of US dollars from LCL bank amounting to €1,425 thousand.
(c) This amount corresponds to interest rate hedging designed to reduce the Group’s exposure to risks associated with interest rate fl uctuations as follows:

 - swaps by Oeneo with Palatine bank for a notional amount of €1,267 thousand at 31 March 2018;
 - swaps by Diam France with LCL bank for a notional amount of €9,426 thousand at 31 March 2018;
 - forward purchase of US dollars from LCL bank amounting to €1,425 thousand.

(d) Property lease payments not yet due represent the sums for which the Group companies in question would remain liable despite termination on their part, 
pursuant to applicable contractual and regulatory provisions. The table below details the schedule for the main outstanding lease payments:

In thousands of euros March 2018 March 2017

Within 1 year 302 352
1 to 5 years 665 513
Over 5 years – – 

MINIMUM PROPERTY LEASE PAYMENTS PAYABLE 967 865

COMPLEX OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS

The Group has not reported any complex off-balance sheet commitments.

Note 28 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 4 April 2018, OENEO acquired 51% of the share capital of Tonnellerie Millet (Gironde).

On 29 May 2018, Seguin Moreau acquired 100% of the shares of SAS Scierie Parqueterie Cenci (Haute Saône), a company specialised 
in forestry and wood processing.
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Note 29 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

CHANGE IN WORKING CAPITAL REQUIREMENT

In thousands of euros 31/03/2018 31/03/2017 adjusted *

Impact of the change in net inventory and work in progress (3,172) (8,485)
Impact of the change in trade receivables and other net debtors (11,125) (276)
Impact of the change in trade payables and other creditors 987 (1,475)

IMPACT OF THE CHANGE IN WCR RELATING TO OPERATING ACTIVITIES (13,310) (10,236)
* The impact of the IFRS 5 adjustment on the change in WCR at 31/03/2017 was posted to “Trade and other payables” due to the lack of more precise 

information.

CASH FLOWS RELATING TO ASSET PURCHASES

In thousands of euros 31/03/2018 31/03/2017 adjusted

Purchases of intangible assets (434) (581)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (17,463) (12,558)
Acquisition of fi nancial assets (176)

TOTAL PURCHASES DURING THE PERIOD (18,073) (13,139)
Deferred payments 1,584 (60)

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE ON PROPERTY, PLANT 
AND EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (16,489) (13,199)

CASH FLOWS RELATING TO ACQUISITIONS/DISPOSALS OF CONSOLIDATED COMPANIES 
AND OPERATIONS

In thousands of euros 31/03/2018 31/03/2017

Amount paid for the year’s new acquisitions (208) – 
Amount received for the year’s disposals – – 
Cash and cash equivalents acquired or disposed of 90 – 
Amount paid for the purchase of non-controlling interests – – 
Amount paid for previous years’ acquisitions – (122)

ACQUISITIONS/DISPOSALS OF CONSOLIDATED COMPANIES AND 
OPERATIONS, NET OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ACQUIRED

(118) (122)

CASH FLOW FROM BOND ISSUANCE AND REDEMPTION

See Note 21.2 “Analysis of net fi nancial debt”.
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Note 30 BREAKDOWN OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

MARCH 2018

In thousands of euros

Available-
for-sale 

assets
Loans and 

receivables

Fair value 
through 

profit 
or loss

Hedging 
derivatives

Debt at 
amortised 

cost
Carrying 
amount

Fair 
value

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Non-current fi nancial assets – 842 – – – 842 842
Current assets
Trade and other receivables – 70,494 – – – 70,494 70,494
Cash and cash equivalents – 18,155 35,038 – – 53,193 53,193

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Non-current loans and other borrowings – – – – 67,424 67,424 67,424
Financial instruments – – – 68 – 68 68
Other non-current fi nancial liabilities – – – – – – – 
Current liabilities
Loans, other borrowings and bank borrowings – – – – 34,170 34,170 34,170
Financial instruments – – – – – – – 
Trade and other payables – – – – 57,613 57,613 57,613
Other current fi nancial liabilities – – – – – – – 

MARCH 2017

In thousands of euros

Available-
for-sale 

assets
Loans and 

receivables

Fair value 
through 
profit or 

loss
Hedging 

derivatives

Debt at 
amortised 

cost
Carrying 
amount

Fair 
value

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Non-current fi nancial assets – 720 – – – 720 720
Current assets
Trade and other receivables – 64,834 – – – 64,834 64,834
Cash and cash equivalents – 27,321 40,032 – – 67,353 67,353

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Non-current loans and other borrowings – – – – 89,821 89,821 89,821
Financial instruments – – – 115 – 115 115
Other non-current fi nancial liabilities – – – – – – – 
Current liabilities
Loans, other borrowings and bank borrowings – – – – 27,434 27,434 27,434
Financial instruments – – – – – – – 
Trade and other payables – – – – 56,144 56,144 56,144
Other current fi nancial liabilities – – – – – – – 
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2.3 STATUTORY AUDITORS’ REPORT 
ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 March 2018

To the General Shareholders’ Meeting of Oeneo,

Opinion
In compliance with the assignment entrusted to us by your 
General Shareholders’ Meeting, we have audited OENEO’s 
consolidated fi nancial statements for the fi nancial year ended 
31 March 2018, as appended to this report.

In our opinion, the consolidated fi nancial statements give a true 
and fair view of the past fi nancial year’s results from operations, as 
well as the fi nancial position and assets and liabilities at year-end 
of the Group comprising the persons and entities included in 
the scope of consolidation, in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards adopted by the European Union.

The above opinion is consistent with the content of our report 
to the Audit Committee.

Basis of our opinion

Auditing standards
We conducted our audit in accordance with the professional 
standards applicable in France. We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.

Our responsibilities under these standards are set out in this 
report, in the section entitled “Auditors’ responsibilities regarding 
the audit of the consolidated fi nancial statements”.

Independence
We performed our audit from 1 April 2017 to the date of 
issue of our report, in compliance with the independence rules 
applicable to us. In this respect, we did not provide any of the 
services prohibited under Article 5, paragraph 1 of EU regulation 
No. 537/2014 or by the French Code of Ethics for Statutory 
Auditors.

Moreover, during the fi nancial year, in addition to the certifi cation 
of the fi nancial statements, we provided your company and the 
entities it controls with the following services, which are not 
mentioned in the management report or the notes to the 
consolidated fi nancial statements:

 1 Tasks performed pursuant to legal and regulatory requirements:

 1 for the issuance of shares and other marketable securities 
with or without preferential subscription rights;

 1 regarding the option for the payment of dividends in shares;

 1 for the capital increase reserved for participants in a company 
savings plan;

 1 for the capital reduction through the cancellation of 
purchased shares.

 1 Tasks performed by one of OENEO’s Statutory Auditors 
(Deloitte & Associés), appointed as independent third party, 
concerning the consolidated workforce-related, environmental 
and societal information included in the management report.

 1 Due diligence on company acquisitions.

Basis of our assessments – Key points of the audit
In accordance with the provisions of Articles L. 823-9 and 
R. 823-7 of the French Commercial Code relative to the basis 
of our assessments, we wish to draw your attention to the key 
points of the audit relative to the risks of material misstatement 
which, in our professional opinion, were most signifi cant for 
the audit of the year’s consolidated fi nancial statements, and 
the way in which we dealt with those risks.

Our assessments are based on the audit of the consolidated 
fi nancial statements taken as a whole and on the opinion we 
formed as stated above. We do not express an opinion on 
individual components of the consolidated fi nancial statements.

ASSESSMENT OF THE GOODWILL OF THE CLOSURES AND 
AGEING DIVISIONS

Identifi ed risk

At 31 March 2018, goodwill was recognised in the consolidated 
balance sheet for a net book value of €46,140 thousand, 
representing 11% of total assets. Every year, the management 
ensures that the net book value of this goodwill does not exceed 
its recoverable value and does not present a risk of impairment.

We have considered the assessment of the goodwill as a key 
point in our audit in view of (i) the signifi cance of these assets 
in the consolidated balance sheet, (ii) the importance of the 
management’s judgements regarding estimated future cash fl ows, 
the growth rate used for cash fl ow projections, and the discount 
rate applied to them.

The methods used for the impairment tests and the assumptions 
made are set out in item 3 “Goodwill” and item 5 “Non-current 
assets – Recoverable amount of assets” of section A. “Accounting 
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policies and measurement bases”, and in Note 1 “Goodwill” of 
section D “Notes to the consolidated fi nancial statements”. The 
recoverable amounts for the Closures and Ageing divisions were 
determined on the basis of the value in use, calculated using the 
discounted value of the estimated future cash fl ows expected 
from the group of assets making up each of the divisions.

Response

We examined the compliance of the method used by the 
Company with applicable accounting standards.

We also performed a critical review of the way in which this 
methodology was implemented, and verifi ed aspects including 
the following:

 1 the exhaustiveness of the items making up the carrying 
amount of the Closures and Ageing divisions’ groups of cash 
generating units, and the consistency of the measurement of 
this amount with the estimated future cash fl ows used for the 
determination of the value in use;

 1 the reasonableness of the estimated future cash fl ows, in view 
of the economic and fi nancial contexts in which the Closures 
and Ageing divisions operate;

 1 the consistency of the perpetual growth rate used for the 
standard cash fl ow with market forecasts;

 1 the calculation of the discount rate applied to the Closures and 
Ageing divisions’ estimated future cash fl ows, by verifying that 
the various factors determining the weighted average cost of 
capital for the Closures and Ageing divisions’ groups of cash 
generating units are such that the return on these activities is 
in line with market players’ current expectations;

 1 the management’s analysis of the sensitivity of the value in use 
to a change in the main assumptions used.

Lastly, we verifi ed that the notes provided appropriate information.

DISPOSAL OF NATURAL CORKS, AGGLOMERATED CORKS AND 
STOPPERS OPERATIONS – PRESENTATION AND ASSESSMENT 
OF DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Identifi ed risk

At 31 March 2018, the Group had engaged in a plan to dispose 
of its natural corks operations (Pienat), agglomerated corks 
operations and stoppers operations performed by certain 
companies of the Piedade Group. The Group considers that 
the IFRS 5 classifi cation criteria for “Non-current assets held 
for sale and discontinued operations” had been complied with 
at 31 March 2018. The above-mentioned operations have 
been assessed, recognised and presented on a separate line of 
the consolidated income statement – “Net profi t/(loss) from 
discontinued operations” – and their assets, liabilities and cash 
fl ows have been presented on a separate line of the consolidated 
statement of fi nancial position and consolidated statement of 
cash fl ows.

At 31 March 2018, these operations had generated revenue of 
€20,533 thousand, accounting for 8% of consolidated revenue, 
and a loss of €3,933 thousand.

The information on discontinued operations is presented in the 
consolidated income statement, the consolidated balance sheet, 
and the consolidated statement of cash fl ows, as well as in item 
1 “Comparability of the fi nancial statements and impact of the 
application of IFRS 5”, and paragraph 5 “Non-current assets – 
Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations” 
of section A “Accounting policies and measurement bases”, and 
in Note 8 “Assets, liabilities and income statement relating to 
discontinued operations” of section D “Notes to the consolidated 
fi nancial statements”.

We have considered the accounting of the planned disposal of 
the natural corks, agglomerated corks and stoppers operations as 
a key point of the audit in view of (i) the judgement required for 
the application of the IFRS 5 rules concerning the presentation 
and measurement of discontinued operations and assets held for 
sale and (ii) the materiality of the planned disposal for the Group.

Response

Our approach mainly consisted in:

 1 validating the appropriateness of the classification of the 
planned disposal with respect to IFRS 5 requirements;

 1 obtaining from the management the relevant data supporting 
the reclassifi cations on the consolidated balance sheet and 
consolidated income statement for the fi nancial years ending 
31 March 2018 and 2017 and verifying the exhaustiveness of 
these reclassifi cations;

 1 appraising the methods used to determine the fair value less 
estimated selling costs and thus validate the net book value 
of the assets and liabilities held for sale as recognised in the 
consolidated balance sheet;

 1 appraising the appropriateness of the information provided in 
the notes to the fi nancial statements.

Verification of the information on the Group 
provided in the management report
We also verifi ed as required by law, and in accordance with 
professional standards applicable in France, the information about 
the Group presented in the Board of Directors’ management 
report.

We have no matters to report as to its fair presentation and 
consistency with the consolidated fi nancial statements.

Information required under other legal and 
regulatory provisions

Appointment of Statutory Auditors
We were appointed as Oeneo’s Statutory Auditors by your 
General Shareholders’ Meeting of 30 June 2004 for Grant 
Thornton and that of 8 June 2008 for Deloitte & Associés.

At 31 March 2018, Grant Thornton was in the 14th consecutive 
year of its engagement, while Deloitte & Associés was in its 10th 
consecutive year.
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Responsibilities of management and the persons 
in charge of corporate governance concerning 
the consolidated financial statements
It is the management’s responsibility to draw up financial 
statements which accurately refl ect reality, in accordance with the 
IFRS rules adopted by the European Union, and to put in place 
the internal control measures it deems necessary to produce 
consolidated fi nancial statements that are free from material 
misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.

For the preparation of the consolidated fi nancial statements, the 
management must assess the Company’s ability to continue its 
operations, and must present in these accounts any information 
that may be required concerning the Company’s continuity as a 
going concern. The management must also apply a going concern 
accounting policy, unless the Company is to be liquidated or 
cease trading.

The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring the fi nancial 
information preparation process and the effi ciency of the internal 
control and risk management systems, as well as any internal 
audit that may be conducted on accounting/fi nancial information 
processing procedures.

The consolidated fi nancial statements have been approved by 
the Board of Directors.

Auditors’ responsibilities regarding the audit 
of the consolidated financial statements

Audit approach and objective
We are required to produce a report on the consolidated 
financial statements. Our objective is to obtain reasonable 
assurance that the consolidated fi nancial statements as a whole 
comprise no material misstatements. Reasonable assurance 
equates to a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that 
an audit performed in accordance with professional standards 
will always detect any material misstatement. Misstatements 
may originate from fraud or be the result of errors. They are 
considered as material if there is a reasonable expectation that 
they could, taken individually or cumulatively, have an impact on 
the economic decisions that users of the fi nancial statements will 
make based thereon.

As set out in Article L. 823-10-1 of the French Commercial 
Code, our mission to audit the fi nancial statements does not 
include guaranteeing the viability or quality of the management 
of your Company.

Within an audit conducted in accordance with the professional 
standards applicable in France, Statutory Auditors exercise their 
professional judgement throughout the audit. In this respect:

 1 they identify and assess the risks of material misstatements in 
the consolidated fi nancial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, defi ne and implement audit procedures to address 
such risks, and collect suffi cient and appropriate data on which 
to base their opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement from fraud is higher than that of a material 
misstatement resulting from an error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, voluntary omissions, misrepresentation or 
circumventing internal control;

 1 they take note of the internal control system relating to the 
audit in order to defi ne audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, rather than in the aim of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of internal control;

 1 they assess the appropriateness of the accounting methods 
used and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates made 
by management, as well as the relevant information provided 
in the consolidated fi nancial statements;

 1 they assess the appropriateness of management’s application 
of the going concern accounting policy and, depending on 
the evidence gathered, the existence or not of signifi cant 
uncertainty related to events or circumstances likely to 
impact the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
This assessment is based on the evidence collected up to the 
date of the Statutory Auditors’ report, with the understanding, 
however, that later events could compromise the continuity of 
operations. If they conclude that there is signifi cant uncertainty, 
they draw the attention of readers of their report to the 
information provided in the consolidated fi nancial statements 
about this uncertainty or, if this information is not provided or 
is not relevant, they issue a qualifi ed certifi cation or a refusal 
to certify;

 1 they assess the overall presentation of the consolidated fi nancial 
statements and assess whether the consolidated fi nancial 
statements accurately refl ect the underlying transactions and 
events;

 1 concerning the fi nancial information of the persons or entities 
included in the scope of consolidation, they collect information 
that they deem sufficient and appropriate to express an 
opinion on the consolidated fi nancial statements. They are 
responsible for the management, supervision and execution 
of the audit of the consolidated fi nancial statements, as well 
as the opinion expressed on these statements.
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Report to the Audit Committee
We present a report to the Audit Committee, which outlines 
the scope of the audit conducted and the review program 
implemented, as well as the conclusions arising from our work. 
We also bring to its notice, where appropriate, any signifi cant 
internal control weaknesses that we have identifi ed with respect 
to the procedures relating to the preparation and processing of 
accounting and fi nancial information.

Among the elements disclosed in the report to the Audit 
Committee are the risks of material misstatement that we 
consider to have been the most important for the audit of the 

year’s consolidated fi nancial statements and which therefore 
constitute the key points of the audit, which it is our responsibility 
to describe in this report.

We also provide the Audit Committee with the declaration 
required under Article 6 of (EU) Regulation no. 537-2014 
confi rming our independence, within the meaning of the rules 
applicable in France as set out in particular in Articles L. 822-10 to 
L. 822-14 of the French Commercial Code and in the Statutory 
Auditors’ professional Code of Ethics. If necessary, we discuss 
with the Audit Committee the risks to our independence and 
the safeguards applied.

Neuilly-sur-Seine and Bordeaux, 28 June 2018

Statutory Auditors,
Grant Thornton

French member of Grant Thornton International

Vincent Papazian

Partner

Deloitte & Associés

Mathieu Perromat

Partner
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